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S T O R Y

Our customers’ wishes are seeds that grow and 

become the future.

Seven Bank began in response to our customers 

who wanted to see ATMs in 7-Eleven stores.

Customers’ wishes came first, that is our origin.

Times change, and so do people’s needs and wants. 

They also become diverse. 

While holding true to our core philosophy, 

we keep evolving to meet our customers’ wishes.

As a unique bank that offers, convenience, 

reliability and trust, Seven Bank continues to 

launch new initiatives that support people and 

society.

As a vital part of people’s daily lives, we remain 

inventive, striving to create new lasting value 

beyond traditional financial services.

We strive to be closer to our customers, 

to help them fulfill their wants and needs easily.

Using cutting-edge technology and manpower, 

we challenge ourselves to move beyond 

the status quo.

We seek to create a better version of daily life 

for everyone.

That is our reason for being.

P U R P O S E

Create a better version of 

daily life by going beyond  

the wishes of our customers.
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CONTENTS

This report has been created to provide share-
holders, investors and other stakeholders with 
non-financial information on issues including the 
environment, society and corporate governance, 
integrated with financial information, to describe 
how we create corporate value in an easy-to-un-
derstand format. The report has been prepared 
referencing the International Integrated Reporting 
Council’s (“IIRC”) “International Integrated 
Reporting Framework,” published in December 
2013, and the Ministry of Economy, Trade and 
Industry’s “Guidance for Integrated Corporate 
Disclosure and Company-Investor Dialogues for 
Collaborative Value Creation,” announced on May 
29, 2017.

This document contains statements concerning the current 
plans, expectations, strategies and beliefs of Seven Bank, Ltd. 
(“Seven Bank”). Statements contained herein that relate to 
future operating performance and that are not historical facts 
are forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements 
may include, but are not limited to, words such as “believe,” 
“anticipate,” “plan,” “strategy,” “expect,” “forecast,” “predict,” 
“potential,” “possibility” and similar words that describe future 
operating activities, business performance, events or 

This integrated report includes information related to Seven 
Bank’s management ethos, business performance, business 
overview, corporate social responsibility (CSR) and financial 
position.
It has also been prepared to include comprehensive non-fi-
nancial information that supports our sustainable growth.

About this publication

Forward-Looking Statements: 

conditions. Forward-looking statements, whether spoken or 
written, are based on judgments made by the management of 
Seven Bank, based on information that is currently available to 
it. As such, these forward-looking statements are subject to 
various risks and uncertainties, including, but not limited to, 
changes in the level of demand for the services offered by 
Seven Bank, challenges Seven Bank faces in achieving further 
growth and various other factors. As a result of such risks and 
uncertainties, the actual business results of Seven Bank may 
vary substantially from the forecasts expressed or implied in 
forward-looking statements. Consequently, investors are 
cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking state-
ments. Seven Bank disclaims any obligation to revise for-
ward-looking statements in light of new information, future 
events or other findings. The information contained in this 
document does not constitute or form part of any offer for sale 
or subscription of or solicitation or invitation of any offer to buy 
or subscribe for any securities, nor shall it or any part of it form 
the basis of or be relied on in connection with any contract or 
commitment whatsoever.

Editorial policy

Positioning of Integrated Report

Investor Relations
·  Materials for financial 

results presentations
·  Shareholder reports
·  Financial Statements
·  FACT BOOK
·  Securities reports, etc.

Sustainability/ESG 
information
·  Sustainability website
·  Corporate governance 

reports
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https://www.sevenbank.co.jp/english/corp/Corporate website >>>

https://www.sevenbank.co.jp/english/ir/Investor Relations >>>

Sustainability website >>> https://www.sevenbank.co.jp/english/csr/
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We are committed to fulfilling our 

Purpose to achieve further sustainable 

growth and enhance corporate value.

Masaaki Matsuhashi
President and Representative Director

TOP MESSAGE

Instilling and implementing our Purpose through dialogue with all 
employees

A year has passed since I assumed the position of A year has passed since I assumed the position of 
president. Looking back, I have come to many realiza-president. Looking back, I have come to many realiza-
tions. And, while I have uncovered new challenges that tions. And, while I have uncovered new challenges that 
we face, I have also been able to reaffirm our compa-we face, I have also been able to reaffirm our compa-
ny’s strengths. In the approximately 22 years since our ny’s strengths. In the approximately 22 years since our 
founding, we have responded to the wishes of our founding, we have responded to the wishes of our 
customers, constantly pushing ourselves to think customers, constantly pushing ourselves to think 
outside the box, and continuously developing new outside the box, and continuously developing new 
services. The pace of change, however, has become services. The pace of change, however, has become 
increasingly frenetic. Further innovation is required if we increasingly frenetic. Further innovation is required if we 
are to continue to offer services beyond our customers’ are to continue to offer services beyond our customers’ 
expectations. To achieve this, I believe it is very import-expectations. To achieve this, I believe it is very import-
ant to have a strong desire to transcend the framework ant to have a strong desire to transcend the framework 
of financial services to face the various social issues of financial services to face the various social issues 
around us and contribute to resolving them. around us and contribute to resolving them. 

With the aim of sharing these thoughts with our With the aim of sharing these thoughts with our 
employees, we have held nearly 60 town hall meetings employees, we have held nearly 60 town hall meetings 
over the past year—each limited to six or seven em-over the past year—each limited to six or seven em-
ployees—and have talked with more than 500 people ployees—and have talked with more than 500 people 
to this point. When we asked participants how they to this point. When we asked participants how they 
were reflecting our Purpose in their daily endeavors, were reflecting our Purpose in their daily endeavors, 

many of them came up with ideas and case studies many of them came up with ideas and case studies 
beyond what we had previously imagined. This indicat-beyond what we had previously imagined. This indicat-
ed to us that everyone, regardless of department, is ed to us that everyone, regardless of department, is 
thinking earnestly about how they can contribute to thinking earnestly about how they can contribute to 
fulfilling the Purpose through their work. For sharing fulfilling the Purpose through their work. For sharing 
these case studies with all employees to stimulate these case studies with all employees to stimulate 
them, we conducted an internal event called “Purpose them, we conducted an internal event called “Purpose 
Award” at the end of FY2022. This was a contest in Award” at the end of FY2022. This was a contest in 
which employees from all departments were invited to which employees from all departments were invited to 
submit initiatives that embodied our Purpose in action, submit initiatives that embodied our Purpose in action, 
and all employees voted in the final round of judging. and all employees voted in the final round of judging. 
Entries from all departments and subsidiaries totaled 47 Entries from all departments and subsidiaries totaled 47 
initiatives. The top three initiatives were chosen in a vote initiatives. The top three initiatives were chosen in a vote 
by most of employees. Judging the entries was truly by most of employees. Judging the entries was truly 
hard, as they were all excellent. Through these efforts, hard, as they were all excellent. Through these efforts, 
we hope to move forward from understanding the we hope to move forward from understanding the 
Purpose to the implementation phase, and by having all Purpose to the implementation phase, and by having all 
employees work toward the fulfillment of the Purpose, employees work toward the fulfillment of the Purpose, 
we hope to firmly connect this to further growth.we hope to firmly connect this to further growth.
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TOP MESSAGE

Overview of FY2022

For FY2022, consolidated ordinary income was ¥154.9 
billion—a new record—and ordinary profit totaled ¥28.9 
billion. On a non-consolidated basis, Seven Bank 
recorded ¥120.5 billion in ordinary income and ¥31.5 
billion in ordinary profit, resulting in increases in both 
consolidated and non-consolidated ordinary income 
and ordinary profit.

First, in our ATM platform business, the number of 
ATMs installed was generally in line with the company’s 
plan, owing chiefly to installations outside the Seven & i 
Group and the response to alternative needs of financial 
institutions in regional areas. The number of ATM trans-
actions reached a total of approximately 980 million for 
the year, and there was an average of 101.5 transac-
tions per machine per day, broaching the 100 level for 
the first time in some time. This is largely due to the 
recovery of human traffic once the pandemic subsided. 
This has spread not only to cash deposits and with-
drawals by traditional deposits and savings financial 
institutions, but also into e-money and smartphone 
settlement businesses, cash charges to local curren-
cies, and increased use of cards issued abroad by 
visitors to Japan.

In the domestic retail business, the number of ac-
counts totaled 2,755,000, with a balance of ¥575.6 

billion. Both areas exhibited growth, and there was a 
particularly robust gain of about 25% YoY in the balance 
of loans. Our view is that this is attributable to increas-
ingly active individual consumer behavior and the 
corresponding proactive marketing undertakings on 
social media platforms.

In our overseas business, expansion continues 
particularly in Asia. In the U.S., we are implementing a 
host of initiatives, including demonstration experiments 
for credit services to meet small cash needs and further 
streamlining the management of funds in ATMs. The 
number of ATMs installed in Indonesia has grown to 
5,557 as of the end of FY2022 (end of December 
2022), and we will continue working to grow profits 
while ensuring profitability. In the Philippines, the num-
ber of ATMs reached 2,324 over the same period, and 
the number of transactions is growing steadily. Further-
more, costs may be somewhat high in the country due 
to the inclusion of cash recycling machines (ATMs with 
banknote refunding), but we will capitalize on this to 
verify services for acceptance of cash proceeds from 
sales, with the goal of returning to profitability as quickly 
as possible.

New developments in the Medium-Term Management Plan

Reinforce management foundation to support sustainable growth

We have reached the midpoint of the third year of our 
Medium-Term Management Plan (FY2021–FY2025), 
and we believe that several of our projects are taking 
shape. We will accelerate the diversification of our 
domestic operations by evolving our core business—
domestic ATMs— and further expanding our growth 
domains. The two major pillars of our business are a 
new value offering of ATMs, a service that provides a 
liaison for all kinds of authentications and procedures. 
The other is the upgrading of the retail business through 
the consolidation of Seven Card Service Co., Ltd. as a 
consolidated subsidiary and other means.

First, with regard to offering new value through our 
ATMs, we see that various financial institutions are 
currently faced with the issue of being forced to raise 
operational efficiency to unprecedented levels, while 
also ensuring compliance with regulations. With this in 
mind, in September 2023, we will finally launch a couple 
of services leveraging the capabilities of our fourth-gen-
eration ATMs, which we have been testing since 2019. 

We believe that utilizing our ATMs—already an estab-
lished component of the social infrastructure—as a 
conduit for a variety of notifications and procedures 
involving identity verification, will not only enhance the 
operational efficiency of financial institutions and busi-
nesses, but also heighten customer convenience and 
satisfaction. By making Seven Bank ATMs the conduit 
for all manner of authentication and procedures, we will 
work toward realizing a world where procedures can be 
performed nearby and in a convenient manner.

Secondly, we are also looking to upgrade our retail 
business, which is driven by a host of changes in the 
financial services environment. These include advances 
in technology, the emergence of fintech companies, the 
diversification of financial services, and changes in glob-
al financial policy. Given these conditions, we decided 
to make Seven Card Service a subsidiary with the aim 
of creating new experience value in integrated “retail + 
finance,” transcending traditional boundaries. Based on 
our 7iD customer base—which is approximately 28 

In implementing such a growth strategy, we believe that 
cultivating an organization that promotes the growth of 
both individuals and the company is the single most 
important factor. We are focusing on elevating employee 
awareness, developing human resources, and encourag-
ing engagement to instill an innovative mindset in all 
employees, using our company as a challenging field.

Take our internal EX10 program, for example, which 
is designed to encourage voluntary innovation activities. 
Under this program, employees use 10% of their work 
time to anticipate future contributions to the company 
or improve their skills, even in areas not directly related 
to their current endeavors. Moreover, “SEVENBANK 
Academia” helps employees to themselves develop an 

million members strong—we aim to develop new, 
integrated “retail + finance” services closely linked to 
customers’ lives, such as settlement and credit services 
for purchasing activities and asset management from a 
retail perspective, through both real and digital market-
ing activities, while combining the assets of both bank 
and non-bank businesses.

Regarding FY2025 financial goals, we aim for an 
ordinary income of ¥250 billion instead of the ¥170 
billion originally planned, and we have adjusted our ordi-
nary profit target from ¥35 billion to ¥45 billion. With the 
goal of striking a balance over the medium to long term 
between growth investment and capital efficiency, we 

will continue to aim for an ROE of 8% or higher and a 
payout ratio of 40% or higher. We will implement various 
functional enhancements to ensure our mainstay do-
mestic ATM platform business remains a stable income 
base. And, while constructing an optimally balanced 
business portfolio that includes domestic retail—which 
is expanding its financial service domain—as well as our 
overseas business, where we anticipate further growth, 
and corporate services, for which we are seeing an 
increasing need from society, we will work earnestly to 
achieve our financial goals for 2025.

In implementing growth strategies, it is vital to In implementing growth strategies, it is vital to 

create an organization that promotes both create an organization that promotes both 

individual and corporate growth. individual and corporate growth. 

We focus on raising employee awareness, We focus on raising employee awareness, 

developing human resources, and increasing developing human resources, and increasing 

engagement with the aim of instilling an engagement with the aim of instilling an 

innovative mindset in all employees.innovative mindset in all employees.
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Seven Bank’s 
Value Creation
We create new value by aiming to fulfill our Purpose, 

recognizing changes in society as an opportunity, 

and responding to diversifying customers’ needs

VALUE CREATION

TOP MESSAGE

innovative mindset, and the activity is designed to 
connect with external communities and obtain methods 
for new business creation. Through these and other 
initiatives, we will sustain our human, organizational, 
and corporate transformation.

Meanwhile, with the establishment of the Data Man-
agement Office (DMO), the creation of a culture and 
foundation for the everyday utilization of data is taking 
root. It has grown into a community of more than 200 
participants. Moreover, we are participating in the Finan-
cial Data Utilizing Association (FDUA) to deepen external 
collaboration on AI and data utilization, to acquire skill 
sets, to heighten individual awareness, and to reform 
the business model itself. In terms of business, through 
the accelerator program for creating new businesses, 
we will promote open innovation by deepening cooper-
ation with startups and other industries.

These efforts cannot be immediately reflected in the 
top line of the balance sheet, but these activities them-
selves are a part of our culture and will lead to the 
fulfillment of our Purpose, so we will spare no effort in 
promoting these activities.

I often talk about “empathy” with our employees. 
There are two types of empathy; cognitive and emotion-
al, with the former defined as viewing things from the 
standpoint of others and the latter referring to the 
perception of the feelings of others as one’s own. 
Utilizing them in a balanced way should lead to the 
creation of products and services that go beyond the 
wishes of our customers and lead to the birth of a new 
tomorrow.

Promoting sustainability for the environment and society

I have been a member of Seven Bank since it was 
founded, and have been deeply involved in its growth to 
date driven by its ATM-based business model. Up to 
now, I have realized we are fortunate to receive incredi-
ble support from a wide variety of stakeholders, ranging 
from group companies, partner financial institutions and 
operating companies to firms involved in ATM develop-
ment and operation, and open innovation partners. 

In FY2019, we identified and selected five material 
issues and are pushing forward with company-wide 
efforts to achieve sustainable growth. We believe that 
collaboration with our diverse group of stakeholders is 
essential to solving social issues through our core 
business.

For example, in Materiality 1—“Offer a safe and 
secure settlement infrastructure”—we work with our 
partners that support ceaseless ATM operations; in 
Materiality 2—“Create a lifestyle through new financial 
services”—we work with five organizations that have 
registered as recipients of donations via ATMs; and in 
Materiality 4—“Reduce the environmental burden”—we 
work with various companies to resolve larger-scale 
social issues, including a manufacturer that developed a 
new ATM model that lowers power usage by 40% and 
a business that recycles approximately 100% of ATMs. 

Together with our diverse group of stakeholders, we 
will continue to implement business activities with a 
focus on environmental and social sustainability, thereby 
contributing to the achievement of the United Nations’ 
Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs).

I regard our company as something of a tech startup. 
This is because of our desire to discard previous suc-
cesses, question the conventional wisdom, and make 
changes in the world. We hope to utilize ATMs, an 
unparalleled element of the social infrastructure, to 
promote digital transformation (DX) across the breadth 
of society and deliver convenient, safe, and unique 
financial services to the approximately 22.2 million 
customers who visit each of the Seven & i Group’s 
branches in Japan on a daily basis.

In addition to the aforementioned aspirations, by 
executing specific strategies in line with the updated 
Medium-Term Management Plan, we will continue to 
work toward fulfilling our Purpose, aiming to put our 
second stage of growth on track and achieve further 
sustainable growth and higher corporate value.
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Inauguration
2001

2005 2010 2019 20232017

Seven Bank’s Origin Expansion and maturation of cash deposit and withdrawal platform Diversification of business fields and evolution into service platform

(FYE)

Consolidated ordinary
income

¥154.9 billion

Non-consolidated
ordinary income

¥120.5 billion

Number of ATM
transactions

980 million

Number of ATMs
installed

26,913

IY Bank Co., Ltd. established

Began providing services for acceptance of 
cash proceeds from sales

Introduction of second-generation ATMs that 
provide Japan’s first second display and 
improved operational efficiency

Listed on the JASDAQ 
Securities Exchange

Introduction of third-generation 
ATMs that allow speedy 
transactions partly due to 
increased banknote processing 
speed

Listed on the First Section of 
the Tokyo Stock Exchange

Turned a U.S. ATM operating 
company into a wholly owned 
subsidiary

Established a joint venture 
operating ATMs in Indonesia

Initiated international money 
transfer services at ATMs

Began offering Smartphone ATM service to 
allow cardless deposits and withdrawals

Introduction of fourth-generation ATMs 
equipped with various functions, such as facial 
recognition, reading functions for personal 
authentication documents and QR code, as 
well as Bluetooth.

Launched “My Seven Bank,” an app that enables 
instant account opening with a smartphone

Formulated Purpose to mark the 20th anniversary 
of foundation of Seven Bank

Transitioned to the Prime Market of the Tokyo 
Stock Exchange

Launched new services successively, such as 
“Mynaportal information sharing services,” 
“ATM Authentication Code Issuance Service,” 
and “Shopping Investment Korekabu”

Launched ATM procedures using Individual Number 
Cards (applications for Individual Number Card 
Points)

Began ATM services for application to use 
Individual Number Card as a health 
insurance card

Began offering ATM cash receiving services

Began handling a top-up service for electronic 
money to transportation IC cards, etc.

Established a subsidiary in the Philippines 
operating ATMs

Completed installation of ATMs in all 47 prefectures, and 
began installation of ATMs outside of Seven & i Group

Initiated services for cards issued overseas and began 
handling a top-up service at ATMs for nanaco electronic 
money cards

Initiated voice-guided transaction services for visually 
impaired customers

Company name changed to Seven Bank, Ltd.

Initiated bank account services and ATM 
services at the same time

2001

2005 2008

2010

2011

2012

2014

2017

2019

2020

2021

2022

2018

2007

ATMs located close-by will be commonplace in people’s daily lives
“If there was an ATM at 7-Eleven, it would be more convenient …” Seven Bank was established in 
2001 in response to such customers’ wishes. We have worked to develop secure and efficient settle-
ment infrastructure by providing ATM services that can be used “anytime, anywhere, by anyone, and 
with safety and security.”

We have grown into playing a role as part of the social infrastructure with more than 27,000 ATMs in 
47 prefectures in Japan, as of July 31, 2023, used by some 2.68 million customers a day.

What we have held dear since our founding is to stand in our customers’ shoes. This is our unshak-
able origin and driving force for the future. We strive to realize new services that goes beyond the 
wishes of our customers through the promotion of business field diversification while ATMs, our key 
asset, continue to be positioned as the center of our operations.

Seven Bank’s History

Seven Bank’s Value Creation

*QR code is a registered trademark of DENSO WAVE INCORPORATED.
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Seven Bank Group in Terms of Numbers

Seven Bank’s Value Creation

Growth Trajectory of Seven Bank’s Accounts (individuals)

 Number of ATM Transactions by Service*1 (excluding Seven Bank)  Number of ATM Transactions by Business Category*1 Breakdown

Amounts less than one unit have been truncated.

*1  Number of transactions: Total number of deposits, withdrawals and money transfers. Balance inquiry, electronic money charge/balance confirmation, PIN number 
change, usage limit change, and Individual Number Card Points preregistration/application are not included.

*2  Deposit-taking financial institutions: Banks (excluding Seven Bank), Shinkin banks, credit cooperatives, labor banks, the JA Bank, the JF Marine Bank, the Shoko Chukin 
Bank.

*3  Other financial institutions, etc.: securities companies, life insurance companies, credit card companies, consumer finance companies, business loan providers, 
operating companies, cards issued overseas.

*1 Ratio of employment of persons with disabilities as of April 1, 2023
*2 The number of employees who took childcare leave in fiscal 2022 including contract workers
*3  Ratio of female mangers is calculated based on management positions (Senior Officer, Officer, Assistant Officer), excluding those seconded from the Bank to external 

companies.

 Growth in Total Balance and Number of Accounts (individuals) as of March 31 Amounts less than one unit have been truncated.

Financial Highlights

Use of Seven Bank ATMs

 Changes in Profit/Loss (non-consolidated) Amounts less than one unit have been truncated.

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 202220212001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 (Fiscal
Year)

-12.1-12.1 -8.1-8.1
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5.0

10.8 13.8 17.216.9 16.017.9 19.519.5 22.322.3
26.1

14.5 18.118.118.115.8

27.629.126.824.424.4
31.5

1.91.9 11.511.5
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88.389.8

83.9
88.8

94.194.1
99.899.8

110.4110.4

119.5
110.2110.2111.6

120.2
116.6113.1113.1

105.6105.6

120.5

-12.1-12.1
-8.1-8.1

19.4
25.0

3.0
10.0

24.6
29.528.7 27.430.4 32.032.0

37.137.1 39.0
43.0

28.428.4
34.5

45.042.238.938.238.2

19.5
14.014.0

19.719.7

45.2
50.4

26.0

37.8

59.0 58.761.0
56.558.4

62.062.0 62.662.6
71.4

76.5
81.881.8

77.075.274.374.1
67.367.3

89.0

(Billions of yen)

125

100

75

50
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0

-25

Total Income Ordinary expenses Ordinary profit Net income

26,913 16,544

980.53 million

Number of ATMs installed

Number of ATM transactions

(as of December 31, 2022)

101.5

Average number of transactions
per ATM per day

99.98%

2.75 million

ATM operating rate

Number of individual accounts

640
Number of ATM partners

Approx. 2.68 million per day Approx. 3.6 million Approx. 79 million

Number of customers  
using ATMs

Number of Seven Card Service 
credit members

Number of Seven Card Service 
nanaco members

Unless specifically stated otherwise, figures are as of fiscal 2022 or March 31, 2023.

Japan Overseas

10 languages

12 languages

For account deposit/withdrawal and 
international money transfer services

For cards issued overseas ACSiON, Ltd. Number of companies 
concluding service agreements Recycling rate for disposed ATMs

Seven Payment Service, Ltd. Number of 
companies concluding service agreements

Power consumption of fourth-generation 
ATMs compared to third-generation ATMs

Languages supported

Languages supported

700

67 Approx. 100%

40% reductionNote: Contact centers, etc.

Note: ATM screens, receipts, etc.

System that is easy to use for anyone, 
regardless of nationality

Corporate services 
that leverage our strengths Pursuing environmental functions

2.32% 101.5% 100%

Percentage of 
employees with 

disabilities*1

Engagement score 
(YoY)

Rate of employees who 
returned to work after 
taking childcare leave

Male 6    Female 18

Number of employees who took 
childcare leave*2

Promoting active participation of diverse human resources

30    18.4%

Number of female managers and 
percentage of women in 

management roles*3

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 202220212001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 (FYE)

52.0

5.15.1 14.6 29.8
40.0

49.749.7 57.957.9
2.32.3 14.114.1

72.172.1

6363 108108

331
466

163
225

113.6
129.5

219.2

66.866.8
125.5125.525.6

92.4 41.7

212.3

104.0104.076.376.3 87.787.7

580

971

688

885

108.3 93.7

37.2

775
251.2

143.9143.9

107.3

312.1

158.9158.9
212.4212.4

1,0661,066

1,2141,214

1,5621,562

2,001

2,5282,528

2,364

2,179

1,827
1,6901,690

1,4051,405

153.1

177.3

245.2245.2

151.6

190.4190.4

180.6

389.7 396.8

371.0

294.2294.2268.2268.2

140.4
141.2

434.6

423.0423.0
383.2383.2

135.7

519.0

127.7

550.7

324.5324.5

134.0

458.6

409.5

2,755

452.6452.6

122.9

575.6

(Balance: Billion yen) (Number of accounts: Thousand accounts)

700

560

420

280

140

0

2,500

2,000

1,500

1,000

500

0

Withdrawal:
56.0%

Money transfer: 0.5%

Deposit: 43.5%

The average 
deposit per 
transaction: 
37 thousand yen

The average 
withdrawal per 

transaction:
41 thousand yen

Fiscal 2022

Deposit-taking
financial

institutions*2:
66.2%

Other financial 
institutions, etc.*3: 
28.4%

Seven Bank: 5.4%

Fiscal 2022

Reference Data

Source: Prepared based on statistics published by the Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry 
of Japan

Source: Research by Seven Bank

828 836 834

898

980

36.0%36.0%
32.5%32.5%29.7%29.7%

26.8%26.8%24.1%24.1%

2018 2021 202220202019(Year)

26.526.5

180180

26.226.225.625.6

190 189 185 181

25.225.225.125.1

14.6%14.6%14.6%14.4%14.4%14.4%

13.8%13.8%13.8%
13.3%13.3%13.3%13.1%13.1%13.1%

2018 2021 Sep. 202220202019(Fiscal 
Year)

Numbers of total ATMs in Japan and Seven Bank ATMs, and Seven 
Bank’s share

Percentage of cashless settlements and number of Seven Bank 
ATM transactions in Japan (annual total, Jan.–Dec.)

(Millions) (Thousands)Cashless settlements (%) Seven Bank’s shareNumber of Seven Bank ATM transactions per year Seven Bank Japan total

Number of individual accountsOutstanding balance of ordinary deposits Balance of time deposits

13 14Integrated Report 2023 Integrated Report 2023

Value Creation Growth Strategy Management Foundation Data



091_9663387912309.indd   全ページ091_9663387912309.indd   全ページ 2023/09/04   11:10:592023/09/04   11:10:59

Seven Bank’s Competitive Advantage

Seven Bank’s Value Creation

Since its founding in 2001, Seven Bank has positioned the ATM services as a pillar of its operations and 
worked to expand its ATM network and achieve multifunctional ATMs. We have never loosened the reins 
while the economic environment and social conditions have been changing greatly but have pursued 
ATM services that are useful for customers. This persistent efforts have led to the realization of our ATM 
network, which has the second largest scale in Japan on a unit basis. We are proud that such persistent 
efforts support the convenience and overwhelmingly competitive advantage of our ATM network.

ATM services that constantly evolve

We have ATMs at Seven & i Group stores, 
including 7-Eleven, as well as airports, 
stations, commercial facilities, and tourist 
locations. At the present, more than 
27,000 Seven Bank ATMs operate in all 
the prefectures in Japan 24 hours a day, 
365 days a year, in principle.

Roughly 22.2 million customers visit Seven & i Group stores in 
Japan every day (fiscal year ended February 28, 2023). We utilize 
this Group’s customer base to develop and provide unique 
financial products and services for the convenience of our 
customers. Toward demonstrating further group synergies, we 
offer new services that integrate retail and finance to create new 
values that connect us with our customers in their daily lives.

The environment surrounding the financial industry is changing 
dramatically. We provide high quality corporate services to 
respond to the various needs of financial institutions and 
administrative agencies by combining advanced DX with our 
expertise and know-how we have cultivated to date such as 
banking back-office support and systems, authentication and 
security, and cash settlement functions.

Toward realization of the non-stop ATM, collaboration with 
partner companies with highly specialized skills is required in 
developing main ATM units, establishing system building, 
responding to ATM outages, and providing security for ma-
chines and guarded transport. ATM Call Centers monitor our 
ATMs 24 hours a day, 365 days a year. In the event of any 
problems, we quickly respond to ATM outages. As a result, our 
ATMs are able to achieve a 99.98% operating rate.

Seven Bank has worked on the utilization of AI and data from early on 
and has already utilized the technologies to improve its operating 
efficiency, such as sophisticating cash management procedures on the 
ATMs, automatically arranging inquiries sent to the Call Centers, and 
determining the installation of ATMs in Indonesia. We established the 
Data Management Office (DMO) and will pursue initiatives such as 
strengthening the building of awareness inside the Bank and engaging 
in data business, which is expected to provide a revenue opportunity.

More than 80% of employees at Seven Bank are mid-career 
employees with highly diverse backgrounds including finance, 
IT, and retail. We are seeking broad-minded communication 
through various opportunities to leverage experiences, skills, 
and networks of such employees with diverse backgrounds 
and help them to contribute to the implementation of the Seven 
Bank Group’s Purpose.

Aiming to establish a corporate culture of open innovation 
particularly through the promotion of coordination with outside 
companies and cross-organizational projects, we have estab-
lished a dedicated department to work on both the building of 
awareness within the Bank and creation of new business 
opportunities. In particular, we are focusing on coordination 
with startup companies to have an opportunity for exploring 
new business fields.

Leveraging our nationwide ATM network, 
we are expanding initiatives to improve 
both the convenience of customers and 
operating efficiency of businesses through 
collaboration especially with startup 
companies and administrative agencies. 
Utilization of Seven Bank’s ATMs, which 
enable personal authentication with ease 
and safety, will help to increase customer 
satisfaction and reduce administrative 
costs incurred by financial institutions.

With the increasing prevalence of cashless 
payment, the development of services 
that offer values in addition to cash 
deposits and withdrawals is under way. 
Seven Bank will offer various solutions 
sought by customers and businesses by 
providing its highly functional ATMs as 
service channels and combining them 
with highly specialized services owned by 
its Group companies.

Seven Bank is promoting various initiatives 
through its ATMs in an effort to realize a 
sustainable society. We have been 
realizing our customers’ wishes to see 
such ATM services as a top-up service for 
regional digital currencies to facilitate 
regional revitalization, ATM fund-raising 
service to enable easy fund-raising 
through ATMs, a multilingual service to 
provide convenience for tourists from 
overseas and non-Japanese residents, 
and deployment of mobile ATMs to areas 
afflicted with disasters or other crisis.

ATM as social infrastructure

Financial business by one of  
the largest retail groups in the world

Top-class corporate services  
in the industry

World-class ATM operation

Knowledge and know-how  
for AI and data utilization

Active participation of diverse  
human resources

Foster a mindset geared to innovation

ATM that facilitates DX

ATM as service platform

ATM that contributes to  
solving social issues

Drivers of further growth
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Support DX of all 
businesses and 

services to enhance 
convenience for 

consumers

Solve social issues and 
enhance corporate 

value through all of our 
business activities

Provide financial 
services necessary for 

every person’s life 
safely, easily, and 

seamlessly

  Utilize ATMs as nationwide 
access terminals

  Build a service platform 
utilizing multifunction ATMs

  Utilize ATM network 
worldwide

  Cooperation with diverse 
stakeholders

  Realize a symbiotic society 
with nature

  Establish a sound 
management foundation

  Cultivate a corporate culture 
in which diversity thrives

  Create a lifestyle through 
financial services unique to 
retailer

  Offer financial services for 
non-Japanese residents and 
tourists from overseas

  Create new customer 
experience value through 
group synergies

  Provide corporate services 
with enhanced quality in 
both reliability and 
convenience

Realize an ATM+ world

Establish sustainability management

Accelerate business diversification

ImpactsOutcomeOutputInput (capital)Environmental changes 
and material issues

  Concerns about security as digital 
settlement gains popularity
  Increasing sophistication and 
ingenuity of financial crimes
  Acceleration of streamlining of 
financial institutions’ operations 
(decrease in the number of 
financial institution counters and 
ATMs)
  Increased reliability and security 
as a financial infrastructure
  Diversification of settlement 
needs

  Increased diversification of 
values and lifestyles
  Changes in needs for financial 
products
  Progress in cashless payment

  Promotion of diversity 
management
  A society where diverse people 
can experience well-being

  Increased risks from climate 
change
  Growing awareness of the 
crisis in global environmental 
sustainability

  Increase in the number of non-
Japanese persons working in 
Japan
  Financial services necessary 
for the foundation of daily life of 
non-Japanese residents

Society with a 
diverse range of 

choices

Easy-to-live  
daily life

A world in which 
no one is left 

behind

Sustainable 
global 

environment

Ordinary income

¥154.9 billion

ROE

7.6%

Number of ATM 
transactions per year

980 million

Number of individual 
accounts

2.75 million

Ratio of female 
managers

18.4%

Improvement of operating 
efficiency by RPA

Equivalent to eight 
operations or more than 

6,000 hours annually

Development of  
apps by employees 

(citizen development):  

25 cases

CO2 emissions from 
ATMs (compared to 

March 31, 2019)

14% reduction

Financial capital

Natural capital

Manufacturing capital

Human and intellectual capital

Social and relational capital

  Solid financial base 
Consolidated net  
assets:  ¥254.2 billion
  Steady management 
Consolidated  
ordinary profit:  ¥28.9 billion

  Pursuing environmental burden reduction 
Power consumption of fourth-generation ATMs 
(compared to third-generation ATMs):  

 40% reduction 
Recycling rate for  
disposed ATMs: approximately 100%

  More than 27,000 ATMs throughout 

Japan, operating as a social infrastructure 24 

hours a day, 365 days a year, in principle

  Active participation of diverse human 
resources 
Creating HR-focused systems 
Ratio of mid-career  
employees:  83.1%
  Promoting corporate transformation 
Establishment of Data Management Office (DMO) 
Creating a community that is a source of innovation

  Nationwide network 
Number of ATM partners:  640 
Corporate customers:  
 more than 1,800 companies
  Seven & i Group’s  
customer base 
7iD membership: Approx. 28 million* 
nanaco membership:  
 Approx. 79 million

Solving social issues 
through our core 

business

Establishing an 
organization that 

respects human rights 
and leverages diversity

Business activities

A unique bank that 
offers convenience, 
reliability and trust

Vision

Corporate  
transformation for 

innovation

Fulfilling public mission 
and social 

responsibilities as a 
bank

Domestic retail 
business

Domestic corporate 
business

Provide unique 
financial 

services to 
support the 
daily lives of 
customers

Provide corporate 
services with 
bank-quality 
reliability and 

enhanced 
convenience

Overseas business

ATM platform business

Expand and enhance ATM services 
overseas

Provide diverse services through more 
than 27,000 ATMs throughout Japan

Offer a safe, secure  
settlement infrastructure

Create a lifestyle through  
new financial services

Create a society where 
everyone can be active

Reduce the environmental 
burden

Realize multicultural 
symbiosis

*As of February 28, 2023

Management foundation that supports 
sustainable growth

Initiatives leading sustainable growth
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Value Creation Process

Seven Bank’s Value Creation

In order for Seven Bank to achieve sustainable growth, it is essential to enhance both social and economic value by leveraging our strengths and solving social issues through our core business.

Aiming to fulfill our Purpose, we work to promote initiatives that lead the second stage of growth as well as to strengthen our management foundation to support long-term growth, for further enhancement of our corporate value.

Value Creation Cycle for
Create a better version of daily life by

fulfilling the Purpose
going beyond the wishes of our customers.

Future image envisioned through 
fulfillment of the Purpose
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Concept of Sustainability

Seven Bank’s Value Creation

Toward realization of sustainable growth  Development of Seven Bank’s sustainability activity

 Sustainability promotion structure

People’s lives and the environment surrounding companies have been significantly affected by various social 
issues, such as unstable international situation, an increase in economic gap, advance in the declining birth-
rate and aging society, and frequent occurrence of abnormal weather caused by climate changes. In light of 
such a situation, Seven Bank positioned “contribution to solving social issues” as an essential element for 
sustainable growth of the Seven Bank Group and one of its growth strategies in the Medium-Term Manage-
ment Plan, which started in 2021, and placed this objective at the core of its management strategies. Aiming 
to be a provider of social infrastructure capable of meeting broad-ranging needs beyond the framework of 
financial services through resolution of diversifying social issues as well as new value creation, we are imple-
menting various initiatives.

The Sustainability Committee formulates policies on sustainability and deliberates the appropriateness and validity of 
important matters. A system has been put in place such that the policies and important matters are referred to and 
reported to the Executive Committee and the Board of Directors, allowing the top management members to supervise 
them. The Sustainability Committee is made up of diverse members including external experts and is held approxi-
mately three times a year.

Since its foundation, although the word “sustainability” was not used, the Seven Bank Group has conducted corporate 
activities, pursuing both social/environmental values and business activities, based on “Corporate Principles,” “man-
agement ethos,” and “Code of Conduct.” The Purpose formulated in April 2021 clarified what the existence of Seven 
Bank is for and what values we should hold most dear. With all the employees holding a common conviction, we 
accelerate the speed of sustainability promotion and endeavor to create new social values.

Setting sustainability at the core of the long-term management strategy, we will accelerate measures for environmental issues, 
resolution of social issues, and contribution toward achievement of SDGs, along the lines of five “material issues” aiming to realize 
a sustainable society.

2021-2030 <The next decade> Realizing a sustainable growth through both CSV (material issues) and CSR

Structure building

2021   Formulated Basic Sustainability Promotion Policy 
Changed the name of “CSR Environment Committee” to Sustain-
ability Committee 
Endorsement of TCFD recommendations

2022   Set KPIs of material issues 
Reviewed the Code of Conduct Clarified the 
human rights policy

Resolution of 
environmental/social 
issues through 
business activities

2021-
Initiated fund-raising service through ATM
Launched Seven Bank Post Payment Service

2022-
Launched Mynaportal information sharing services
Launched Shopping Investment “Korekabu”

Social & local 
community 
contribution activities

2021
Held a workshop on environmental and social issues (Increase employees’ 
awareness)

2022
The Seven & i Group participated in EcoPro
Restarted the forest conservation activities by employees

Structure building 2012 Established “CSR Environment Committee” 2019 Designated five material issues

Resolution of 
environmental/social 
issues through 
business activities

2011
Reconstruction assistance for the 
Great East Japan Earthquake/
Deployment of mobile ATMs
2011-
Launched international money transfer 
services for Seven Bank account

2018-
Launched ATM cash 
receiving service
Began handling a top-up 
service at ATMs for electronic 
money to transportation IC 
cards, etc.

2019-
Reduced power 
consumption of 
fourth-generation ATMs 
by 40% (compared to 
third-generation ATMs)

2020-
Launched My Seven Bank, a smartphone 
app
Launched ATM procedures using Individual 
Number Cards (applications for Individual 
Number Card Points)

Social & local 
community 
contribution 
activities

2011-
Started social contribution activities 
through a Bonolon cash card (donated 
Bonolon picture books to children’s 
centers)

2019-
Participated in Kids 
Festa

In order to respond to social expectation and confidence, and aim at a sustainable growth together with stakeholders, we consid-
ered the creation of common value through business as our social responsibility, formulated five “material issues” we should prefer-
entially address, and put emphasis on solving environmental and social issues.

2011-2020 <The past decade> Fulfilled responsibilities for diverse stakeholders

Seven Bank proactively promoted resolution of social issues through ATM, and CSR activities leading to contribution to a society and 
local communities, defining Seven Bank’s CSR as “the obligation to be proactively fulfilled as a company supported by customers 
and the society and coexisting with the environment and the society.”

2001-2010 <the initial decade> To be a company that can realize a sustainable society

Structure building 2007 Established “CSR Policy”

Resolution of 
environmental/social 
issues through 
business activities

2007-
Initiated ATM services for cards issued overseas
Initiated ATM Voice Guidance Service
Began installation of ATMs outside of Seven & i Group

2010-
Reduced power consumption of third-generation ATMs 
by 48% (compared to second-generation ATMs)

Social & local 
community 
contribution 
activities

2005-
Issued the first issue of Bonolon

2008-
Held the Bonolon Read Aloud Event
Started the forest conservation 
activities by employees

2010-
Started reception of disaster aid money
Started supporting charity campaign “Radio Charity 
Musicthon”

Promote and implement measures

Plan, manage, and promote 
promotion activities
Operate and manage Sustainability 
Committee

Sets forth policies and the company-wide action 
plans
Chairperson: The officer in charge of SDGs promotion 
Members: President and Representative Director, 
external experts, employees, etc.

Board of Directors

Executive Committee

Sustainability Committee

Planning Division Corporate 
Communication Office

Divisions and subsidiaries

Decisions regarding policies, 
important matters, etc.
Status evaluation

Major agendas at the Sustainability Committee 
(FY2022)

Meeting dates Activities

Jul. 2022
· Initiatives for reducing CO2 emissions
·  Report on CO2 emissions in FY2021, 

and use of renewable energy

Oct. 2022

· KPIs of material issues
·  Considered establishing human rights 

policy
·  Cases of human capital in other 

companies

Jan. 2023

·  Evaluated the impact of climate 
change-related risks and opportunities 
on the business and countermeasures

· Set KPIs of material issues

Mar. 2023
·  Summarization of FY2022 sustainability 

activities
· Plans for FY2023 sustainability activities

Expectations Dialogues

Policy and approach Initiatives Impacts

Contribution to SDGs

Development of the
society and Seven Bank’s

sustainable growth

Proactively work on solving environmental 
and social issues through business 
activities and create values for both 
environment/society and the company

Basic Sustainability
Promotion Policy

Five material issues

Fulfill the social responsibilities we should 
voluntarily carry out as a business that is 
supported by customers and society and 
coexists with the environment and society

CSR activities

Sustainability
Committee Rules

1. Offer a safe, secure settlement infrastructure
2. Create a lifestyle through new financial 

services
3. Create a society where everyone can 

be active
4. Reduce the environmental burden
5. Realize multicultural symbiosis

Reason for being/
Corporate philosophy

Purpose

Corporate Principles/
Management ethos

The Seven & i Group’s
human rights policy

Code of Conduct
Respect for

human rights

Customers
Business
partners

Employees Shareholders
Global

environment
Local

communities
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Concept of Sustainability

Process for identifying materiality (material issues)

Material issues and KPIs Five material issues

The Seven Bank Group designated five material issues in 2019. Through means such as workshops on SDGs attend-
ed by all officers and employees, surveys of shareholders and investors, looking at social demand, and lectures and 
discussions which included experts, we identified several potential issues. Based on these activities, several discus-
sions were held involving the management team and employees to narrow down the issues and select themes based 
on degree of priority.

Cultivation of internal awareness
Internal workshops for all officers and employees
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Identification of social issues and demand
 Customer opinions
 Shareholder and investor opinions
 Business partner opinions
 Officer and employee opinions
 Seven & i Group   Material Issues
 International guidelines (GRI, SDGs, ISO 26000)

Vertical axis:  Created in accordance with surveys of shareholders and investors (individual investors, analysts in the financial world, etc.), and 
officers and employees based on domestic and international CSR guidelines such as the GRI Standards and ISO 26000

Horizontal axis:  Created in accordance with repeated internal discussions conducted with groups consisting of a wide range of job classes, 
including the management team

Social issues and changes Seven Bank should prioritize

Identified high-priority social issues and narrowed down to a group of five

  Increased risks from climate change
  Concentration in metropolitan areas 
and the emptying of non-metropolitan 
areas

  Growing financial crime

  Establishing financial access to all 
people
  Increasing number of non-Japanese 
workers due to labor shortages in Japan
  Increasing numbers of tourists from 
overseas

  Consumer data and privacy protection
  A society where many types of people 
participate in various ways
  The expansion of digital settlement 
and ensuring settlement security

  Usage of renewable materials
  Increasing customer satisfaction

  Consumer education on finance and 
other matters

  The declining birthrate and aging 
society

  Waste reduction

  Establishing healthy corporate governance
  Compliance
  Protecting work environment and human rights
  Human resources development in the 
workplace

  Growing poverty and disparity

HighHigh

HighHigh

MediumMedium

MediumMedium

LowLow

LowLow

Offer a safe, secure 
settlement  

infrastructure

1

Create a lifestyle 
through new  

financial services

2

Create a society 
where everyone can 

be active

3

Reduce the  
environmental 

burden

4

Realize multicultural 
symbiosis

5

Seven Bank’s Value Creation

Materiality Impacts Long-term goals Outcome indicators Major initiatives in FY2022

Material Issue 1

Offer a safe, 
secure 
settlement 
infrastructure

Easy-to-live 
daily life

A world in which 
no one is left 
behind

Seven Bank will fulfill the role of 
providing every customer, 
through equal opportunity, with 
a social infrastructure which 
can be used anytime, anywhere 
with safety and security, as part 
of every customer’s daily life.

  Maintenance and stable 
supply of financial 
services with high quality 
and heightened security
  Contribution to 
eradication of financial 
crimes in the society

  Equal opportunity for 
access to financial 
services

 ATM operating rate: 99.98%
  Increased companies which have introduced 
Anti-phishing service, expanded clients which 
have installed personal authentication service 
(proost)

  Improved ATM usability, changed sound, and 
implemented measures against forgetting to take 
out banknotes

Material Issue 2

Create a lifestyle 
through new 
financial services

Easy-to-live 
daily life

A world in which 
no one is left 
behind

Society with a 
diverse range of 
choices

In anticipation of diversifying 
customers’ needs, Seven Bank 
will develop fresh and unique 
services beyond the bounds of 
finance and create new value.

  Provision of new 
services beyond the 
traditional bounds of 
finance and improve-
ment of convenience

  Launched ATM procedures to accept the 2nd 
application for Individual Number Card Points
  Launched Mynaportal information sharing services 
at ATMs (the first of its kind in Japan)
  Launched services to accept applications for 
account opening/closure at ATMs (the first of its 
kind in Japan)

  Launched retail financial business: Shopping 
Investment “Korekabu” service

Material Issue 3

Create a society 
where everyone 
can be active

Easy-to-live 
daily life

A world in which 
no one is left 
behind

Society with a 
diverse range of 
choices

Seven Bank will create 
opportunities and maintain a 
working environment where 
diverse human resources can 
play active roles regardless of 
gender, age or nationality.

  Transformation of 
organizational culture for 
the promotion of 
diversity and inclusion

Focused on human resources recruitment/
development that support the second stage of 
growth of the Bank
  Ratio of female managers: 18.4% (target 30% at 
the end of FY2025)
  Engagement increased
  Integration of human resources data and 
introduction of analysis system

Human resources development
[Humanity/Build relationships] [Challenge and 
Growth]
  (Increase relationships) 
Training sessions on communication (30 partici-
pants)
  (Persons in the same job classes talk together) 
Training sessions held by job class (400 partici-
pants)
   Total number of letters of thanks (2,782)
  Conducted internal recruitment and internal intern-
ships

Seven Bank will realize the 
development of employees’ 
autonomous skill and their 
career formation, aiming for 
sustainable growth of individu-
als and the Bank.

  Active investments for 
the sustainable 
development of 
employees’ abilities

Seven Bank will create a safe 
and secure workplace 
environment and work on health 
care to help ensure every 
employee’s mental and physical 
health and the ability to actively 
and energetically participate.

  Initiatives to provide 
health care for employ-
ees and promote their 
health

Material Issue 4

Reduce the 
environmental 
burden

Easy-to-live 
daily life

Sustainable 
global environ-
ment

In cooperation with the Seven & 
i Group companies, Seven Bank 
will reduce CO2 emissions and 
implement various initiatives 
with global environment 
protection in view.

  Contribution to reducing 
CO2 emissions

  Environmental conserva-
tion activities for increas-
ing employees’ 
awareness

Reducing CO2 emissions
  Introduced renewable energy at the Data Center 
and Marunouchi headquarters to reduce CO2 
emissions
  Replacement with fourth-generation ATMs (a total 
of 13,419 units were replaced with the latest 
ATMs) to reduce CO2 emissions

  Promotion of online account closure

Increasing awareness of environmental 
conservation
  A field trip to the ATM recycling site participated by 
all officers and employees
  Environmental conservation activities at Takaono-
mori Nature School, and the Seven & i Group 
participated in EcoPro

Material Issue 5

Realize 
multicultural 
symbiosis

Easy-to-live 
daily life

A world in which 
no one is left 
behind

Seven Bank will provide 
financial services which even 
non-Japanese persons can 
easily access, and realize a 
society which is easy for every 
customer to live in regardless of 
nationality.

  Development, prolifera-
tion, and promotion of 
financial services for 
non-Japanese persons

  Turned VIVA VIDA MEDICAL LIFE CO., LTD., which 
offers insurance products for non-Japanese 
residents, into a subsidiary of Seven Bank to 
support comprehensive financial services for them 
in Japan
  Facilitated recognition of the services for 
non-Japanese residents by increasing the 
sophistication of multilingual marketing via social 
media and promoting sales face-to-face or 
non-face-to-face
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Seven Bank’s 
Growth Strategy
Recognizing itself in the phase of its second 

founding, designing a strategy for further growth 

and forging a path to it, Seven Bank is implementing 

its Group-wide initiatives to realize sustainable 

growth and improve corporate value

GROWTH STRATEGY

Concept of Sustainability

 To ensure that no one is left behind

As a good corporate citizen moving forward together with society, in addition to pursuing initiatives through its busi-
ness activities, Seven Bank proactively engages in social contribution activities in close communication with society to 
realize a sustainable society with diversity and inclusion where no one is left behind.

Initiative to publish “Mori no Senshi Bonolon” picture books and distribute  
copies of the books for free for future generations
Seven Bank has supported the initiative designed to publish “Mori no Senshi (Guardian of the Forest) 
Bonolon” picture book series and distribute copies of the picture books primarily at 7-Eleven stores, 
since 2005. Thanks to your support, the picture book series celebrated its 100th issue in December 
2021. We have been able to continue our activities over a long period of time, as there is the voice of 
a reader ‘When I was a little kid, my parents read “Bonolon” 
to me, and now I read “Bonolon” to my kid.’

Seven Bank had a wish “We want to distribute picture 
books for free to children to avoid a situation where children 
cannot read books even though they want to” when it 
initiated this support, and so will continue to engage in 
fostering a healthy next generation in an effort to pass the 
wish to future generations.

Copies of the picture book in which 
Bonolon is a main character who draws 
closer to a person in need and gently 
grants the person a wish are distributed 
free of charge on the 15th day of every 
even month.The Seven & i Group participated in EcoPro

Providing convenient places where anybody can participate in  
resolution of environmental and social issues
Seven Bank started a service for fund-raising through ATMs in 2021 to allow anybody to partici-
pate in the resolution of environmental and social issues through its ATMs serving as a bridge. 
This service is used by many customers because you can participate in fund-raising through 
the ATM as if you threw cash directly into a “donation box” of a recipient rather than transferring 
money. In FY2023, we have made the fund-raising service available at all the Seven Bank ATMs 
nationwide and have increased organizations to which you can donate through the ATMs. 
Seven Bank will continue to pursue initiatives to solve environmental and social issues together 
with its customers.

Organizations to which you can donate (as of July 31, 2023)
Seven-Eleven Memorial Foundation, Japan Committee for UNICEF, Médecins Sans Frontières Japan, Japanese Red Cross Society, World 
Wide Fund for Nature Japan *Organizations to which you can donate through the ATMs are subject to change. Please check the ATM display when you donate.

We have heard from many persons who have come to Japan for tourism and other reasons that 
it is difficult to obtain Japanese yen after entering the country. We provide a service at all Seven 
Bank ATMs which makes it possible to withdraw Japanese yen using cash cards and credit 
cards issued overseas. Our ATMs can be used in 12 languages (Japanese, English, Chinese 
[simplified], Chinese [traditional], Korean, Thai, Malaysian, Indonesian, Vietnamese, French, 
German, and Portuguese). Seven Bank helps to make it possible for people from around the 
world to have an enjoyable time in Japan.

Tourists from overseas

Image of ATM screen

Multilingual ATM service that assures peace of mind for foreigners

In order to help non-Japanese residents with Seven Bank account to use Seven Bank ATMs with 
peace of mind, ATM operation screens for deposit and withdrawal on Seven Bank account, as 
well as international money transfer service are available in nine languages (Japanese, English, 
Tagalog, Chinese, Portuguese, Spanish, Vietnamese, Indonesian, and Thai). In the event some-
thing is unclear with regards to a Seven Bank account, support is provided by multilingual staff at 
Contact Center. 10 languages are available, with Burmese added to the above nine language. 
Support services are provided, including inquiries on a Seven Bank account.

Non-Japanese residents with accounts

Image of ATM screen

Seven Bank’s Value Creation

Audible traffic signals for the visually impaired

Seven Bank ATMs provide a voice guidance service so that visually impaired customers 
can access our ATMs. As a means of spreading awareness and utilization of this service, 
we cooperated with Nippon Broadcasting System’s “Radio Charity Musicthon,” a charity 
which collects funds to install audible traffic signals enabling visually impaired persons to 
walk streets with peace of mind. We collected funds from many customers through a 
variety of means including fund-raising at ATMs. As a result, we presented ¥5,641,317 in 
donations to the “48th Radio Charity Musicthon.”

Seven Bank President Matsuhashi and Nippon 
Broadcasting System President Hiwara

Image of ATM screen
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Summary of Medium-Term Management Plan 
(FY2021–FY2025) and Future Development

Seven Bank’s Growth Strategy

In our Medium-Term Management Plan, which we launched in fiscal 2021, we position the five years through 
fiscal 2025 as the period for giving shape to our second phase of growth. As a unique bank that succeeds in 
being close-by, convenient, reliable, and secure, we will continue taking on the challenge of new initiatives 
that provide support for people and society, with a focus on the three pillars of growth strategy, contribution 
to solving social issues, and corporate transformation.

In fiscal 2023, we will make steady progress in new businesses that will drive our second phase of growth and 
promote further diversification. We will seize upon social transformation as an opportunity with the aim of 
realizing services that go beyond the wishes of our customers and take on a variety of challenges that tran-
scend industry norms, which will lead to the sustainable growth of Seven Bank.

Growth strategy

Core ATM platform 
strategy

Growth in transactions and ATMs installed due to 
the return of human traffic Realize an ATM+ world

Growth

Retail strategy Steady growth in accounts, deposits, and loans 
through a variety of marketing initiatives Further earnings growth

Corporate 
strategy

Steady growth in partner companies and in-
creased revenues through the deployment of 
services that meet customer needs

Each company’s return to 
profitability

Overseas 
strategy

The number of ATMs installed expanded, particu-
larly in Asia. Steadily growing into the Company’s 
second earnings pillar

Improved profitability in the U.S.

Contribution to 
solving social issues

 Launch of new sustainability promotion structure
  Progress in company-wide efforts to resolve social issues through our main 
business

  Group-wide efforts to address 
climate change and collabora-
tion with business partners

Corporate  
transformation

  Fostering a mindset geared to innovation and increasing the engagement of 
individual employees

 Proactively using AI and data to enhance productivity

  Developing and utilizing 
independent human resources

  Undertaking corporate transfor-
mation that contributes to 
earnings

 Progress in FY2022 Achieved Issue

Contribution to solving social issues Corporate transformation

Growth strategy

  Evolve from cash platform to ATM+
  Expand growth fields that come after ATMs by 
leveraging our strengths (business diversification)

  Review basic policy and structure of sustainability promotion
  Further develop initiatives for the five material issues
  Cooperate with the group and external contractors for 
solving environmental issues

  Reform into an organization where independent human 
resources can play active roles
  Innovation of business model and process with focus on 
data utilization and efficiency improvement

 Overview of Plan  Evolution to ATM as a service platform

 Leveraging group synergies to upgrade retail business

Domestic 
business

Core ATM platform strategy

Growth
Retail strategy

Corporate strategy

Overseas 
business Overseas strategy

First phase of growth led by ATMs Medium-Term Management Plan period

Target for FY2025
(compared with end-FY2022)

Number of deposit accounts

5 million
(+ 2.3 million)

Loan balance

¥80.0 billion
(+ ¥45.0 billion)

Number of active cardholders

7 million
(+ 3.4 million)

Cash advance balance

¥30.0 billion
(+ ¥20.0 billion)

Realize the vision and accelerate the 
second phase of growth

 Positioning of Medium-Term Management Plan Period
Establishment – 2020 2021 – 2025

2025
(Target)

2023
(Plan*)

2022202120202019

2026 – (Fiscal Year)

Period for giving shape to the second phase of growth

Operating companies/
administrative bodies

Other financial institutions/
settlement service providers

Banks

Banks

Other financial institutions/settlement service providers

Operating companies/administrative bodies

Budget to promote digitalization in rural areas (FY2023 
Digital Garden City Nation Initiative Promotion Grant)*1

Approx. ¥100 billion

Individual insurance policies in force (FY2021)*2

Approx. 190 million

Full implementation of  
continuous customer management
Deposit-taking financial  

institutions: Over 400

M
ar

ke
t e

xp
an

si
on

Realize corporate transformation and the second 
phase of growth by making active  

investments for the future
¥250.0 billion

¥166.5 billion¥154.9 billion¥136.6 billion¥137.2 billion
¥148.5 billion

Consolidated 
ordinary income

* Figures after Seven Card Service became a 
consolidated subsidiary are not reflected.

*1 Cabinet Office: Summary of FY2023 Draft Budget   *2 The Life Insurance Association of Japan: Trends in Life Insurance 2022

Multifunctional, high-quality fourth-generation ATMs, which the Company began introducing in 2019, can satisfy a 
wide variety of customer needs beyond cash deposits and withdrawals. In principle, ATMs operate 24 hours a day, 
365 days a year, enabling customers to perform necessary procedures at their convenience. We are working to create 
new value for ATMs by providing customers with “a nearby, easy, convenient, safe, and secure bank counter” and 
businesses with “a platform that supports enhanced customer contact points and DX strategies (streamlining).”

On July 1, 2023, we welcomed Seven Card Service to the Seven Bank Group. This will enable a lineup of multiple 
means of settlement, operation, and procurement required by individual customers through an integrated promotion 
system, enabling easy, seamless, and prompt response to customers’ wide-ranging needs. And the Seven & i Group’s 
strength is that it has customers spanning a broad range of business categories, from convenience stores to specialty 
stores and supermarkets. While fully leveraging 7iD—the customer base of one of Japan’s largest retail distribution 
groups—we will provide financial services that meet our customers’ diversified needs easily, seamlessly, and promptly.

Account 
opening

Continuous customer 
management

Loan 
applications

Service 
applications

Administrative 
procedures

Receipt of 
benefits Hotel check-in

Life/non-life 
insurance enrollment

Individual Number 
Card collection

Visa expiration 
management

Facial recognition 
transactions

Change of 
address, etc.

From a viewpoint of both customers 
and business partners, making their 
wishes for new services and greater 

convenience a realityetc.

etc.

etc.

Upgrading of services Upgrading of services 
providedprovided

Leverage diverse 
channels to expand 

marketing

Provide multiple settle-
ment methods to satisfy 

customer needs

Highly convenient  
account services and 

advanced credit methods

Asset management  
that is easy for anyone

System supporting 
individual customers’ 

lives

Number of daily visitors to the Group’s 
stores in Japan: approx. 22.2 million

Cr
ea

tio
n 

of
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ew
 c

us
to

m
er

 e
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ie
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e 
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th
at
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re

 e
as
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×
7-Eleven app 

members
Approx. 20 million

Ito-Yokado app 
members

Approx. 2.7 million

7iD customer 
data

7iD members

Approx. 28 million

Bank

Non-bank
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We will enhance our growth 
potential through precise 
management strategies and 
aggressive investment while 
improving capital efficiency to 
further increase our corporate 
value.

Ken Shimizu
Executive Officer
in charge of Planning Division 
and SDGs Promotion

I am focusing on four key areas with regard to financial 
strategy: potential for growth, profitability, cash flow, and 
return on capital.

First, let’s look at potential for growth. In FY2022, both 
consolidated and non-consolidated ordinary income and 
ordinary profit rose. Consolidated ordinary income was 
¥154.9 billion and ordinary profit was ¥28.9 billion, while 
non-consolidated ordinary income totaled ¥120.5 billion 
and ordinary profit reached ¥31.5 billion. In particular, we 
were able to achieve strong growth—reaching record 
highs—in consolidated and non-consolidated ordinary 
income, thanks to an increase in ATM transactions 
sparked by the return of human traffic and overseas 
business expansion, particularly in Asia. It is our intent to 
maintain this growth potential well into the future.

Now I’d like to discuss “profitability.” While top-line 
growth has been steady, ordinary profit growth has 
slowed in recent years, and the ordinary profit margin for 
FY2022 has fallen to 18.6%. We have, however, posi-
tioned the period of the current Medium-Term Manage-
ment Plan as a period for realizing our second phase of 
growth, so we are not concerned about the profit mar-
gin, as it is the result of our willful and aggressive invest-
ment for the future. Although we expect that the 

Of our total assets of ¥1,312.2 billion, approximately 70% 
is accounted for by cash and due from banks, the 
majority of which is cash for operating our domestic ATM 
business. We utilize deposits held in our accounts as 
cash to operate our domestic ATM business, and they 
generate revenue in the form of fees. Of these assets, 
¥99.6 billion in securities are mostly required as collateral 
for interbank settlements and are, in principle, held until 
maturity. And the ¥98.2 billion in ATM-related temporary 
payments comprises temporary advances to our partner 
companies on behalf of our partner financial institutions. 

On July 1, 2023, we made Seven Card Service a subsid-
iary. This resulted in the creation of a major earnings pillar 
other than the ATM platform business in Japan. More-
over, we have raised our domestic business ordinary 
income target for FY2025 from ¥125.0 billion to ¥187.5 
billion, as we forecast maintaining our ATM platform busi-
ness at over ¥100 billion even given the progress in 
cashless payments. In the overseas business, we have 
set a new ordinary income target of ¥62.5 billion—a ¥20 
billion increase over the initial target—as the expansion of 
our ATM network in Indonesia and the Philippines has 

acquisition of Seven Card Service will result in a decline 
in the profit margin, we must not allow it to decline too 
far, as we believe it is necessary to maintain a certain 
level. While closely monitoring the profit margin of each 
business segment and subsidiary, we will strive to main-
tain the current level of the Group’s overall profit margin, 
and hope to improve it to the extent possible.

Turning to “cash flow,” we will strategically allocate 
cash to shareholder returns, growth investment, and 
retained earnings, while being conscious of the need to 
expand it as much as possible. The key to efficiently gen-
erating as much cash as possible is to improve our 
profitability, or earning power, so we will continue growth 
investment to achieve the highest possible ROI while 
controlling costs.

Turning now to “return on capital,” we are cognizant of 
ROE. ROE in FY2022 was 7.6%. Since we recognize 
that the current cost of shareholders’ equity is in the 
low-to-mid 5% range, we have achieved an ROE above 
that level. However, our financial target for ROE is 8% or 
more, so we will first work to improve ROE—primarily by 
increasing profit—so we can reach and then slightly 
exceed our target.

We collect this money from each partner financial institu-
tion on the ensuing business day.

Thus, the Company’s financial position is extremely 
stable, as it is less susceptible to changes in the environ-
ment—such as economic and financial conditions—and 
there is virtually no risk of a decline in assets.

Amidst these conditions, our capital adequacy ratio is 
46.51%—rather high for a bank—and we intend to 
maintain our current rating while actively working to 
effectively use capital.

been progressing steadily and we anticipate continued 
growth.

Given this, we have revised our consolidated ordinary 
income target for domestic and overseas operations 
combined upward from ¥170 billion to ¥250 billion, and 
consolidated ordinary profit upward from ¥35 billion to 
¥45 billion. First, we will strive to achieve this goal, and 
also to augment it to the extent possible. We will contin-
ue to target ROE of 8% or more while working to further 
enhance capital efficiency.

Our Approach to Financial and Capital Strategies

Solid Financial Base

Medium-Term Management Plan Update

Message from the Chief Financial Officer

Seven Bank’s Growth Strategy

Assets Liabilities and net assets

ATM-related
temporary
advances 54.7

Cash and due
from banks

Securities
ATM-related temporary payments

Other assets

952.0
Deposits 820.7

Bonds 85.0

Other liabilities 97.6

Net assets 254.2

1,312.2

99.6
98.2

162.4

1,312.2

Fiscal Year Ended March 
31, 2022 (results)

Target for FY2025
(Current Medium-Term 

Management Plan)
New Target for FY2025

Consolidated ordinary income 154.9 170.0 250.0

Domestic business 123.4 125.0 187.5

(of which, ATM platform business) 104.0 100.0 105.0

Overseas business 31.5 45.0 62.5

Consolidated ordinary profit 28.9 35.0 45.0

EBITDA 48.4 60.0 80.0

ROE 7.6% 8.0% or more 8.0% or more

Financial Goals

Consolidated Balance Sheet (as of March 31, 2023) 
(Billions of yen)

Capital Adequacy Ratio (consolidated, 
Japanese standard)

Credit Ratings (Long-Term)

(Billions of yen)

As of Mar. 31, 2023

46.51%

S&P Global Ratings  
(S&P)

A

Rating and Investment 
Information, Inc. (R&I)

AA-
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New M&A
(Seven Card Service becomes a subsidiary)
ATM service platform-related 
investments, etc.

FY21–22
cumulative

FY21–25
cumulative

¥25.9 billion

Results:
¥63.8 billion

¥20.7 billion

¥17.2 billion

FY21–23
cumulative

¥73.0 billion

Planned:
¥136.3 billion

¥31.3 billion

¥32.0 billion

¥120.0 billion

Medium-term target after update:

¥205.0 billion

¥35.0 billion

¥50.0 billion

¥70.0 billion

Initial medium-term
target:

¥150.0 billion

¥30.0 billion

¥50.0 billion

Investment in growth fields in Japan

Major investment projects from FY2021–FY2023

ATM-related investments in Indonesia, 
the Philippines, etc.

Investment in overseas business

Construction of data integration infrastructure
Construction and operation of robotic 
process automation (RPA), etc.

Construction of safe, secure network
Construction of system to realize new financial services

Investment for promoting 
corporate transformation

77%

16%

8%

Growth investment

Maintenance of infrastructure

Investment in fourth-generation ATM

ATM installation

Breakdown
of growth

investments

ATM installation

Maintenance of infrastructure

Growth investment

Maintain stable and continu-

ous shareholder returns 

centered on dividends, 

backed by a firm financial 

foundation

Message from the Chief Financial Officer

We have revised the investment plan in line with the 
updated financial targets of the Medium-Term Manage-
ment Plan. Under the plan to invest a total of ¥150 billion 
over the five years from FY2021–FY2025, we have 
invested ¥63.8 billion through FY2022 and plan to invest 
another ¥140 billion over the next three years. This will 
result in the cumulative investment from FY2021–FY2025 
potentially exceeding ¥200 billion. Not much has 
changed from the previously planned figures for infra-
structure maintenance to ensure stable operation of the 
ATM network and banking systems, and ATM installation, 

We will continue to work on returning profits to share-
holders as we have, positioning it as a key management 
issue. As stated in our basic policy, our policy is to strive 
to enhance shareholder returns—with a focus on divi-
dends—and we will continue to maintain stable, 

The ideal way to construct a stable business portfolio is 
to combine multiple businesses with different profit 
cycles, risk/return, potential for growth, and cash flow 
while leveraging the company’s strengths. For many 
years, our earnings had been generated solely by our 
domestic ATM platform business. With the addition, 
however, of Seven Card Service’s credit card and elec-
tronic money businesses, in addition to our overseas 
business, and the expansion of Seven Bank’s account 
business, we believe we will be able to construct a 

We conduct about 100 investor meetings annually in the 
interest of providing accurate information on the Compa-
ny’s financial situation and management strategy, and to 
aid investors in gaining a more comprehensive under-
standing of our business activities and future growth. We 
are also attempting to boost our reputation on the stock 
market and enhance our corporate value by leveraging 

which primarily represents investment in fourth-genera-
tion ATMs. Meanwhile, growth investment is set at ¥120 
billion, and will be expanded to include investments in 
areas of domestic growth such as development of ATM 
services as a service platform and retail financial busi-
ness expansion, business investments overseas for 
expanding the ATM network in Indonesia and the Philip-
pines, and investments in the promotion of corporate 
transformation to improve business efficiency and trans-
formation, while monitoring investment effectiveness.

continuous dividends through profit growth while balanc-
ing capital soundness and aggressive growth investment. 
We will also endeavor to sustainably boost dividends per 
share.

business portfolio with multiple earnings pillars by 2025. 
In Japan, we intend to build a well-balanced business 
portfolio in terms of profit structure and geography by 
combining one-off businesses such as ATM business 
and settlement business such as credit cards with 
recurring revenue-type businesses such as loans, and 
overseas, by developing business in the U.S., Asia, and 
other regions.

investor feedback in our management and fostering even 
closer IR communication.

Moreover, we are reinforcing our information dissemi-
nation by proactively disclosing non-financial information 
related to sustainability—such as the Task Force on 
Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD)—on our 
website, in addition to our standard financial data.

Investment Plans for Future Milestones Shareholder Returns Focused on Actual Value

Transformation of Business Portfolio

Importance of Communication with Investors

2022
(Forecast)

202120202019201820172016201520142013

10.00
9.00

11.00 11.00 11.00 11.00

8.00
8.50

7.50

(Yen)

(Fiscal
 Year)

(%)

12

8

4

0

90

60

30

0

42.042.0 41.041.0 40.940.9 42.642.6 47.047.0 49.649.6 49.949.9

62.062.0
68.668.6

2023

11.00

99.099.0

11.0011.00
Payout ratio

Dividend

Seven Bank’s Growth Strategy

ATM Platform
Business

¥104.0 billion
(67%)

ATM Platform
Business

¥105.0 billion
(42%)

Overseas Business
¥62.5 billion

(25%)

Overseas
Business

¥31.0 billion
(20%)

Card/Electronic Money
¥50.0 billion

(20%)

Service Platform 
Strategy

Accounts, etc.
¥28.5 billion

(11%)

Domestic Retail
and Corporate

Business
¥19.9 billion

(13%) FY2022

¥154.9
billion

FY2025

¥250.0
billion

Domestic Retail and
Corporate Business

Ordinary Income

Payout Ratio

Renewal of Seven Bank websiteWeb

Basic policy

We renewed our website in April 2023. The site overall 
has been expanded, and provides easy access to 
corporate information and appealing content.

Our disclosure policy is posted on the following website:

https://www.sevenbank.co.jp/english/ir/policy/

Tools for Dialogue
  Distribution of audio recordings, and transcripts of the 
presentations of financial results for analysts and institution-
al investors (Japanese and English)
  Issuance of Integrated Report (Business Report) in Japa-
nese
  Issuance of Annual Report in English
  Issuance of Shareholders’ Newsletter in Japanese
  Posting of information on the Bank’s website for individual 
investors in Japanese
  IR presentations for individual investors (online)

29 30Integrated Report 2023 Integrated Report 2023

Value Creation Growth Strategy Management Foundation Data



Financial and Non-Financial Highlights

Seven Bank’s Growth Strategy

*1 Depreciation and amortization (excluding goodwill).
*2 EBITDA = ordinary profit + depreciation and amortization
*3 Including negotiable certificates of deposits
*4 EBITDA margin = EBITDA/ordinary income

*5 ROE = net income/average equity balance
*6  Calculated based on the formula stipulated in the Financial Services Agency Announcement No. 19 of 2006 in accordance with the second provision of the Banking 

Law No. 14.

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Items on the 
Statement of 
Income:

Ordinary income  (Millions of yen) 94,965 105,587 114,036 119,939 121,608 127,656 147,288 148,553 137,267 136,667 154,984

Ordinary expenses (Millions of yen) 63,094 69,801 76,997 82,772 84,897 89,350 106,574 108,716 101,626 108,412 126,059

Ordinary profit  (Millions of yen) 31,871 35,786 37,038 37,167 36,710 38,305 40,714 39,836 35,640 28,255 28,924

Net income attributable  
to owners of the parent (Millions of yen) 19,377 21,236 23,220 24,716 25,114 25,301 13,236 26,162 25,905 20,827 18,854

Depreciation and  
amortization*1  (Millions of yen) 14,001 12,493 16,251 18,779 18,766 17,102 17,529 14,634 14,070 16,388 19,526

EBITDA*2 (Millions of yen) 45,872 48,279 53,289 55,946 55,477 55,408 58,244 54,471 49,710 44,644 48,450

Items on the 
Balance Sheet:

Total assets (Millions of yen) 812,531 790,377 856,415 915,385 957,792 1,022,485 1,141,926 1,085,885 1,197,158 1,221,623 1,312,273

Deposits*3 (Millions of yen) 394,615 438,348 502,285 547,865 572,353 623,581 679,474 684,560 783,408 790,687 821,508

Total liabilities  (Millions of yen) 674,486 636,968 686,525 730,590 758,710 810,458 929,036 863,051 962,482 977,509 1,058,031

Total net assets (Millions of yen) 138,045 153,408 169,890 184,794 199,081 212,027 212,890 222,833 234,676 244,113 254,242

Per share data: EPS (Earnings per share) (Yen) 16.27 17.83 19.49 20.75 21.07 21.24 11.11 22.14 22.01 17.71 16.03

DPS (Dividend per share) (Yen) 6.75 7.50 8.00 8.50 9.00 10.00 11.00 11.00 11.00 11.00 11.00

Payout ratio (%) 41.4 42.0 41.0 40.9 42.6 47.0 99.0 49.6 49.9 62.0 68.6

Management 
indicators:

EBITDA margin*4 (%) 48.2 45.7 46.7 46.6 45.6 43.4 39.5 36.6 36.2 32.6 31.2

ROE (Return on equity)*5 (%) 14.7 14.6 14.4 13.9 13.1 12.3 6.2 12.0 11.3 8.7 7.6

Capital adequacy ratio  
(domestic standard)*6 (%)

43.13 45.27 50.53 49.77 51.71 50.78 47.77 50.11 47.93 47.31 46.51

PER (Price-to-earnings ratio) (Times) 18.7 22.7 30.4 23.1 17.2 15.9 29.4 12.6 11.4 13.4 16.5

Cash flow: Cash flow from  
operating activities  (Millions of yen)

118,550 91,940 99,931 66,482 88,118 31,466 117,471 89,619 136,039 41,311 66,577

Cash flow from  
investing activities  (Millions of yen) (6,927) (50,668) 4,994 (11,634) (28,818) (3,649) (34,882) (5,801) (32,770) (36,114) (36,191)

Cash flow from  
financing activities (Millions of yen) (8,157) (8,333) (9,204) (9,826) (10,446) (11,729) (12,246) (16,009) (13,555) (12,727) (12,973)

Capital 
investments:

Capital investment  
amounts (Millions of yen) 21,918 24,054 19,037 17,216 14,213 11,900 10,792 16,694 25,132 23,712 24,734

For domestic  
business ATMs (Millions of yen) 13,044 13,858 10,698 8,885 4,052 1,673 1,986 3,556 9,228 7,898 6,450

For domestic  
business software (Millions of yen) 7,118 7,933 7,122 7,550 8,756 9,863 7,589 11,567 14,023 9,918 12,115

Amounts less than one unit have been truncated.

Consolidated Financial Highlights

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Number of employees (Consolidated)*1 (Persons) 490 543 576 619 634 654 657 713 809 911 1,016

Number of employees (Non-consolidated)*1 (Persons) 453 458 445 456 472 468 460 487 470 505 549

Ratio of female employees (Non-consolidated) (%) 32 35 35 35 36 37 39 41 39 40 39

Ratio of female managers*2 (%) 8.0 9.7 9.9 10.7 12.0 14.7 14.5 17.4 18.2 16.0 18.4

Ratio of paid leave taken by employees (%) — — — — 83.4 86.9 78.1 80.0 70.5 80.2 83.8

Number of employees who took childcare leave*3 (Persons) 10 7 12 10 13 16 12 11 11 15 24

Non-Financial Highlights

*1  Excluding officers, executive officers, employees seconded from the Bank to external companies, part-time employees and temporary staff; and including employees 
seconded from external companies to the Bank.

*2  Ratio of female mangers is calculated based on management positions (Senior Officer, Officer, Assistant Officer), excluding those seconded from the Bank to external 
companies.

*3 Number of employees who took childcare leave in fiscal 2022 including contractors
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Hiroshi Takeuchi
Managing Executive Officer in charge of ATM Platform Promotion Division,  

ATM Operations Management Division, and Business Support Division

Seeking to Offer an Innovative ATM 
Service and Create New Value through 
Seven Bank’s Core Business

The ATM platform business is Seven Bank’s core business offering diverse services through more 
than 27,000 ATMs in 47 prefectures in Japan. In addition to cash deposits and withdrawals, the 
Seven Bank’s ATMs support a wide range of settlement needs that are diversifying in response to 
the rise of cashless settlements. The latest ATMs are equipped with facial recognition and other 
various functions, allowing financial and administrative procedures as well. We are working to 
create new value of ATMs serving as a key social infrastructure to support customers’ lives. With financial institutions promoting streamlining of operations through branch reorganization and other measures, we 

will leverage the extensive operational know-how in ATMs cultivated by Seven Bank to date to further install joint ATMs 
with other financial institutions. The number of joint ATMs has reached 466 as of the end of FY2022, and Seven Bank 
is jointly installing ATMs with 38 financial institutions nationwide. Joint ATM operations not only lowers ATM operating 
costs for financial institutions but also helps improve convenience for their customers.

Installed in major train stations, etc.

Image of Joint ATM Functions

Joint ATMs with Seven Bank

Financial 
institutions’ 
customers

Cash 
deposits and 
withdrawals

Top-up
Overseas 

credit card 
transactions

Voice 
guidance 
service

* Cards with Visa or Mastercard brand issued overseas are covered.

8,615 8,674

3,594
4,195

6,216

2020 202120192018 2022(Fiscal
Year)

326 338

466

202220212020(Fiscal
Year)

Joint installation of
ATMs with 38

financial institutions
nationwide

Changes in Number of Joint ATMs

Changes in Number of Transactions Processed  
for Cards Issued Overseas

(Units)

(Thousands)

 Changes in Number of ATMs Installed  Number of ATM Transactions and Their Breakdown

* Non-banks, QR code settlement companies, etc.: total of securities companies, life insurance 
companies, credit card companies, credit companies, consumer finance companies, QR code 
settlement companies, etc.

667667659659727727749749

2422421771771211218080
829 849 836

910
980

701701

278278

96.596.5 101.5101.5
90.590.592.192.192.392.3

2020 202120192018 2022(Fiscal
Year)

23,21223,21223,21223,04823,04823,04822,83122,83122,83122,77722,77722,777

3,0413,0413,0412,6282,6282,6282,3842,3842,3842,3752,3752,375
25,152 25,215 25,676 26,253 26,913

23,30723,30723,307

3,6063,6063,606

2020 202120192018 2022(FYE)

Daily average transactions per ATM (number)

Deposit-taking financial institutionsATMs installed within the Group (units) ATMs installed outside the Group (units) Non-banks, QR code settlement companies, etc.* (millions)

Seven Bank’s Growth Strategy

Establishing a Presence for ATMs in the Cashless Society

Multiple Currency Settlement Service for Cards Issued Overseas Starts

Supporting Streamlining by Financial Institutions

Business Model for ATM Services
(example of main partner financial institution and 
operating company)

ATM-related 
fee income

Cash deposits*

*Some operating companies allow cash withdrawals.

ATM service fees (basically free for top-up)
(Determined by cashless operating company B)

Seven Bank

ATM platform  
with more than  
27,000 ATMs  
nationwide

Cashless operating 
company B

Bank A

Customers

Cash deposits and withdrawals

Top-up for cashless settlements

ATM service fees
(determined by Bank A)

With the widespread use of cashless settlements, 
top-up transactions for electronic money and 
smartphone settlements are rapidly increasing in 
number at Seven Bank ATMs. As a familiar entry 
point into the digital society, Seven Bank is seeking 
to further enhance the presence of ATMs. Since 
regional digital currencies are increasingly intro-
duced in local communities as part of measures to 
revitalize local economies, Seven Bank ATMs 
support top-ups for regional currencies issued by 
over 20 local governments to facilitate regional 
revitalization.

Seven Bank ATMs support 12 languages, and a 
service in particular which makes it possible to 
withdraw Japanese yen using cash cards and credit 
cards issued overseas is popular with tourists from 
overseas. Starting in July 2022, a currency of 
settlement can be selected* when customers 
withdraw Japanese yen at the ATMs. This provides 
enhanced convenience. Going forward, as tourists 
from overseas are expected to increase, we will 
strive to properly respond to needs for cash in 
Japan.

ATM Platform Business
Offer a safe, convenient settlement infrastructure

Electronic 
money
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Okinawa 173

Hokkaido

1,153

Aomori 116

Iwate

159

Akita

126

Miyagi

556

Yamagata

215

Fukushima

569

Niigata

626

Ibaraki

773

Tochigi

565
Gunma

528

Yamanashi

226

Mie

192

Nara

168

Hyogo

851

Wakayama

92

Gifu

240Shiga

252

Fukui

133

Osaka

1,817

Kyoto

455
Tottori

53
Okayama

378Hiroshima

624

Shimane

65
Yamaguchi

371

Miyazaki

214

Oita

199

Fukuoka

1,275Saga

204
Nagasaki

219

Kagoshima

222

Kochi

47

Ehime

130 Tokushima

89

Kagawa

124

Nagano

496

Toyama

155

Ishikawa

147

Aichi

1,280

Kumamoto

409

Shizuoka

1,052

Chiba

1,600

Kanagawa 1,827
Tokyo 4,065

Saitama

1,683

Seven-Eleven stores 22,619
Other Seven & i Group stores 688
Commercial facilities outside the Group 2,073
Office buildings 98
Railway stations 820
Highway rest areas 77
Airports 61
Other locations (financial institutions, etc.) 477

 Number of ATMs installed by location

26,913
(as of March 31, 2023)

* The number of ATMs installed at Seven-Eleven stores in facilities outside 
the Group is included in the number of ATMs in Seven-Eleven stores.

Seven Bank’s Growth Strategy

ATMs nationwide

(as of March 31, 2023)
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Banks by location of head office

Partner Deposit-taking Financial Institutions (as of May 31, 2023)

Labor banksShinkin banks Credit cooperatives JA Bank JF Marine Bank Shoko Chukin Bank

Hokkaido/Tohoku region

Securities companies Credit card companies, credit companies, consumer finance companies, business loan providers, operating companies

Life insurance companies

Financial Institutions, Etc. (as of May 31, 2023)

Cards issued overseas (international brands) Electronic money

Alliance Network (as of May 31, 2023)

Kinki region

Chugoku/Shikoku region

Kyushu/Okinawa region

Overseas banks

Kanto region

Chubu region

*There are some cards that have the same marks but cannot be accepted at our ATMs. *These are the logos of some of the services provided.

Seven Bank’s Growth Strategy

ATM partners
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From the fall of 2023, we will progressively provide financial institutions with two new 
services: ATM Notification, where Seven Bank ATMs urge particular customers to confirm 
their registered personal information and take other actions; and ATM Teller, where our 
ATMs process applications for opening accounts, changing the registered information, 
and so forth. These services will enable customers to complete necessary procedures 
anytime at nearby Seven Bank ATMs in an easy, convenient, and secure manner. At the 
same time, financial institutions will benefit from enhanced customer contact points and 
streamlined operations, among other merits. Going forward, we will expand our network 
of collaboration to include services provided by nonfinancial operating companies, govern-
ment, and other entities so that we can deliver new value to society.

As Seven Bank ATMs operating nationwide are capable of reading Individual Number Cards, anyone can make appli-
cations at our ATMs for obtaining Individual Number Card Points or using their Individual Number Card as a health 
insurance card. We will keep on working to develop and deliver services like these in cooperation with government.

In response to a societal shift that requires more accurate identity 
verification, Seven Bank seeks to provide a reliable and secure authen-
tication platform. Our ATMs, which can read driver’s licenses, Individual 
Number Cards, and so forth while also performing facial recognition, 
are the first in Japan to be able to conduct identity verification in com-
pliance with the Act on Prevention of Transfer of Criminal Proceeds. In 
the spring of 2024, we will launch a new service where cash can be 
deposited and withdrawn with facial recognition alone. This will allow 
customers to use our ATMs in a safe and secure manner through 
biometric authentication only, without the trouble of presenting personal 
identification.

Serve as Tellers Guiding Customers to Convenient Services

Serve as a Government-Citizen Interface

Serve as a Platform for All Types of Authentication

Seven Bank’s Growth Strategy

Seven Bank is in the process of rolling out its fourth-generation ATMs, or ATM+, that make avail-
able an even wider variety of functionalities. In addition to being equipped with an operation panel 
that is easier to read and use for anyone, the fourth-generation ATM can link to a smartphone. With 
these ATMs that are also capable of reading QR codes, IC cards, and personal identification docu-
ments and performing facial recognition, we aim to redefine the value delivered by ATMs.

The social setting is changing rapidly, as seen in customers’ lifestyles and the business environ-
ment for companies. To address such change, Seven Bank intends to deliver new value that tran-
scends the conventional concept of an ATM, going beyond simple cash settlement. Moving 
forward, we will develop the nationwide network of Seven Bank ATMs into a service platform that 
connects the digital and real worlds and enables users to complete all kinds of procedures in an 
easy and secure manner. Toward that end, we will collaborate with a variety of services offered by 
financial institutions, operating companies, government, and other entities, with the goal of realiz-
ing a digital society in which no one is left behind.

An easy-to-read and -use two-screen panel that displays large-font characters and animations

etc. etc.
etc.

Reading QR codes, IC cards, and 
personal identification documents

Performing facial recognition using 
an advanced camera

Number of 
fourth-generation 

ATMs installed

13,419
(As of March 31, 2023)

Fall 2023 New services to start

ATM Notification ATM Teller

Continuous 
customer 

management
Visa expiration 
management

Allow for 
updating 

address, phone 
number, and 

other information

Open bank and 
other accounts

Process applica-
tions to change 
address, phone 

number, etc.

We provide new convenience by 
adding services that meet changing 
customer needs

Koji Fukasawa
Managing Executive Officer in charge of the ATM Solution Division and the ATM+ Planning Division

Service Platform Strategy

Utilize advanced ATMs to offer a variety of services, whether 
financial or nonfinancial

*QR code is a registered trademark of DENSO WAVE INCORPORATED.

Handle a broader range of procedures and services

Account 
opening

Change of 
address

Loan 
applications

Individual Number 
Card collection

BanksBanks

Service 
applications

Administrative 
procedures

Banks

Other financial Other financial 
institutionsinstitutions

Other financial Other financial 
institutionsinstitutions

Payment Payment 
service service 

providersproviders

Payment Payment 
service service 

providersproviders

Operating Operating 
companiescompanies

GovernmentGovernment

Seven Bank ATMs are also installed in the head offices 
and branches of banks
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Seven Bank provides financial services 
deeply embedded in customers’ daily 
lives. We seek to develop unique products 
that only the Seven & i Group can offer.

Our domestic retail business provides financial services that are deeply embedded in individual 
customers’ everyday lives. Pursuing the unique products typical of Seven Bank, which has its DNA 
in general distribution, we offer innovative and unconventional services in such fields as credit, 
investment, and insurance. Seven Bank has been consistently growing in many aspects, from the 
number of accounts to balances of deposits and loans. As a member of the Seven & i Group, 
whose stores in Japan are visited by about 22.2 million customers on a daily basis, we make every 
effort to realize the wishes of our customers.

The My Seven Bank smartphone app, which marked its third anniversary in April 2023, has been completely rede-
signed. The renewed app, launched in June 2023, is designed to ensure accessibility so that anyone can quickly learn 
how to use it. While retaining the existing features, most notably the capability to open accounts in as little as 10 
minutes and the Smartphone ATM service that allows for cash deposits or withdrawals with the app alone without 
using a physical cash card, the app now has a completely new user interface in which all icons for money transfer 
services are placed on the top half of the smartphone display, for instance. Moreover, note-taking and other highly 
requested functionalities have been added, taking the ease of use to the next level.

Revamp the My Seven Bank Smartphone App

Launched in November 2022, our Shopping Invest-
ment “Korekabu” service was born out of the idea 
of merging retail and financial services to enable 
anyone to start investing easily. The service boasts 
unique functionalities that only Seven Bank can 
offer: for example, scanning the barcode of a 
product leads the customer to find stocks relevant 
to the product. The service offers some 300 finan-
cial products (Japanese and US stocks as well as 
exchange-traded funds), from which customers 
can choose to trade or make periodic installment 
investments, from as little as one share costing 
several hundred yen, using the My Seven Bank 
smartphone app. Korekabu is designed to allow 
customers to start and continue investing easily at 
a reasonable pace, while having fun as if they were 
collecting stocks by fulfilling a series of missions.

Make Investment Easier with the Shopping Investment “Korekabu”  
That Merges Retail and Financial Services

Foreign nationals living in Japan have been on the rise year after year. The current situation, however, is that they are 
still unable to smoothly access financial services essential to their daily lives. In view of that, the Seven Bank Group has 
a framework in place where non-Japanese residents are provided with multiple financial services in a one-stop man-
ner. Those services range from bank account opening to international money transfer, credit cards, loans, and insur-
ance. We provide these services in a multilingual and easy-to-understand format, aspiring to the creation of a 
multicultural symbiotic society where non-Japanese residents can go about their lives with peace of mind.

Provide Non-Japanese Residents with One-Stop Financial Services

Seven Bank’s Growth Strategy

2,7552,755
2,5282,528

2,3642,364
2,1792,179

2,0012,001

434.6 458.6
519.0

550.7 575.6

2018 2021 202220202019(Fiscal 
Year)
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 Once the account 
is opened, make 
deposits and 
withdrawals using 
a smartphone at 
Seven Bank ATMs

 Apply

Account opened in as little 
as 10 minutes after applica-
tion

Loan services
Loans to be taken out on the day follow-
ing the application at the earliest. 
Available 24 hours a day in principle via 
Seven Bank ATMs, etc. nationwide.

Debit services
No annual membership fees. Awarded 
nanaco points for the use of the service.

Shopping  
Investment  
“Korekabu”
An easy, convenient investment service 
akin to shopping.

Simple and quick Seven Bank  
account opening

Once an account is opened, Seven 
Bank’s unique products and services 

can be used

The My Seven Bank 
app won a Support 
DX Award*

233

62

2021(Fiscal Year) 2022 2023

Cumulative 
downloads  
(10 thousand 
downloads)

151151

Bank accounts

Seven Bank

International money transfer

Seven Global Remit

Credit

Credd Finance

Insurance

Viva Vida Medical Life

  More than 27,000 Seven Bank ATMs 
nationwide allow for deposits and 
withdrawals anytime and anywhere.

  Our ATM’s operation panel displays more 
than 10 languages, ensuring that 
customers make transactions with peace 
of mind.

  The multilingual, easy-to-use smart-
phone app enables customers to remit 
money overseas anytime through a 
simple process.
  All remittances are made based on 
real-time market rates.

  Nonphysical credit cards with low credit limits 
can be issued even to foreign nationals who 
have just started to live in Japan.

  A wide range of loan products are available to 
foreign nationals with various types of working 
visas.

   Diverse insurance products cater to a 
broad range of people and needs.

  Insurance policies offer coverage that is 
reasonable yet sufficient.

Domestic Retail Business

Provide financial services that support the daily lives of 
individual customers

Takashi Tsuzuura
Executive Officer in charge of the Banking Management Division

* An award event aimed at recognizing, sharing, and appreciating 
the companies and services that create innovative digital 
customer experiences.

All icons for money transfer 
services placed on the top half

Note-taking and 
categorization made possible

An at-a-glance list of services

Find investment 
has unknowingly 
become a part of 
the daily routine

Acquire shares for 
free via lottery for 
first-time users

Experience the 
fun of stock trad-

ing by fulfilling 
missions

Scan product 
barcodes after 

shopping

Make diversified 
investment by com-
pleting a stock list

  Download the My Seven 
Bank smartphone app
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Seven Bank’s Growth Strategy

Drive a Shift to Mobile and Digital Payment Services

The nanaco electronic money service began supporting Apple Pay in October 2021. In this and other ways, Seven 
Card Service has been driving a shift to mobile and digital payment services that go beyond the traditional nanaco 
card, with a view to expanding customer contact points and widening the use cases even further. In April 2022, the 
capability to pay with nanaco was added to the 7-Eleven app. This is just one example of the company’s efforts to 
enhance new services that capitalize on the strong customer bases of the Seven & i Group and nanaco. Seven 
Card Service will keep on working to ensure that nanaco is used by, and embedded in the lives of, a wider age 
range of customers—by planning and running campaigns that utilize Group companies’ apps, digital and social 
media, and other tools.

To provide highly convenient financial services for customers visiting Seven & i Group stores, both Seven Bank and 
Seven Card Service have been working hard on service enhancements over the more than two decades since their 
respective founding. Meanwhile, the business environment has undergone significant changes, as epitomized by 
the rise of fintech companies and monetary policy shifts around the world. To adapt to the rapidly changing busi-
ness environment and provide services and financial experiences that are tailored to customer needs, Seven Bank 
made Seven Card Service a consolidated subsidiary on July 1, 2023.

To integrate and enhance the know-how, expertise, and other intellectual capital developed by the two compa-
nies over the years, the Seven & i Group’s bank and non-bank businesses will be operated in unison moving 
forward. At the same time, the existing financial services will be reorganized from the customer perspective to cater 
to diverse customer needs more simply, seamlessly, and speedily. Furthermore, the two companies will seek to 
produce synergy by utilizing 7iD, a membership platform common across the Seven & i Group, in order to develop 
financial services and provide unique experiences that only a distribution and retail group can offer.

Launch a 7iD Linkage Registration Service

In April 2022, Seven Card Service launched a linkage service between 7iD and its credit cards: Seven Card Plus 
and Seven Card. As a result, any cardholder who has paid with their Seven Card Plus or Seven Card at 7-Eleven 
or Ito-Yokado stores earn Seven Miles automatically, without presenting their app membership barcode. The 
earned Seven Miles can be exchanged for nanaco electronic money or nanaco points. Seven Card Service will 
continue to do its utmost so that the cardholders are 
able to shop beneficially whether at Seven & i Group 
stores or on the partners’ apps or online shops.

Provide Payment Services Based on Electronic Money and Credit Cards

The nanaco electronic money service helps more than 79 million customers 
shop conveniently on a daily basis, available at over one million affiliated 
stores nationwide, whether Seven & i Group shops or not. Seven Card 
Service continues to introduce new services that are convenient and benefi-
cial to customers, including programs where nanaco point can be utilized. 
These points are also employed for the purpose of helping reduce food 
waste and increase plastic bottle recycling, as part of the company’s ongoing 
efforts to contribute to the achievement of the SDGs.

The company’s credit card services have grown to more than 3.6 million 
cardholders. Its credit cards charge no annual fee, award nanaco points 
based on the amount spent, and allow for the automatic top-up of nanaco 
electronic money.

A settlement service company of the Seven & i Group that 
is one of the largest distribution groups in Japan, Seven 
Card Service issues and operates electronic money and 
credit cards. Upon the start of operation in 2002, the com-
pany began issuing credit cards. In 2007, it launched nana-
co, the first prepaid electronic money service in the 
distribution industry. In parallel with the diffusion of nanaco 
that is known with its logo of a giraffe, Seven Card Service 
has been enhancing its services in keeping with the motto 
of making shopping more fun and convenient. Going for-
ward, the company will continue striving to provide finan-
cial services embedded in day-to-day lives, with the 
primary goal of deepening its connection with customers.

Make shopping more fun and convenient by driving  

a shift to mobile and digital payment services

* 7iD is a membership platform common across the Seven & i Group. It can be used not only at Group companies but also for their partners’ services. Whether at 
Seven & i Group stores or on the partners’ apps or online shops, 7iD members can shop beneficially and earn Seven Miles.

Seven Card Service
Provide payment services embedded in everyday life

Take the retail business to the next level centering on 7iD*

Number of users
Approx. 

28 million

Supporting customers’ daily lives

Bank Non-bank

Strengthening both physical and 
digital contact points

Smartphone payments, contact-
less payments, etc.

Making asset management easy 
even for beginners

Data-based advanced credit

Services embedded in everyday life

Marketing

Payments

Asset management Accounts and credit
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Seven Bank’s Growth Strategy

Seven Payment Service, Ltd.

Bank Business Factory Co., Ltd.

ACSiON, Ltd.The ATM cash receiving service enables money transferred from companies to be received by individuals via Seven 
Bank ATMs or at 7-Eleven counters 24 hours a day, 365 days a year, in principle. Harnessing Seven Bank ATMs, 
Seven Payment Service offers unique corporate services like this that cannot be found anywhere else. The ATM cash 
receiving service has come to be used for even wider purposes, as seen in collaboration with a greater number of local 
governments and railway companies. The ATM cash collection service, which allows sales and other funds to be 
deposited at Seven Bank ATMs, is also well received as it helps companies streamline operations.

Drawing on its know-how in bank business center management and expertise in financial back-office operations, Bank 
Business Factory (BBF) provides many financial institutions with not only back-office support services—such as ac-
count opening, mortgages, and deposit investigations—but also anti-money laundering services. The company also 
offers BPO services that promise efficiency, proposing ways to optimize work processes by automating operations 
through robotic process automation (RPA) and other means.

ACSiON provides platforms for online personal authentication and fraud detection services, with the goal of helping 
stabilize and develop the financial infrastructure. As the international community rigorously scrutinizes how banks com-
bat money laundering, terrorism financing, and other financial crime, the company makes proactive efforts to assist 
financial institutions with anti-fraud measures.

Topics   The ATM cash collection service received a Financial Institution Award at the Japan 
Financial Innovation Award 2023

Using the propriety smartphone app, the ATM cash collection service allows sales and other funds 
to be deposited at any of more than 27,000 Seven Bank ATMs nationwide 24 hours a day, 365 
days a year, in principle. In recognition of its excellence, the service was presented a Financial 
Institution Award at the Japan Financial Innovation Award 2023, co-organized by FINOLAB Inc. 
and FINOVATORS. The award recognized the service’s ability to streamline cumbersome cash 
collection operations by utilizing the Seven Bank ATM network.

Topics   More railways in the Tokyo metropolitan area employ the 
ATM cash receiving service

The ATM cash receiving service allows not only cash but also electronic money to be 
collected. Taking advantage of this feature, Seven Payment Service has partnered with 
more than half of major private railway companies in the Tokyo metropolitan area. In 
consequence, passengers can now collect the points earned from any of these railway 
companies to top up their electronic money accounts operated by that company. This 
service is very popular as it allows passengers to collect their points anytime at nearby 
Seven Bank ATMs, in addition to via ticket machines in railway stations.

Topics   ATM cash receiving service is now available to collect 
local government benefits

Topics  The INFO-nity continuous customer management service is used increasingly widely

Topics   The proost identity verification service 
is employed by more companies

Topics  The Detecker fraud detection business starts providing a collaborative service with NTT Data

The ATM cash receiving service, which enables money transferred from compa-
nies to be received via Seven Bank ATMs nationwide 24 hours a day, 365 days a 
year, in principle, is now available to receive local government benefits. The service 
helps local governments reduce cumbersome paperwork. At the same time, it 
greatly increases convenience for citizens, too, as they can receive benefits via 
Seven Bank ATMs sooner upon application.

Seven Bank has amassed know-how and 
products that are essential to ensuring 
bank-quality back-office operations and securi-
ty. Harnessing these assets, BBF launched an 
INFO-nity service that helps financial institutions 
with continuous customer management, which 
they are statutorily obligated to perform in order 
to prevent bank accounts from being misused. 
The service allows for efficient continuous 
customer management by contacting custom-
ers through multiple means of communication 
and updating the customer database. It is 
being employed by an increasing number of 
financial institutions.

The proost service enables personal identification data 
(e.g., name, address, and other information contained in 
licenses, as well as selfies) to be stored and used for 
online personal authentication. The number of companies 
introducing the service is on the rise. This is because the 
service offers convenience to both companies that 
employ proost and their users: the users are able to 
update their personal information for multiple proost-us-
ing companies in a single operation, while the companies 
can share the latest user information at all times.

ACSiON provides the Detecker fraud detection platform service, which operates 24-hours-a-day, 365-days-a-year 
monitoring to detect fraudulent transactions and unauthorized access, using big data analysis aided by artificial intelli-
gence (AI). In 2022, the service started collaborating with the AnserParaSOL internet banking service of NTT DATA 
Japan, in an effort to assist financial institutions that are called on by the international community to implement strin-
gent anti-fraud measures.

Simplify and Expedite Cash Transfer and Collection with Unique Corporate Services

Provide Bank-Quality, Safe, Secure, and Efficient Back-Office Support (BPO) Services

make world be honest

ATM cash receiving and ATM cash collectionSettlement function

Back-office support serviceBPO

Platform provision serviceSecurity

Internet: Send postcards with a QR code, requesting the recipients 
to reply on the linked website

Select target 
customers

Subsequent operations

Update database by reflecting 
customer responses

Identity
verification:

BBF solutions

Accounting system

Credit rating system

Contact customers
1

Follow-up (returning incomplete information)1

Verify customer identity by checking the picture 
against the customer information

2

Receive mail, and preprocess and check documents3

Post: Obtain confirmation at the time of transaction by post from 
the elderly and others

3

ATMs: Perform continuous customer management services through 
Seven Bank ATMs

Seven Bank4

Verify (personal) customer identity by obtaining 
a picture of personal identification documents, etc.

2

BA

D

C

Initial registration

proost member
(no data change necessary)

proost
member databaseLog on

Log on

Enter the
revised data

Also send the revised 
data, on an opt-in basis, to Companies A 
and B with which the member has registered.

Company
A’s

service

Company
B’s

service

proost member
(data change necessary)

Company
C’s

service

Company
A

Company
B

Company
C

Fraud detection

Send the initial 
registration data to 
Company A

Send the initial 
registration data to 
Company A

Send the initial 
registration data to 
Company B

Send the initial 
registration data to 
Company B

Send the initial 
registration data to 
Company C

Send the initial 
registration data to 
Company C

Provide corporate customers with Seven 
Bank ATM-based secure and convenient 
services to create new revenue streams

As encapsulated in remarkable advances in fintech, both services and players in the financial industry are 
increasingly borderless, leading to the emergence of novel payment methods that take advantage of 
cutting-edge digital technologies. In this business environment, the Seven Bank Group takes on the chal-
lenge of developing secure and convenient services that capitalize on its strengths, most notably ATMs. Its 
cash transfer and collection services via ATMs are penetrating all aspects of life. Another growing service 
is one in which the security technologies and anti-fraud techniques honed by Seven Bank are provided to 
non-Group financial institutions and entities.

Domestic Corporate Business

Offer settlement services and security business for 
corporate customers

Receive cash by entering the 
recipient information given into a 
nearby Seven Bank ATM

Customer 
number
××××

Confirmation 
number
××××
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Tsuneo Nagashima
Managing Executive Officer  

in charge of the Global Business Development Division

Seven Bank’s Growth Strategy

Offer Unique Financial Services Backed by the Extensive ATM Network

FCTI operates around 8,600 ATMs installed in the stores of 7-Eleven, one of the largest convenience store chains in 
the United States. In February 2023, FCTI began a demonstration experiment of a proprietary digital banking service 
called “TAPT” in cooperation with an external bank. TAPT consists of two services—TAPT Money, a small loan service, 
and TAPT Debit, a debit card service—that can be applied for and used through the smartphone app. The aim is to 
increase revenue streams by providing loan and payment services for FCTI’s ATM users who have strong demand for 
such services.

Expand the ATM Network Utilizing AI and Data

Indonesia, the world’s fourth-most-populous country, wit-
nesses a sharp rise in demand for ATMs. However, the 
problem is that the more ATMs are installed, the greater the 
number of cases in which decision-making is difficult as to 
whether to install an ATM at a particular location. Joining 
hands with Seven Bank’s AI and data utilization team to 
address the situation, ATMi has developed and operates an 
AI model that predicts the number of ATM transactions at a 
specific location and decides whether to install an ATM there, 
using data obtained from on-site surveys. Recently, roughly 
40% of new ATM installations have been decided by the AI 
model. This facilitates the speedier expansion of the ATM 
network that meets strong local demand for ATMs.

United States

FCTI, Inc. (FCTI), a consolidated subsidiary, operates about 
8,600 ATMs installed in US 7-Eleven (SEI) stores. In addition to 
providing a stable ATM service underpinned by its extensive 
network, FCTI offers multilayered financial services, such as a 
unique credit service based on ATM usage data.

Indonesia

PT. ABADI TAMBAH MULIA INTERNASIONAL (ATMi), a con-
solidated subsidiary, operates approximately 5,500 ATMs 
installed mainly in local convenience stores. Driven in part 
by aggressive new store opening by local convenience 
store chains, the company accelerates the pace of install-
ing ATMs in rural areas and on remote islands.

Philippines

Pito AxM Platform, Inc. (PAPI), a consolidated subsidiary, 
operates around 2,300 ATMs installed in 7-Eleven stores in the 
Philippines. By the end of 2023, all of the about three thou-
sand 7-Eleven stores in the country are expected to have 
ATMs. In tandem with the network expansion, the number of 
ATM transactions has been sharply increasing.

Seven Bank provides ATM services in 
three countries abroad—the United 
States, Indonesia, and the Philippines—
leveraging the expertise in advanced 
ATM operations it has developed in 
Japan. To ensure the stable operation of 
ATM services, we have been steadily 
increasing the numbers of ATMs and 
partners as we work to establish an 
ATM network that meets the settlement 
needs of each market.

Push for More ATM Transactions by Expanding Partner Banks

As part of its effort to install ATMs at Philippine 7-Eleven stores, PAPI has been accelerating installations not only in 
Metropolitan Manila but also in rural areas and on remote islands. By the end of 2023, all the 7-Eleven stores in the 
country are expected to have ATMs. In 2022, PAPI began direct collaboration with LANDBANK, one of the major 
banks in the Philippines, resulting in an exponential growth in the number of transactions. PAPI will continue to expand 
its ATM network and partner banks to meet strong funding demand in the country.

8,6888,6888,5538,553

316
815815

52.952.948.848.8 50.350.3

2020 2021

9,368
9,004

2022

8,643

(Fiscal Year)

Changes in numbers of 
ATMs and transactions

ATMs installed in SEI stores (units)
ATMs installed in non-SEI stores (units)
Daily average ATM transactions
(transactions per day per ATM)

67.467.4
82.882.8

56.956.9

2020 2021

730

2,551

2022

5,557

(Fiscal Year)

Changes in numbers of 
ATMs and transactions

Number of ATMs installed (units)
Daily average ATM transactions
(transactions per day per ATM)

66.666.6

30.830.8

131.6131.6

2020 2021

131

1,249

2022

2,324

(Fiscal Year)

Changes in numbers of
ATMs and transactions

Number of ATMs installed (units)
Daily average ATM transactions
(transactions per 
day per ATM)

United States

Philippines

Indonesia Number of ATMs

8,643
Number of ATMs

5,557

Number of ATMs

2,324

US total: 8,643 
ATMs

Note: As of December 31, 2022.

Fewer than 100 ATMs

100 or more but fewer 
than 500 ATMs
500 or more but fewer 
than 1,000 ATMs

1,000 or more ATMs

Overseas, we are expanding our ATM 
business while taking on the challenge 
of developing novel financial services

Overseas Business

Establish ATM business overseas capitalizing on the know-
how amassed in Japan

Note: Numbers of ATMs are as of December 31, 2022.
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Creating innovation

Toward achieving our Purpose, we Toward achieving our Purpose, we 
have executed new business plans have executed new business plans 
one after another leveraging our one after another leveraging our 
internal and external networks.internal and external networks.
We aim to create further innovationWe aim to create further innovation

Kenjiro Nishii
Executive Officer in charge of Financial Strategy Promotion Division

Seven Bank’s Growth Strategy

To materialize its Purpose, Seven Bank takes various approaches to create innovation leveraging its 
internal and external networks in product and service development as well as in human resource 
development. To create new pillars of business, we constantly search for new ways of utilizing our 
management resources and new synergies, collaborating also with other companies. We not only 
propose plans for new business projects, but focus always on carrying them through to the execution 
stage. We have been working also to develop human resources capable of creating new businesses 
and to change our corporate culture.

Launched a first-of-the-kind service in Japan using the Mynaportal API

Sponsoring a program for new business creation

Seven Bank has regularly held the Accelerator Program since 2016. Through collaborating with a total of more than 
200 participating companies including startups, it has co-created and launched unique services outside of the typical 
notions about ATMs and finance. In the sixth “New Business Creation Program (Accelerator) 2023” which was themed 
on “Providing social infrastructure to meet broad needs going beyond the wishes of our customers,” two companies’ 
collaboration plans were selected from among 25 candidates.Launched a new service allowing customers to manage their assets just like shopping

The “Shopping Investment Korekabu” service launched in November 2022 was developed and is operated jointly with 
Finatext Group, with which we came in contact in working for open innovation. The “Shopping Investment Korekabu” 
service was developed by combining the Seven Bank’s DNA in general distribution with the Finatext Group’s expertise 
in the securities sector, through repeated refinements by the two companies. Using the securities business platform 
provided by Finatext Group also enabled us to launch the securities brokerage service in a short period of time. We will 
continue to create services through open innovation to solve our customers inconvenience about money.

FOCUS 01

Through this program, we found rough gemstones that could be polished 

into services going beyond the wishes of our customers by combining our 

assets with those of companies from broad fields and sectors. We will 

continue to speedily bring the ideas born through open innovation to social 

implementation one after another.

Secretariat 
members
Program for new business 
creation

VOICE

We launched the “Mynaportal information sharing services” on 
our ATMs utilizing the Mynaportal API managed by the Digital 
Agency in November 2022, and Aiful Corporation was the first 
to adopt the service among our partners.

Customers applying for a loan, for example, are usually 
requested by the financial institution to submit their income 
information required for screening by postal mail or via the 
Web, but the new service allows customers to submit their 
income information held by local governments to our partner 
companies basically anytime in 24 hours a day using more 
than 27,000 Seven Bank ATMs across the country.

Users can invest in stocks anytime easily and 
enjoyably on the app with barcode reading and 
mission rewards

Securities 
account

Purpose/Management strategy

Creating new Creating new 
businessesbusinesses

InvestmentOpen 
innovation

Cooperation with 
startups, etc.

Automatically withdrawn after sales  
(real-time transfer API)

Automatically deposited when buying 
(money transfer API)

Customers can open their securities 
accounts speedily

Service overview

Image of ATM screen

Final selection meeting

TAKE AND GIVE. NEEDS Co., Ltd.

Awardees

AGE technologies, inc.

Customers

Company

CustomerCustomer
informationinformation

Mynaportal

AdministrativeAdministrative
agencies, etc.agencies, etc.

Procedures at ATM

Customer information (income information) is submitted
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Transformation into an IT-driven company

FOCUS 02

Building a stronger product development organization to combine our strengths in business and IT development

Building a system platform serving as the foundation of 24-hour operation, 365 days a year

Seven Bank has been shifting its systems to the cloud, and migrated most of its core systems to the cloud in 2021, 
anticipating the evolution of ATMs into a service platform and the expansion of its financial services. In cooperation 
with our business partners, we continue to duplicate our systems and operate them alternately from our sites in 
eastern Japan and western Japan. At the same time, we have also stepped-up measures for early recovery in the 
event of failure, which includes rapid fault isolation and enhancing the remote maintenance environment, to support 
the financial services available 24 hours a day, 365 days a year with increased safety and security.

Organizational promotion of the companywide use of the cloud

Effective use of the public cloud, a key tool for accelerating enterprise DX, involves addressing various challenges and 
risks. For this, we have established the Cloud Center of Excellence (CCoE) as an organization to promote the use of 
cloud services. We have established guidelines on the best practices for using cloud services and oversee the prog-
ress of utilization of cloud services from a higher perspective, working in cooperation with system developers and 
cloud service providers.

To boost the abilities of our IT function to create new businesses and services and to increase flexibility in systems 
development, we now emphasize “agile development” and “in-house development” in our product development 
organization. By collaborating with the operational department to combine our strengths in business and IT for quickly 
evolving the UI and UX of the My Seven Bank app and other applications, we aim to quickly respond to customer 
needs and provide greater value to customers. The scope of products to be covered will further expand in the future.

Seven Bank’s Growth Strategy

Purpose/Management strategy

IT strategy

System design Development of IT 
human resources

GovernanceR&D

Seven Bank’s system network

Integrated ATMs

Internet banking
system

Internet banking
system Zengin System

BOJ-NET

Cloud (Tokyo) On-premise (Tokyo)

Cloud (Osaka) On-premise (Osaka)

Partner financial
institutions’/operating
companies’ systems

Core banking system
(alternate operation in

Tokyo and Osaka)

Relay system

Relay system

Core banking system
(alternate operation in

Tokyo and Osaka)

Deposits, withdrawals, etc.

Our policy for future expansion of in-house production

Expand the scope of in-house development
Revamp development processes and build a team of 
members who continuously think on their own 
from business and IT aspects to develop 
products at a high speed

Start working first on the UIs closest to customers to gain experience.
Then expand channels to include ATMs and expand the scope to include back-office operations

ATM services

ATM UI design
Internet

bank
Smartphone

app

ATM functions, APIsAPI platform

ATM and service
development

Financial services

Architecture

Business logic

Connection/API

Workflow

UI/UX

Outsourcing In-house Business
creation

Combine

Progress of work by development teams for using the cloud
is reviewed from the users’ viewpoint and

higher perspectives

Share know-how on the use of the cloud across systems
Move away from individually optimized/siloed systems

After introducing
the cloud

Shared
Standardized
User-driven

In-house
development

Before introducing
the cloud

Design
components

Security

Operation/Management/
Monitoring

Individually
optimized

Siloed
Dependence on

contractors
Driven by systems

integrators

Show guidelines, pick
up examples that can be
applied to other cases

CCoE members
involved in projects

Build consensus

Outsourcing
contractor Y

System B

In-house
development team

System C

Outsourcing
contractor X

System A

CCoE

CCoE

Pursuing both stable system operation and Pursuing both stable system operation and 
an organization for flexible development,an organization for flexible development,
we aim to transform ourselves into an IT-we aim to transform ourselves into an IT-
driven company to create competitive driven company to create competitive 
advantage and earn greater trust from advantage and earn greater trust from 
customerscustomers

Taku Takizawa
Executive Officer in charge of Financial Solution Division

As an essential financial infrastructure, ATMs are expected to operate reliably 24 hours a day, 365 days a 
year, which is taken for granted. While DX accelerates in all realms of society, customers are having ever 
more sophisticated needs, and actions against diverse risks are required to be at an increasingly higher 
level. Under these circumstances, we have redefined the roles of our IT department to transform our-
selves into an IT-driven company. In addition to ensuring stable operation of a high-quality system plat-
form as the foundation of safety and security, we are now working to migrate our systems to the cloud 
as well as to bring more product development functions in-house, to achieve a system development 
organization combining speed and flexibility. We also focus on developing human resources to be the 
foundation for the transformation as well as on developing advanced technologies.

As a leader of CCoE, I have propelled the use of the public cloud.
We are developing unique and new services combining the latest public cloud 
technologies. The CCoE members will continue to work together as one team 
to contribute to the achievement of Seven Bank’s DX.

Yoshiaki Tokuda
Financial Solution Division

VOICE
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Promoting corporate transformation through DX Creating an environment and developing human resources for the utilization of AI and data

Seven Bank established the Data 
Management Office (DMO) in 
April 2022 to create an environ-
ment to help all employees 
across all departments proactive-
ly utilize data to increase work 
efficiency and sophisticate their 
work. Its roles include the collec-
tion and maintenance of internal 
data, strengthening governance, 
and community management. 
We have also conducted a 
training program by internal data 
scientists on data utilization since 
July 2021, which has been joined 
by a total of 129 employees from 
all departments by the end of 
FY2022.

In order to flexibly and quickly turn 
the trial-and-error cycle of hypoth-
esis, analysis, modeling and 
verification required for utilizing AI, 
and to accumulate knowledge 
and know-how internally, Seven 
Bank relies on internal data scien-
tists to develop and utilize AI tools 
in-house. This has enabled us to 
use AI for applications producing 
business results, such as predict-
ing daily deposits and withdrawals 
at each ATM and automatically 
tabulating and sorting call center 
inquiries.

Utilizing AI and data for business
SEVENBANK Academia is a company-wide program that promotes awareness change and behavioral modification in 
all employees through various activities for the achievement of our Purpose. In FY2022, we held a total of 10 sessions 
of executive talks with the cooperation of NewsPicks for Business, Inc. We also held “Cross-border Learning Semi-
nars” inviting external experts, which are training sessions to help employees work continuously on new businesses 
creation and business reform in a sustained manner.

SEVENBANK Academia: an internal program to promote awareness change and behavioral modification

Seven Bank’s Growth Strategy

FOCUS 03

We encourage awareness change and We encourage awareness change and 
behavior modification in employees to behavior modification in employees to 
drive corporate transformation through drive corporate transformation through 
both “defensive DX” and “offensive DX”both “defensive DX” and “offensive DX”

Tomoaki Nakayama
Executive Officer in charge of Seven Labo and Corporate Transformation Division

To maximize the power of digital technologies and drive forward DX, it is essential not only to build the 
environment such as the IT infrastructure, but also to develop human resources to handle them. Seven 
Bank strongly propels both “defensive DX” – to improve productivity by building and improving internal 
IT infrastructure — and “offensive DX” – to foster capabilities to create new businesses by encouraging 
culture change to create new values. To this end, we are encouraging awareness change and behavioral 
modification among our employees while working vigorously to develop data scientists.

Business creation Business reform

Offensive DX Defensive DX

Purpose/Management strategy

F
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Future Vision Seminar
Yuya Nishimura, Executive Director, Specified  

Nonprofit Corporation MIRATUKU

Career Design Seminar
Takashi Yokoishi, Chief Executive Officer,  

&Co., Ltd.

Businesses Creation Seminar
Kazutaka Inoue, Unit Manager, Sun* Inc.

Goal To develop the ability to identify future issues 
to work on

To learn tips for autonomous career  
development

To discover our assets and gain insights to 
create future innovations

Description

  Draw up questions to the world, individual 
interviews with experts, read related articles, 
draw up product proposals looking ahead 
to the future etc.

  Themed discussions with experts
  “My favorites” mapping, helium hoop for 
team building, “20-people rescue”

  Create, polish up and pitch in ideas for 
business using a framework for business 
design “VALUE DESIGN SYNTAX”

Job class communities Exclusive content Snack bar “Seven”

To strengthen internal networks and to 
provide opportunities that encourage peer 
learning and action

Executive talk Cross-border Learning Seminar

Communicate management com-
mitment to corporate transformation 
through talks with the executives of 
other companies

Programs that integrate input and 
output to help employees work on new 
business creation and business reform 
in practice

Employees receive 
messages from 
the top manage-
ment that foster a 
challenger mindset for change

To build new networks 
with companies out-
side the Group and 
strengthen internal 
communication

SEVENBANK Academia: Fostering a challenger mindset with external stimuli

Overview of training programs to develop human resources for data utilization

AI/BI
  Understanding internal 
data

 Basics of Power BI

[Basic study]
 Basics of AI
  GUI-based data pro-
cessing

  Build AI with an AutoML 
tool

  Individual support 
through a virtual data 
lab

Community SEVEN Bank Data Salon

Beginner’s level

Courses on internal data 
utilization

AutoML practical  
courses

Citizen data scientist 
courses

AdvancedIntermediate

Phase 1
  Work with DMO under 
DMO’s leadership

Phase 3
  Self-propelled/  
CustomizationPhase 2

 Accompanied by DMO

Create guidelines; DMO and 
PTs work together

Rollout in each division 
with DMO

Activities embedded in 
each division

Create first 
version of 
guidelines

While executing, 
brush up to further 
increase effective-

ness

Observations 
fed back into 

guidelines

DMO supports busi-
ness divisions as an 

escort runner

Administer information

Define data requirements

Current phase

Introductory 
period

Embedding 
period

Steps Taken by the DMO for embedding Data Utilization

Category Issue

ATM

Finding candidate installation locations (in/outside 
Japan)

Predicting amounts of deposits and withdrawals (in/
outside Japan)

Credit Using nanaco data as credit information

Marketing
Detecting unplanned purchase with a transaction on 
ATM

Detecting signs of need for a loan

Customer service Automatically tabulating customer inquiries

Management Visualizing business figures

Examples of issues

Data analysis steps
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Seven Bank’s 
Management 
Foundation
Seven Bank engages in its business activities 

centering on the environment, society and 

corporate governance (ESG) and firmly builds the 

management foundation that supports its growth 

over the medium to long term

MANAGEMENT BASE

Human Resource Strategies That Support the Second Stage of Growth

We strongly invest in employees’ 

growth because we believe it is 

“people” who create new values

Recruitment
Hire such people who meet 
our requirements for human 
resources

Active elderly
Organize systems and opera-
tions to help elderly people work 
actively

Development
Develop character and human 
relationships; provide opportuni-
ties for autonomous learning

Management Carry out management reform

Evaluate
A system design and implementation 
with convincingness to help employees 
have the sense of personal growth

Assign/ 
Transfer

Put the right people in the right positions 
and create opportunities for challenge
Support autonomous career development

Climate/ 
Culture

Independence and autonomy, 
achieving the Purpose
Engagement increased

Reward
Pay for Performance (compensation 
system that rewards performance 
in relation to expected roles)

Autonomous growth  
of employees

Continuous support  
to growth

Continue to think and evolve on 
their own toward the future they 

want to achieve

Create an environment that helps 
employees to maximize their 

potentials and grow

Think always from the customer’s viewpoint Broaden the perspectives/view from many angles

Take on new challenges with free thinking, unafraid of change Open the door to anyone with passion

Design the future by themselves and collaborate Turn diversity into power

Co-growth of individual employees and 
the company to achieve our Purpose

Contribute to society through our business by supporting individual employees’ autonomous growth and providing the arenas for their success

Sharing the Purpose
Mutual trust

Sustainable value 
creation

 HR management cycle

 Optimizing human resources and environment for sustainable individual and corporate growth

Message from the Officer in charge  
of Human Resources Division

To create “a better version of daily life” that is set as 
our Purpose, it is essential that every employee 
continue to think on their own, take on challenges 
and use ingenuity in the pursuit of the ideals we aim 
for. Our human resource strategy is based on sup-
porting the autonomous growth of our employees 
and creating a place where they can maximize their 
abilities, to enable them to think always from custom-
ers’ viewpoints, challenge themselves with free 
thinking, and envision their own future.

We also believe that it is an important role of a 
company to provide an environment where diverse 
human resources can work successfully and grow in 
diverse ways. Creating opportunities for everyone to 
work successfully regardless of gender, age, nationali-
ty, or disability, and supporting the growth of the 
abilities of all individuals will also lead to our sustained 
growth. To further broaden opportunities for women 
to play leading roles, we also focus on creating a 
working environment that helps them to continue to 
work while raising children or caring for family mem-
bers.

We will continue to invest strongly in the growth of 
our employees, because we believe it is “people” who 
create new values. Individual employees and the 
company both can grow together to create sustain-
able values. We aim to achieve our Purpose by doing 
so.

Kazutaka Inagaki
Managing Executive Officer in charge of General Affairs Division and 
Human Resources Division
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Major initiatives and engagement Purpose Award

Town hall meetings

Internal internship program in Indonesia and the Philippines

Employee “engagement” is a barometer of employees’ trust 
and attachment to the company, which is drawing attention 
as an indicator related to customer satisfaction, productivity, 
and sales. To increase employee engagement, empathy with 
the company’s philosophy and vision and a mindset of 
contributing to the company’s growth in employees are 
highly relevant. Based on the idea that individual employees 
understanding our Purpose, relating it to their own work and 
trying to materialize it in their work will lead to the sustainable 
growth of the company, Seven Bank carries forward various 
initiatives under six frameworks.

The first Purpose Award program was held with the aim of “sharing real-life examples of efforts to achieve our Purpose 
across the group to help all employees apply the learning to their work,” with a total of 47 entries from all departments 
and four subsidiaries. Representatives from the 11 projects selected through the first screening by board member 
votes gave presentations at the final selection meeting. The event was live-streamed to all Seven Bank departments, 
and the “Social Media Activities” project of the ATM Operations Management Division won the Gold Award with 70 of 
the 424 online votes cast. In the winning project, the ATM Operations Management Division proactively approached 
customers through social media to uncover their latent needs and problems, and used the inputs for improving the 
functions of ATMs. The division was recognized for these efforts.

As Seven Bank President Masaaki Matsuhashi eagerly wished to have a 
place to communicate with each employee, town hall meetings were held 
where Matsuhashi interacted directly with all departments and employees. 
The meetings generated mutual 
understanding, empathy, and 
resonance among the President 
and employees about their respec-
tive thoughts, as well as deepened 
their understanding of our Pur-
pose.

In February 2023, two Seven Bank employees selected through an internal recruitment 
process joined a two-week internal internship program at our overseas subsidiaries (in 
Indonesia and the Philippines). Through the program, participants were expected to 
understand the business of overseas subsidiaries and experience local operations. At 
each overseas subsidiary, after briefing by the subsidiary president on its operations, the 
participants visited local ATM sites to survey on-site how ATMs are used. They also 
interacted directly with members of the overseas subsidiaries.

It was a valuable experience of “seeing is believing” for me, to get in touch 
first-hand with the local economy and the energy of the employees in the 
two countries. The program added new perspectives to me, which I will 
leverage in my future work.

Participating in the internal internship program gave me a firsthand feel of 
overseas business, which I had thought to be something far away. I learned 
the importance of firsthand experience and now intend to use the learning 
in my work at Seven Bank.

*1 An arrangement to allow employees to allocate 10% of their performance evaluation score to goals related to their voluntary innovation activities
*2 A system intended to build mutual trust and stimulate communication by encouraging employees to give each other “thanks” and “praises.”
*3 A system of work plans to allow employees to continue to work while raising children or caring for family members.
*4 The number of employees who took childcare leave or nursing care leave in fiscal 2022 including contract workers
*5 Occupational accident frequency rate = (Number of occupational accidents occurred/Cumulative work hours) × 1,000,000
*6 Occupational accident severity rate = (Lost work days due to an accident/Cumulative work hours) × 1,000
*7  Ratio of female mangers is calculated based on management positions (Senior Officer, Officer, Assistant Officer), excluding those seconded from the Bank to external 

companies.
*8 Ratio of employment of persons with disabilities as of April 1, 2023

*In FY2022 or as of March 31, 2023 unless otherwise noted.

Hikari Kan
ATM Platform Promotion 
Division

Kenji Sasaki
ATM+ Planning Division

VOICE

Engagement scores

Initiatives Output

  Strengthening new-graduate and mid-career 
recruitment
  Conducting trainings (IT trainings/job-class specific 
trainings/communication trainings/evaluator 
trainings)
  Internal seminars
  Internal recruitment and internal internship programs
  Introducing a talent management tool
  Corporate human resource portfolio and skill assess-
ments
 Introducing EX10*1

  New graduate hires: 15. Mid-career hires: 61. (Mid-career hires 
account for 61%)
  Promotion to regular employees: 3 persons
  Training cost per employee: about 100,000 yen
  Held “Purpose Award” and “Thanks Letter” commendation programs  
Pickup!

  Two employees participated in an internal internship program with the 
Global Business Development Division Pickup!

  Holding town hall meetings with the President
  Holding cross-department coffee time events
  Introducing a thanks letter tool*2

  Holding internal webinars, publishing an in-house 
newsletter
  Reviewing the dress code

  More than 500 employees joined a total of 60 town hall meetings 
Pickup!

 Held 10 coffee time events
 Total number of thanks letters: 2,782

  “Re-challenge Plan”*3

  Developing systems and operations based on no age 
limit for working
  Introducing an employee stock ownership plan for 
managerial-level employees
  Introducing a management-by-objectives system 
and a bonus system for rehired retired employees

 Employee service years: 7.6 years
 Ratio of paid leave taken by employees: 83.8%
  Number of employees who took childcare leave*4: 24 (6 men and 18 
women). Returned to work: 100%

 Number of employees who took a leave for nursing care*4: 1
  Number of employees who used the shorter work-hour system due to 
childcare or nursing care: 21

 Continuing with measures against COVID-19
 Mental health care training for managers
 Operating a health counseling room
  Conducting health programs in cooperation with the 
Seven & i Group

 Occupational accident frequency rate*5: 0.77
 Occupational accident severity rate*6: 0.01
 Average employee overtime per month: 24.1 hours

  Strengthening cooperation with special education 
schools
  Employee taking part in a training program for 
female executive candidates
 Holding D&I seminars

  Ratio of female managers*7: 18.4% (target: 30% at the end of FY2025)
 Ratio of mid-career employees: 83.1%
 Percentage of employees with disabilities*8: 2.32%

 In-house training for harassment prevention
 Compliance Consultation System

 Number of contacts received at the Help Line for employees: 14
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Seven Bank’s Management Foundation
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Human resources 
development

1

Workstyles
2

System
3

Health and 
welfare

4

Diversity and 
inclusion

5

Risk management
6

The words that impressed participants extracted 
from after-meeting questionnaires

Town hall meeting

Presentation on the Social Media Activities project The award ceremony

Human Resource Strategies That Support the Second Stage of Growth
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Seven Bank’s Management Foundation

Responses to Environmental Issues

Endorsement of TCFD recommendations

Global warming severely affects the sustainability of companies. In addition, the risks of climate change could become 
a grave threat to future generations. Recognizing the issue of climate changes that would have significant impacts on 
corporate activities as one of its management material issues, the Seven Bank Group expressed an endorsement of 
Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) in December 2021. According to TCFD recommendations, 
we will strive to enhance information disclosure to stakeholders with regard to impacts of climate change-related risks 
and opportunities on the company’s business activities and revenues, etc., and take specific measures for them.

We have comprehensively identified the risks and opportunities that climate change may present to our business and 
qualitatively analyzed their potential financial impact. Of these, those identified as having particular impact on our 
business activities are listed below.

The Seven Bank Group has established a Sustainability Committee 
to discuss important matters concerning the promotion of sustain-
ability including climate issues. The Sustainability Committee 
discusses the progress of efforts to resolve social and environmen-
tal issues and our future policies. It monitors the progress of activi-
ties in addressing climate change throughout the Group and 
reviews the Group’s policies and activities as appropriate. Matters 
of particular importance are reported to the Executive Committee 
and the Board of Directors, and the feedback received from the 
executives at these meetings are input to the Group’s sustainability 
initiatives.

With regard to risks from climate change, we check the overall 
status of risks based on the “Basic Policy on Risk Control,” under 
the risk management organization and system in accordance with 
our rules and regulations on risk management. As our risk man-
agement system, we have established the Risk Management Com-
mittee chaired by the officer in charge of the Risk Management 
Division as an advisory body to the Executive Committee, which 
works in cooperation with the Sustainability Committee and grasps 
the status of risks through regular monitoring.

To measure the impact of climate change risks and opportunities on our core ATM platform business, we conducted a 
scenario analysis for the year 2030, based on our information as of the end of March 2022.

Assumed climate-related risks/opportunities and our strategy

 Governance

 Strategy

Steps for scenario analysis

Projected temperature increase by scenario

[Transition risk] Risk associated with the transition to a decarbonized society

Definitions concerning transition risks and physical risks

Reference scenarios

Board of Directors

Executive Committee

Item Type Description Projected 
timeframe

Estimated 
financial 
impact Seven Bank’s major initiatives

1.5°C

Regulations 
on resource 

recycling

Risk

  Regulations on the distribution and use of fossil fuel-de-
rived plastics used in ATMs will require shift to alternative 
materials such as bioplastics. Shift to recyclable materials 
and structures will be required to increase costs for 
adaptation

Medium 
to long 
term

Medium   Achieved an ATM recycling rate of 
about 100% by collecting the ATM 
parts removed from replaced 
fourth-generation ATMs and reusing 
or recycling them.

Opportunity
  Financial institutions will gradually switch to recyclable 
ATMs. As a result, demand for our ATMs will increase for 
replacements.

Medium

Regulations 
on paper 

use

Risk
  If the use and distribution of paper by industrial users are 
regulated for forest protection, ATM paper slips may need 
to be eliminated, incurring costs for response. Medium 

to long 
term

Small   Eliminated ATM slips for PIN errors 
and insufficient balance cases

  Reduced paper use by shifting to 
paperless notification proceduresOpportunity

  If financial institutions are required to reduce or eliminate 
paper bankbooks, demand for our ATMs will increase for 
replacements.

Small

Change in 
raw material 

costs
Risk

  Increase in the prices of fossil fuel-derived plastics used in 
ATMs due to higher crude oil prices can increase manufac-
turing costs

Medium 
to long 
term

Medium
  Exploring new materials and working for 
research and development of recycled 
materials in collaboration with academia

Change in 
demand for 

key 
products

Opportunity

  Financial institutions will switch to more energy-efficient 
ATMs to reduce energy use. As a result, with the environ-
mental advantages of our ATMs, our sales opportunities 
can increase with increase in the number of partner 
financial institutions.

Medium 
to long 
term

Medium

  The newest ATM model consumes 
40% less power than conventional 
ATM models. Replacing ATMs all over 
Japan with the newest model ATMs.

Change in 
energy 
costs

Risk

  Increased demand for renewable energy can bring up elec-
tricity prices and increase operating costs for offices and 
data centers

  Higher gasoline prices will increase costs such as cash 
transportation costs

Medium 
to long 
term

Small   Reducing electricity use based on 
“GREEN CHALLENGE 2050”

  Reducing the frequency of ATM cash 
transportation through more efficient 
ATM operationIntroduction 

of carbon 
tax

Risk
  A carbon tax will be imposed on our Scope 1 and Scope 2 
emissions, increasing operating costs

Medium 
to long 
term

Small

[Physical risk] Physical risks induced by climate change

Item Type Description Projected 
timeframe

Estimated 
financial 
impact Seven Bank’s major initiatives

4°C 1.5°C

Intensifica-
tion of 

extreme 
weather 
events

Risk

  ATMs and other equipment may be damaged or swept 
away and cash transportation networks may be disrupted, 
resulting in reduced revenues due to shutdowns, claims for 
damages from partner banks, and restoration costs
  Employees are unable to come to work, which impedes 
operations and reduces revenues.

  The number of ATM transactions decrease as people go 
out less, resulting in lower income

Short to 
long 
term

Large Medium

  Established an arrangement to ensure 
business continuity by having system 
bases in eastern and western Japan.

  To minimize damage, we will 
cooperate with the store manage-
ment teams in the disaster area in 
advance and utilize the store 
information sharing system “7VIEW” 
to grasp the situation in real time and 
take early action.

  We have established a Business 
Continuity Plan (BCP) and regularly 
conduct practical drills
  Install flood barrier plates to prevent 
flooding into stores on the initiative of 
Seven-Eleven Japan

Opportunity

  Partner banks will install more of our ATMs to hedge 
climate change risks, which will increase our income 
opportunities

  Demand for mobile ATM vehicle dispatch services as 
disaster response measures will increase

  Increased need for cash in the event of a disaster will 
increase the number of transactions

Medium Small

Rise in 
average 
tempera-

ture

Risk   Air-conditioning costs for offices and data centers will increase
Short to 

long 
term

Medium Small
  Promoting casual office attire and 
reducing power consumption by 
heating and cooling equipmentOpportunity

  Rising temperatures will increase the number of customers 
visiting convenience stores and increase opportunities to 
use ATMs

Medium Small

Timeframe Definition

Short term 0 - 1 year

Medium term 1 - 5 years

Long term 5 - 30 years

Financial impact Definition

Large Expected to have a significant impact on our business and finances

Medium Expected to have a less significant impact on our business and finances

Small Expected to have a minor impact on our business and finances

Items The 2 degree limit 
scenario

The 4 degree 
scenario

Reference 
scenarios

(2 degree scenario) 
IEA Sustainable 
Development Scenario

IPCC RCP2.6

(1.5 degree scenario) 
IEA Net Zero Emissions 
by 2050

(4 degree scenario) 
IEA Stated Policies 
Scenario

IPCC RCP8.5

Worldview

The scenario assumes 
an average temperature 
increase of less than 
1.5°C above the 
pre-industrial level by 
2100.
Policies, laws, and 
regulations will be more 
stringent than now to 
achieve carbon neutrality 
to control problems from 
climate change.

The scenario assumes 
an average temperature 
increase of 3.2°C to 
5.4°C (about 4°C) above 
the pre-industrial level by 
2100.
No proactive policies, 
laws, or regulations are 
put in place to mitigate 
problems from climate 
change, while extreme 
weather events intensify 
remarkably.

*Not applicable to the 4 degree scenario which does not assume transition to a decarbonized society

*Source: Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC)
(Year)

Assess materiality 
for risks

Identification
Identify climate 
change risks and 
opportunities that 
can impact our 
business

If we continue to emit 
greenhouse gases, 
temperatures are likely to 
rise 2.6 to 4.8°C by the 
end of the 21st century

If we strictly control 
greenhouse gas emissions, 
temperatures are likely to 
rise 0.3 to 1.7°C by the end 
of the 21st century

Define scenarios

Assumption
Study scenario 
assumptions and 
analysis methods 
and investigate 
projected values

Assess business 
impact

Calculation
Calculate business 
impacts and find 
out the gap from 
the “business- 
as-usual”

Define response 
measures

Countermeasures
Consider our 
response and 
approach to 
identified risks and 
opportunities

Identifies risks
Reports on counter-

measures/effects

Grasps the status of 
risks

Monitoring

Risk Management Committee

Holds discussions on the status, 
evaluations and responses concerning 
risk management for:
Overall risks (including effects arising from 
climate change), credit risks, market 
risks, operational risks (administrative 
risks, system risks, etc.)

Sustainability Committee

Discusses important matters concerning 
the promotion of sustainability including 
issues concerning climate change, and 
conducts evaluations on efforts to solve 
social issues and environmental issues
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Seven Bank’s Management Foundation

Responses to Environmental Issues

 Fourth-generation ATMs with smaller energy consumption

 Reducing ATM slip waste

 Visit to an ATM recycling partner site

 Environmental conservation activities by employees

 Risk management

 Metrics and Targets

The decarbonation scenario
Additional costs due to the introduction of a carbon tax for transition to a decarbonized society and projected increase 
in electricity purchase prices

The global warming scenario
Our scenario analysis estimates that the damage to ATMs installed by us due to intensified severe extreme weather 
events and the associated impact will cause the greatest impact.

In light of the potential impact of climate change risks on our business activities and finances, the Seven Bank Group has 
been taking various actions. Our efforts to reduce CO2 emissions related to our core ATM business include developing 
the fourth-generation ATM model which consumes 40% less power to realize a decarbonized society, reusing and recy-
cling ATMs removed from and collected from stores, and reviewing specifications for printing ATM slips (see “Environ-
mentally-friendly ATMs” on the next page).

To cope with the increasing risk of natural disasters, we have established a structure to ensure business continuity by 
decentralizing our relay system, and equipped ATMs with an uninterruptible power supply (UPS) to prepare for power 
outages due to disasters. In the unlikely event of a large-scale disaster that disables ATM operations over a wide area, we 
will dispatch mobile ATM vehicles to help the affected communities through the provision of settlement infrastructure.

Climate change risks are incorporated into the company-wide risk management system as part of the process of 
identifying and managing climate-related risks, as the section on the overall risk management policy in the “Basic 
Policy on Risk Control” requires the Bank to practice agile risk management by responding immediately to changes in 
the external and internal environment based on risk assessment results and monitoring.

In order to hand down the rich global environment to future generations, 
Seven & i Group is working to achieve the target of “substantially no CO2 
emission associated with store operation” set in its environmental decla-
ration “GREEN CHALLENGE 2050.” As a member of the Seven & i 
Group, the Seven Bank Group is making strong efforts to reduce environ-
mental loads.

The graph on the right shows Scope 2 CO2 emissions (indirect emis-
sions from use of electricity, heat, etc. supplied by other companies) from 
Seven Bank. In FY2022, the introduction of renewable energy at the head 
office contributed to the reduction of our CO2 emissions from electricity 
use.

For FY2022, we also calculated CO2 emissions from the use of steam, 
chilled water, and hot water. We are striving to publish appropriate indica-
tors by upgrading our system for quantifying our CO2 emissions.

Assumptions Calculation Calculation result
(in millions of yen/year)

Financial impact on Seven Bank with a tax imposed 
on GHG emissions (Scopes 1 and 2) generated by 
its business activities in the scenario assuming a 
maximum of 2°C increase by 2030

Calculated based on our GHG emissions and future carbon 
pricing rate
* Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions in 2030 equivalent to the levels in 
FY2022 are assumed.

* The carbon pricing rate is referenced to “Net Zero Emissions by 
2050,” World Energy Outlook 2022, IEA.

15.4

Assumptions Calculation Calculation result
(in millions of yen/year)

In both the 4-degree scenario and the 2-degree 
scenario, as of 2030, physical damage from floods 
and storm surges increases due to intensified severe 
extreme weather events.
We have a large number of ATMs nationwide and 
expect to have a significant financial impact from the 
increasing frequency of floods and storm surges.

The following items are estimated based on the Manual for 
Economic Evaluation of Flood Control Investment (Ministry of 
Land, Infrastructure, Transport and Tourism) and other references.
 Damage to ATM asset due to flooding
 Recovery cost
 Losses due to shutdown

* Damage prediction data, such as estimated flood depth, is identified for 
each ATM location from hazard maps.

805 to 1,408
* Annual average damage (single 
year) is calculated by multiply-
ing the estimated damage in 
the event of a flooding or storm 
surge by the annual exceed-
ance probability.

Scope: Four dedicated offices of the Bank and 
three directly-managed Seven Bank ATM locations

* CO2 emissions from the use of steam, chilled 
water, and hot water

CO2 emissions from electricity use in 
our business activities

CO2 emissions from 
ATMs

Number of ATMs 
installed

(t-CO2)

Environmentally-friendly ATMs

Environmental conservation activities for learning about environmental issues

Since the initial stage of development, the fourth-generation ATM model released in 2019 aimed to not only improve 
features and performance but also to contribute even better to society and the environment so as to meet broader 
customers’ and social needs. To reduce energy consumption compared to the older models, and to realize the ATM of 
the future incorporating sophisticated components to enable such functions as facial recognition and Individual Number 
Card reading — to achieve these two goals, the development team revised circuit designs in the ATM and selected 
low-power-consumption parts wherever possible, collaborating with business partners. This reduced power consumption 
by 40% in the fourth-generation ATM model.

As part of our efforts to reduce ATM slips, in addition to providing buttons to allow customers to choose whether to 
print a slip upon each transaction, we have eliminated slips which were automatically printed in the event of a PIN error 
or an insufficient account balance since FY2021. This has resulted in an annual reduction of around 20 million slips 
compared to the figure before the elimination of slips for PIN errors and insufficient balances (FY2020). In addition, the 
number of vehicle dispatches due to slip paper shortage has been reduced by about 50% compared to FY2020, 
reducing CO2 emissions.

ATMs that are removed for replacement with the new fourth-generation ATMs and are collected 
and recycled by our business partners. Through what processes do our products become 
waste, and are recycled into resources? What kind of work is being done at recycling sites to 
realize a sustainable, circular society? With the cooperation of one of our business partners, 
members including primarily the management team spent half a day at a recycling site and 
pondered upon what we as individuals and a company could do to help realize a circular society.

In cooperation with the Seven-Eleven Memorial Foundation, Seven Bank employees are working 
on environmental conservation activities. At the “Takaonomori Nature School” in Hachioji City, 
Tokyo, employees learned about biodiversity and engaged in forest conservation activities such 
as forest maintenance. At the “Seven Forest Shiga” in Shiga Prefecture, employees cleaned up 
the shores of Lake Biwa and learned about the life in Lake Biwa. These activities help raise the 
environmental awareness of every employee.

Fourth-
generation 

ATM
Third-

generation 
ATM

Second-
generation 

ATM Additional

48% 

Reduction  
in energy 

consumption

40% 

Reduction 
in energy 

consumption

 Longer service life of ATMs and 3R

For ATMs, we have proactively introduced recycled materials and adopted an easy-to-
maintain structure, etc. from a design phase. In the event of defects, we perform parts 
replacement and maintenance and make other efforts to extend its life. Once removed 
and collected, every part of an ATM is reused or recycled as resources. Thus, we achieve 
a recycling rate of around 100% for ATMs.

3R

Recycle

R
eu

se

R
educe

Benefits of reducing ATM slips

Reduces 
paper use

Reduces the 
frequency of roll 
replacement

Reduces litter to 
improve customer 
experience

Reduces the 
number of 
vehicle dis-
patches due to 
ATM troubles

Slips left on the ATM can cause 
machine troubles

Mar. 31, 
2019

Mar. 31, 
2023

107%

Third-
generation 

ATM

Third-
generation 

ATM

Fourth-Fourth-
generation ATMgeneration ATM

Mar. 31, 
2019

Mar. 31, 
2023

86%

We analyzed financial impact on our business activities in multiple scenarios, which are one assuming a maximum 
increase of 2°C and the other assuming an increase of 4°C by 2030.

Calculation of potential financial impact from risk items

1 2 43
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Director

Tami Kihara
Outside Director (Independent Officer)

Audit & Supervisory Board Member

Hideaki Terashima
Outside Audit & Supervisory Board Member

(Independent Officer)

Director

Etsuhiro Takato
Outside Director (Independent Officer)

Audit & Supervisory Board Member

Chieko Ogawa
Outside Audit & Supervisory Board Member

(Independent Officer)

Director

Yukiko Kuroda
Outside Director (Independent Officer)

Director

Yuji Hirako
Outside Director (Independent Officer)

Director

Masaaki Matsuhashi
President and Representative Director

Director

Makoto Kigawa
Outside Director (Independent Officer)

Director

Yasuaki Funatake
Chairman and Representative Director

Director

Tsuyoshi Kobayashi
Director

Audit & Supervisory Board Member

Kazuhiko Ishiguro
Full-time Audit & Supervisory Board Member

Audit & Supervisory Board Member

Ryoji Sakai
Full-time Audit & Supervisory Board Member

Corporate Governance

Seven Bank’s Management Foundation

Management Members
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Seven Bank’s Management Foundation

 Board of Directors
The Bank’s Board of Directors consists of eight Directors, including five Independent Outside Directors. The Board of 
Directors meets, in principle, once a month to decide the Bank’s basic management policies and important operational 
issues and to supervise the execution of duties by Directors with executive authority over operations and Executive 
Officers.

 Nomination & Compensation Committee
As an advisory body to the Board of Directors, the Bank has established the Nomina-
tion & Compensation Committee, chaired by an Independent Outside Director in order 
to supplement the functions of the Board of Directors. The committee is delegated by 
the Board of Directors to recommend candidates for Director to be put on the agenda 
at a General Meeting of Shareholders, to recommend candidates for Executive Officer 
to be put on the agenda at a Board of Directors meeting, and to supervise a plan on 
successors to the position of Director, etc.

 Audit & Supervisory Board
The Bank’s Audit & Supervisory Board consists of four Audit & Supervisory Board Members, including two Indepen-
dent Outside Audit &Supervisory Board Members. The Audit & Supervisory Board meets, in principle, at least once a 
month to receive reports regarding important auditing-related issues and deliberate and make decisions thereof. The 
Audit & Supervisory Board convenes with Representative Directors, the Internal Audit Division and the Accounting 
Auditor on a regular basis to exchange opinions and make requests as necessary on issues to be addressed by the 
Bank, the status of improvements to the Audit & Supervisory Board Members’ auditing environment and important 
auditing-related issues.

 Executive Committee
In principle, the Executive Committee meets on a weekly basis to deliberate the execution of important operations, 
including business plans; acquisition and disposal of assets; credit provision-related issues; borrowing of money and 
payment of expenses; credit management issues; rewards and sanctions for employees; issues related to employees’ 
working conditions and benefits; the establishment, change and abolition of the organization; and the formation, 
revision and elimination of rules and regulations, in addition to conferring on issues to be deliberated at the Board of 
Directors meetings in advance. The Bank has adopted an executive officer system, and the Executive Committee 
comprises Executive Officers and others nominated by the Board of Directors.

(As of June 19, 2023)

As a bank that owns and operates an ATM network that manages deposits from a large number of customers and has 
a nature similar to that of public infrastructure, the Bank recognizes that ensuring disciplined corporate management is 
vital in responding to social trust and seeks to ensure effective corporate governance. This is achieved by maintaining 
and improving corporate governance and compliance systems to ensure transparent, fair and swift managerial deci-
sion making; clarifying the roles and responsibilities of executives and employees; strengthening management over-
sight functions; and ensuring equitable operations.

The Bank also adopts the organizational form of a Company with Audit & Supervisory Board. At the Board of Direc-
tors, the Bank ensures effective corporate governance through decision making by Directors with executive authority 
over operations who are well versed in the Bank’s operations and Outside Directors who have considerable experience 
and insight in their areas of expertise as well as through audits by the Audit & Supervisory Board Members.

Basic Views

Members of major organizations

Corporate Governance Structure

Number of meetings of Audit & Supervisory Board
Average attendance of Outside Audit & 

Supervisory Board Members

100.0% of 16 meetings
Fiscal 2022

Advisory body to the Board of Directors

Nomination & 
Compensation Committee

Organizational design

Company with Audit 
& Supervisory Board

Chairperson of the Nomination & 
Compensation Committee

Independent Outside 
Director

Proportion of female Officers

25% (3 of 12)

Number of meetings of the Board of Directors
Average attendance of Outside Directors

97.1% of 14 meetings
Fiscal 2022

Ensuring 
independence

Independent Outside Independent Outside 
DirectorsDirectors

Independent Outside Independent Outside 
Audit & Supervisory Audit & Supervisory 

Board MembersBoard Members

5/8
62.5%

2/4
50.0%

Nomination & Compensation 
Committee

  Chairperson
  Member
  Observer

Independence of Officers

Main Items and Descriptions

A
cco

unting
 A

ud
ito

r

General Meeting of Shareholders

Audit & Supervisory Board

Executive Committee

Operational
Implementation
Functions

Management
Oversight
Functions

Audit & Supervisory
Board Members’ Office

Representative Directors
Internal Audit

Division

Board of Directors

Appoint/Dismiss Directors

Establish

Audit

Establish

Elect/Supervise/Dismiss

Report

Appoint/Dismiss Audit &
Supervisory Board Members

Audit

Appoint/Dismiss
Support

Cooperate

DirectReport

Direct

Report

Cooperate

Each Division

PresidentChairman

Audit

Internal A
ud

it

Investment Committee

ALM Committee

Risk Management Committee

Security Committee

Compliance Committee

Sustainability Committee

Nomination &
Compensation Committee

 Sustainability promotion plan
 Revision of the Charter of Ethics
 Group engagement survey
  Establishment of a special committee on an  
acquisition project
 General framework to aim for toward FY2025
 Plan for FY2022

Major agendas

  Review of the first half of FY2022 and action plan for the 
second half

 Subsidiary investment/impairment loss
  Acquisition of a credit card company/small amount short 
term insurance provider
 Information sharing on investor responses etc.

Corporate Governance

Position Name Board of 
Directors

Nomination & 
Compensation 

Committee

Executive 
Committee

Chairman and 
Representative 
Director

Yasuaki Funatake

President and 
Representative 
Director

Masaaki Matsuhashi

Director Tsuyoshi Kobayashi

Outside Director Makoto Kigawa

Outside Director Yukiko Kuroda

Outside Director Etsuhiro Takato

Outside Director Yuji Hirako

Outside Director Tami Kihara

(Executive Officer) 13 other persons

Position Name
Audit & 

Supervisory 
Board

Board of 
Directors

Nomination & 
Compensation 

Committee

Executive 
Committee

Full-time Audit 
& Supervisory 
Board Member

Kazuhiko Ishiguro

Full-time Audit 
& Supervisory 
Board Member

Ryoji Sakai

Outside Audit 
& Supervisory 
Board Member

Hideaki Terashima

Outside Audit 
& Supervisory 
Board Member

Chieko Ogawa
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Seven Bank’s Management Foundation

Name Reasons for Appointment

Outside 
Directors

Makoto Kigawa
Mr. Makoto Kigawa’s experience and insight in corporate management at 
YAMATO HOLDINGS CO., LTD., etc., have genuinely contributed to the Bank’s 
management.

Yukiko Kuroda
Ms. Yukiko Kuroda’s experience as a corporate manager and insight related to 
developing human resources who can handle global business have genuinely 
contributed to the Bank’s management.

Etsuhiro Takato
Mr. Etsuhiro Takato’s experience and insight in corporate management, market-
ing, and global duties at Ajinomoto Co., Inc. have genuinely contributed to the 
Bank’s management.

Yuji Hirako  New 
appointment

The Bank can expect Mr. Yuji Hirako’s experience and insight in corporate 
management at ANA HOLDINGS INC., etc. to contribute to the Bank’s manage-
ment.

Tami Kihara  New 
appointment

The Bank can expect Ms. Tami Kihara’s experience and insight in corporate 
management at Ricoh IT Solutions Co., Ltd. and human resource strategy at 
Ricoh Company, Ltd. to contribute to the Bank’s management.

Outside Audit 
& Supervisory 
Board 
Members

Hideaki Terashima
Mr. Hideaki Terashima’s broad insight into corporate legal affairs, nurtured in his 
career as an attorney-at-law, has genuinely contributed to audits of the Bank’s 
management.

Chieko Ogawa  New 
appointment

The Bank can expect Ms. Chieko Ogawa’s international insight nurtured in her 
career as a Certified Public Accountant to contribute to audits of the Bank’s 
management.

Priority matters for FY2021 Details of initiatives in FY2022

Advance governance in the 
Seven Bank Group

Nominated candidates for newly appointed Directors to ensure diversity among the members of the 
Board of Directors.
Reconsidered the types of issues that should involve the Board of Directors based on the opinions of 
the Board of Directors.

Continue and enhance 
strategic discussion, etc.

Discussions on specific themes such as management plans, issues for our business management, 
and timely topics stimulated discussions at the Board of Directors Meetings.

Continue to make executive 
personnel explain opera-
tions

Invited newly appointed general managers and subsidiary presidents to brief the Board of Directors on 
their operations, with an intention to reduce information asymmetries thorough direct information from 
the managerial employees close to the front lines, as well as to provide opportunities for direct dia-
logue with future executive candidates.

Corporate Governance

For the sustainable growth and the improvement of corporate value, the Bank has positioned strengthening gover-
nance as a key management issue. In FY2022, amid the significant changes in environments surrounding companies, 
we put emphasis on further increasing effectiveness of the Board of Directors in order to carry out the growth strate-
gies toward the realization of the Purpose, and promote sustainability management centering on resolution of social 
issues. In FY2023, with new Outside Directors and a new Outside Audit & Supervisory Board Member added, we will 
enhance independence of the Board of Directors, and strive to make governance more effective with the Board of 
Directors composed of diverse members.

The Bank’s Independence Standards for Outside Officers are as follows:

Other matters concerning Independent Officers
The Bank registers all persons who fulfill the qualifications of Independent Officers, as well as the Independence 
Standards for Outside Officers, as Independent Officers.

The Seven Bank has conducted “evaluation of effectiveness of the Board of Directors” since FY2015. In FY2022, we 
increased the number of survey items significantly to identify a wider range of issues. An anonymous questionnaire 
survey was conducted for Directors and Audit & Supervisory Board Members about the operation of the Board of 
Directors, the composition of the Board of Directors, agendas of the Board of Directors and other items. The results 
were deliberated at the Board of Directors.

The Bank’s Board of Directors has been fulfilling both its decision-making and supervisory functions as all Directors 
share its roles and responsibilities and conduct deliberations from diverse perspectives through free and open discus-
sions based on the members’ respective knowledge and expertise. Thus, it was confirmed that the Board of Directors 
has been operating appropriately, thereby ensuring its effectiveness. Details of initiatives concerning the priority mat-
ters are as follows.

Initiatives to Strengthen Corporate Governance Independence Standards for Outside Officers

Support Systems/Training Policies for Outside Officers

Reasons for Appointment of Outside Officers

Evaluation of effectiveness of the Board of Directors

 Results of the evaluation for FY2022

 Priority matters for FY2023

1   Added a new Outside Director with expertise in IT to enhance the Officers’ skill matrix, and increased diversity 
among the members of the Board of Directors by increasing the proportion of female members.

2   Reconsidered the types of issues that should involve the Board of Directors based on the opinions of the Board 
of Directors

3   By holding “Officers Discussions” regularly as a place for strategic discussion, which discussed themes relevant 
to management as well as invited newly appointed general managers and subsidiary presidents to brief the 
Board of Directors on their operations, we strived to reduce information asymmetries thorough direct information 
from the managerial employees close to the front lines, while providing opportunities for direct dialogue with 
future executive candidates.

1   Is not a person with executive authority over operations of the Bank’s parent company or fellow subsidiary (or 
has been in such position in the past; hereinafter, the same applies to each item); 

2   Is not a person for which the Bank is a major business partner or a person with executive authority over such 
entity’s operations, or a major business partner of the Bank or a person with executive authority over such 
entity’s operations;

3   Is not a consultant, an accounting professional, a legal professional or a person belonging to an organization that 
receives a significant amount of monetary compensation from the Bank, other than officers’ compensation;

4   Is not a major shareholder of the Bank or a person with executive authority over operations of such shareholder; or
5   Is not a close relative of a person that falls under any of the above or a relative by blood or marriage within the 

second degree to a person with executive authority over operations of the Bank.

1   Provide necessary and sufficient internal systems for enabling Directors and Audit & Supervisory Board Members 
to fulfill their roles and responsibilities in an effective manner.

2   Provide Directors and Audit & Supervisory Board Members with necessary opportunities to enable them to fulfill 
their roles, such as by providing the information and knowledge relating to the business activities that would be 
necessary to supervise corporate management when they take office and continually thereafter.

3   Build systems for sharing a sufficient amount of the Bank’s internal information with Outside Directors and 
Outside Audit & Supervisory Board Members (hereinafter referred to as “Outside Officers”).

4   Encourage Outside Officers to deepen their understanding of the Bank’s management ethos and corporate 
culture, while providing information on the Bank’s business environment and other issues on a continuous basis.

5   Maintain and improve the environment for Outside Officers to mutually share information and exchange ideas, 
such as by holding periodic meetings with Executive Officers and/or other Non-Executive Officers.

6   Bear the expenses for Outside Officers to fulfill their roles.

1   Advance governance in the Seven Bank Group 
·  Set appropriate themes for discussion at the Board of Directors, further enrich discussions, increase diversity among 

Board members and executives
2   Enhance opportunities for exchange of views and interaction with executive personnel 

·  Provide opportunities for briefing on operations and information sharing by executive personnel, and organize 
opportunities for exchange of views and interaction with executive personnel

3   Activities for constructive dialogues with shareholders and investors 
·  Share the status of dialogues with shareholders and investors with the Board of Directors, and hold strategic discus-

sions in light of the voices of the capital market

Major initiatives
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*Calculated on the assumption that bonuses and performance-based stock compensation are based on a standard compensation amount.

Directors with executive authority over 
operations

Basic compensation
50%

Bonuses
25%*

Performance-based 
stock compensation

25%*

  Balance between fixed compensation 
and variable compensation

  Balance between cash remuneration 
and stock compensation

Non-executive Directors and Audit & 
Supervisory Board Members

Fixed compensation
100%

Fixed compensation 50%

Cash remuneration 75%

Variable compensation 50%

Stock compensation 25%

(a) Basic compensation Compensation aiming to encourage steady execution of duties commensurate with job rank

(b) Bonuses Short-term incentives aiming to steadily achieve performance targets (milestones) for each fiscal year for 
the medium-to long-term improvement of corporate value

(c)  Performance-based stock 
compensation

Medium-to long-term incentives for the medium-to long-term improvement of corporate value, aligning 
interests with shareholders

Seven Bank’s “Policy on Compensation of Officers and Compensation System for Officers” were, excluding compen-
sation for Audit & Supervisory Board Members, proposed to the Board of Directors by the Nomination & Compensa-
tion Committee, and determined with a resolution of the Board of Directors as follows:

Policy on Compensation of Officers and Compensation System for Officers

Corporate Governance

 Basic Policy on Compensation of Officers
The Bank decides compensation of officers based on the following points.

  Ensuring a compensation system to promote sustainable improvement of corporate value with emphasis placed on 
the link to business performance
  Ensuring compensation systems and compensation levels with their responsibilities to secure highly capable human 
resources who lead and take responsibility for, in an appropriate manner, the supervision and execution of operations
 Ensuring a compensation system based on an objective and transparent process, and that is fair and equitable

 Compensation Level
Excluding compensation for Audit & Supervisory Board Members, to provide a competitive compensation level and 
thereby secure highly capable human resources, the Bank’s compensation level for officers has been determined by a 
resolution of the Board of Directors based on the proposal made by the Nomination & Compensation Committee. The 
deliberation has been based on the analysis and comparison of data on the compensation levels of a group of compa-
nies of the same size and operating in the same industry as the Bank, which has been drawn from a larger body of 
objective data on compensation levels provided by an outside professional organization.

 Details and Method of Calculation of Variable Compensation
 Bonuses

Bonuses, which are provided as short-term incentives, will be determined by multiplying the standard amount of 
compensation for each job rank by performance-linked factors corresponding to the achievement of consolidated 
performance targets for the previous fiscal year.

 Performance-based stock compensation
Performance-based stock compensation, which is provided as a medium- to long-term incentive, is composed of a 
“fixed portion,” which grants fixed points for each job rank, and a “performance-based portion,” which grants a varying 
number of points determined by job rank and performance. For each portion, points are granted and accumulate 
every year of the term of office of the relevant officer, and a number of the Bank’s shares corresponding to the amount 
of accumulated points will be delivered to the officer upon retirement.

The number of points (i.e., the number of shares to be delivered) to be provided in the performance-based portion 
will be determined by multiplying the number of points for each rank by performance-linked factors according to the 
achievement level of consolidated performance targets.

In addition to the existing malus clause, the Bank will introduce a clawback clause that allows the Bank to require 
Directors to repay performance-based stock compensation in the event of falling under certain circumstances such as 
gross negligence or fraud in relation to financial results, material revision of financial results, or violation of law or regu-
lation. Compensation that may be subject to repay is performance-based stock compensation received as compensa-
tion for the fiscal year in which the relevant circumstances arose and the three preceding fiscal years. This provision 
applies to performance-based stock compensation granted as compensation for the fiscal year ending March 31, 
2024 and all periods thereafter.

 Evaluation indicators for variable compensation (performance indicators) and evaluation method
Consolidated ordinary income and consolidated ordinary profit are used as the evaluation indicators to take account of 
both sales size and profitability aspects with a good balance (employee engagement will be added as an evaluation 
indicator to be reflected by the performance-based stock compensation points granted for the fiscal year ending 
March 31, 2024 and thereafter).

Evaluation indicators
Target value

(Millions of yen)
Result (Millions of yen)

Degree of target 
achievement (%)

Consolidated ordinary income 149,000 154,984 104.0

Consolidated ordinary profit 28,000 28,924 103.3

Plan Indicators and evaluation method

Bonuses

  Evaluation based on the achievement status and process for performance targets 
(milestones) for the medium- to long-term improvement of corporate value, taking into 
account the management strategy of achieving “Growth in Our Main Business as We 
Diversify Our Operations”
  Quantitative evaluation based on the achievement status of targets for consolidated 
ordinary income and consolidated ordinary profit in the previous fiscal year
  Determination of a compensation amount in the range of 0% to 200% of the baseline amount

Performance-
based stock 
compensation

Fixed portion —

Performance-
based portion

  Evaluation based on the results of the medium- to long-term improvement of corporate 
value, taking into account the management strategy of achieving “Growth in Our Main 
Business as We Diversify Our Operations”

  Quantitative evaluation based on the achievement status of consolidated ordinary in-
come, consolidated ordinary profit, and other targets in the previous fiscal year (employ-
ee engagement will be added as an evaluation indicator to be reflected by the 
performance-based stock compensation points granted for the fiscal year ending March 
31, 2024 and thereafter)
  Determination of a number of points (i.e., the number of shares to be delivered) in the 
range of 0% to 200% of the baseline number of points

 Targets and Results of Evaluation Indicators

 Method for Determining Compensation, etc. for Individual Officers in the Fiscal Year under Review
The Bank has established a Nomination & Compensation Committee, comprising a total of four members made up of 
two independent Outside Directors and two Representative Directors, chaired by an Independent Outside Director, as 
an advisory body to the Board of Directors. The Nomination & Compensation Committee proposes specific amounts 
of compensation, etc. to be granted to Directors within the range of the total amount approved at the General Meeting 
of Shareholders, for determination by resolution of the Board of Directors. From the perspective of understanding the 
process of discussion, Audit & Supervisory Board Members may participate as observers who do not possess voting 
rights, when a Nomination & Compensation Committee meeting is held. The procedure is stipulated in the Regulations 
for Officers, which is modified, amended, or abolished by a resolution of the Board of Directors upon discussion with 
the Audit & Supervisory Board Members.

Compensation, etc. for Audit & Supervisory Board Members is determined upon discussion by the Audit & Supervi-
sory Board Members within the range of the total amount approved at the General Meeting of Shareholders.

 Compensation Structure
The Bank’s compensation structure for officers comprises “basic compensation” as fixed compensation and “bonuses” 
and “performance-based stock compensation” as variable compensation, which are applied as follows.

Each plan is positioned as follows.

In compensation for Directors with executive authority over operations, the ratio of each plan has been decided as 
described below by a resolution of the Board of Directors upon a proposal by the Nomination & Compensation Com-
mittee. Factors taken into account has included a balance between fixed compensation and variable compensation, a 
balance between cash remuneration and stock compensation, and a balance between bonuses and stock compen-
sation, which are incentives to execute management with a well-balanced perspective in both the short term and the 
medium to long term.

In addition, non-executive Directors and Audit & Supervisory Board Members receive only fixed compensation, as 
their role is to supervise the Bank’s management from an objective and independent standpoint.

Fixed compensation Variable compensation
(a) Basic compensation (b) Bonuses (c) Performance-based stock compensation

Directors with executive authority 
over operations

Non-executive Directors — —

Audit & Supervisory Board Member — —

Fiscal year under review (from April 1, 2022 to March 31, 2023)
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Corporate Governance

Status of Audits Policy on Governance related to Listed Subsidiaries (Protection of Rights of Minority Shareholders)

Status of Improvement and Operation of the Internal Control Systems

 Cooperation between Audit & Supervisory Board Members and the Accounting Auditor
Audit & Supervisory Board Members and the Accounting Auditor hold regular meetings to exchange opinions and 
promote mutual cooperation, based on the audit contract with KPMG AZSA LLC. Audit & Supervisory Board Members 
perform audits on the execution of duties by Directors by attending the Board of Directors meetings or other means. In 
addition to conducting their own operational and accounting audits, Audit & Supervisory Board Members receive 
reports on results of external audits by the Accounting Auditor, and check the appropriateness thereof. Members from 
the Internal Audit Division are also present when receiving accounting audit reports from the Accounting Auditor, in an 
effort to facilitate close cooperation.

Concerning the system upgrades stipulated in Article 362, Paragraph 4, Item 6 of the Companies Act, the Board of 
Directors made a resolution on May 8, 2006, on matters to be implemented by the Bank. Progress of the details of 
this resolution is reviewed each fiscal year. In line with this resolution, Seven Bank strives for good corporate gover-
nance and internal control, while ensuring appropriateness in the Seven Bank Group’s operations.

 Cooperation between the Audit & Supervisory Board Members and Internal Audit Division
The Bank has in place the Internal Audit Division, which is independent of the Bank’s other departments engaging in 
business operations and directly reports to the President and Representative Director.

The Internal Audit Division annually sets a basic policy for internal auditing plans and priority issues to be addressed, 
which are to be approved by the Board of Directors. Individual internal auditing plans are formulated by the General 
Manager of the Internal Audit Division, and approval of these plans is obtained from the President and Representative 
Director, who is the officer in charge of the Internal Audit Division. Individual internal audits are conducted by investi-
gating and evaluating the appropriateness and effectiveness of internal management systems as a whole based on the 
following items to discover problems, if any, and suggest how to address them. The results of these audits are report-
ed to the President and Representative Director, the Executive Committee and the Audit & Supervisory Board.

Internal audits are conducted on all the Bank’s departments and systems, including those of its subsidiaries. Audits 
are also conducted on the operations of the Bank’s major outsourcing contractors regarding the status of manage-
ment by its relevant internal departments, as well as on the outsourcing contractors themselves, within the scope 
agreed with them. Audit & Supervisory Board Members receive periodic reports from the Internal Audit Division on its 
audit plans and results, and request investigations as necessary to ensure that the audit results of the Internal Audit 
Division are effectively utilized for internal control system audits by Audit & Supervisory Board Members. In addition, 
Audit & Supervisory Board Members receive reports on the status of internal control systems regularly or as necessary 
from the departments in charge of internal control functions, and ask for detailed explanations as necessary.

A   Status of business plans
B   Compliance system and compliance status
C   Appropriateness and effectiveness of internal controls over financial reporting
D   Systems for and the current status of customer management, including customer protection
E   Systems for and the current status of risk management
F   Internal management systems at each operational department and appropriateness and effectiveness thereof

Seven & i Holdings Co., Ltd. is the Bank’s parent company, indirectly holding 46.28% of its voting rights, and therefore 
falls under the category of controlling shareholder stipulated in the Timely Disclosure Rules. When conducting transac-
tions, etc., with the parent company, the Bank will comply with the arm’s-length rule under the Banking Law, which is 
a rule established to prevent the soundness of the Bank’s management from being compromised through con-
flict-of-interest transactions. The Bank fully confirms the necessity for such transactions and that the conditions of 
such transactions do not differ significantly from conditions of usual transactions with third parties.

The Bank believes that in order to achieve sound and sustainable growth, it is essential to engage in business devel-
opment (innovation) by integrating collaboration with various partners to an advanced degree based on our credibility 
and transparency of management as a corporate entity. Furthermore, we recognize that listing on the market is one of 
the most effective ways to ensure the Bank’s credibility and transparency of management. As an independently listed 
company, the Bank independently and autonomously deliberates and determines our own business strategies, per-
sonnel policies, capital policies, etc., as we engage in our own operating activities. In addition, in order to ensure the 
necessary independence from our parent company, we have established the Nomination & Compensation Committee 
chaired by an Independent Outside Director as an advisory body to the Board of Directors. This Committee deliberates 
on matters concerning recommendations of candidates for Director and Executive Officer, thereby ensuring indepen-
dence from our parent company in the appointment of top management. The Bank has also appointed Independent 
Outside Directors and Independent Outside Audit & Supervisory Board Members, who provide supervision to ensure 
that no conflict of interest arises between our parent company and shareholders other than the parent company. The 
Bank does not have any agreements concluded regarding group management with the parent company. In addition, 
to comply with the disclosure obligations, etc., of the parent company, the Bank has established the Guidelines for 
Reporting of Material Facts with the parent company and reports to the parent company accordingly. These reports 
are limited to matters that impact the parent company’s timely disclosure, materially impact the parent company’s 
consolidated financial statements, and may potentially impair the credibility of the Seven & i Group.

The parent company’s approach and policy regarding group management are as follows:
“Although the Company owns the listed subsidiary, Seven Bank, Ltd., from the standpoint of respecting the inde-

pendence of Seven Bank, Ltd., we value the management decisions of the said listed subsidiary, and respect the inde-
pendent and autonomous deliberation and determination of its business strategies, personnel policies, capital policies, 
etc., as it engages in its own operating activities.” 
(Quoted from the website of Seven & i Holdings Co., Ltd.)

  Guidelines on Measures to Protect Minority Shareholders in Conducting Transactions with a  
Controlling Shareholder

 Relationship with Parent Company, Seven & i Holdings Co., Ltd.
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Directors and Officers *The Bank registers all persons who fulfill the qualifications of Independent Officers as such.

We believe that the role of Directors and Audit & Supervisory Board Members is to realize appropriate business management by supervising and auditing business 
execution while fully understanding the social responsibilities and mission of the banking business. In order to properly fulfill this role, we utilize the skill matrix 
when appointing Directors and Audit & Supervisory Board Members, and aim for a well-balanced composition of members with diverse skills and expertise.

Roles and expertise of Directors and Audit & Supervisory Board Members

Position Name Corporate 
Management

Sales and 
Marketing

Product 
Development & IT Global Human Resources 

& Labor
Financial Affairs 

and Finance
Legal Affairs & Risk 

Management

Outside Director (Independent Officer) Makoto Kigawa

Outside Director (Independent Officer) Yukiko Kuroda

Outside Director (Independent Officer) Etsuhiro Takato

Outside Director (Independent Officer) Yuji Hirako

Outside Director (Independent Officer) Tami Kihara

Director Tsuyoshi Kobayashi

Chairman and Representative Director Yasuaki Funatake

President and Representative Director Masaaki Matsuhashi

Outside Audit & Supervisory Board 
Member (Independent Officer) Hideaki Terashima

Outside Audit & Supervisory Board 
Member (Independent Officer) Chieko Ogawa

Full-time Audit & Supervisory Board 
Member Kazuhiko Ishiguro

Full-time Audit & Supervisory Board 
Member Ryoji Sakai

After serving in a number of important positions, including Representative Director, 
President, YAMATO HOLDINGS CO., LTD., Mr. Kigawa was appointed as Director of 
the Bank in June 2018, to the present. He concurrently serves as Advisor, YAMATO 
HOLDINGS CO., LTD., Director, Oki Electric Industry Co., Ltd, Outside Director, The 
Higo Bank, Ltd., and External Board Member, ICMG Co., Ltd.

After serving in a number of important positions, including Representative 
Director & Corporate Senior Vice President, Ajinomoto Co., Ltd., Mr. Takato was 
appointed as Director of the Bank in June 2022, to the present. He concurrently 
serves as Director, Milbon Co., Ltd. and Director, TOKYO VERDY, Inc.

After serving in a number of important positions, including General Manager of 
Digital Professionals Strategy Center of Digital Strategy Department, Ricoh 
Company, Ltd. and Director, Ricoh IT Solutions Co., Ltd., Ms. Kihara was 
appointed as Director of the Bank in June 2023, to the present.

After serving in a number of important positions, including Manager of Retail 
Business Development Division, Shinsei Bank Limited, as well as Director, Execu-
tive Officer, General Manager of Business Promotion Division, and Director, 
Senior Managing Executive Officer, General Manager of Planning Division of the 
Bank, Mr. Funatake was appointed as President and Representative Director of 
the Bank in June 2018. He was appointed as Chairman and Representative 
Director of the Bank in June 2022 to the present.

After serving in a number of important positions, including Representative 
Director, People Focus Consulting, Ms. Kuroda was appointed as Director of the 
Bank in June 2018, to the present. She concurrently serves as Director/Founder, 
People Focus Consulting, Director, Terumo Corporation, Independent Director, 
Obayashi Corporation, and Director, Oracle Corporation Japan.

After serving in a number of important positions, including President and CEO, ALL 
NIPPON AIRWAYS, CO., LTD., Mr. Hirako was appointed as Director of the Bank in 
June 2023, to the present. He concurrently serves as Member of the Board, Vice 
Chairman, ANA HOLDINGS INC., and Director, JVCKENWOOD Corporation.

After serving in a number of important positions, including Director, Executive 
Officer, Seven & i Holdings Co., Ltd., Mr. Kobayashi was appointed as Director of 
the Bank in June 2023, to the present. He concurrently serves as Managing 
Executive Officer, Head of Financial services and General Manager of Financial 
services, Seven & i Holdings Co., Ltd., Chairman and Representative Director, 
Seven Financial Service Co., Ltd., and Chairman and Representative Director, 
Seven Card Service Co., Ltd.

In addition to work experience in the IT and digital-related areas in NEC 
Corporation and other companies, Mr. Matsuhashi served in a number of 
important positions of the Bank, including Managing Executive Officer, General 
Manager of ATM Solution Division, and Senior Managing Executive Officer in 
charge of Corporate Transformation Division and Seven Labo. He was appointed 
as President and Representative Director of the Bank in June 2022.

Directors (As of July 1, 2023)

Makoto Kigawa
Outside Director 
(Independent Officer)

Etsuhiro Takato
Outside Director
(Independent Officer)

Tami Kihara
Outside Director
(Independent Officer)

Yasuaki Funatake
Chairman and Representative 
Director

Yukiko Kuroda
Outside Director 
(Independent Officer)

Yuji Hirako
Outside Director
(Independent Officer)

Tsuyoshi Kobayashi
Director

Masaaki Matsuhashi
President and Representative 
Director

Attendance
Board of Directors: 13 out of 14 meetings

Attendance
Board of Directors: 14 out of 14 meetings

Attendance
Board of Directors: 14 out of 14 meetings

Attendance
Board of Directors: 11 out of 11 meetings

After serving in a number of important positions, including Professor, Legal Train-
ing and Research Institute of Japan, Supreme court of Japan, and Professor, Law 
School, Senshu University, Mr. Terashima was appointed as Audit & Supervisory 
Board Member of the Bank in June 2019, to the present. He concurrently serves 
as an Attorney-at-law registered with the Tokyo Bar Association.

After serving in a number of important positions, including Executive Managing Director, 
UFJIS Co., Ltd. (now Mitsubishi UFJ Information Technology, Ltd.), and Director, Senior 
Managing Executive Officer of the Bank, Mr. Ishiguro was appointed as Full-time Audit & 
Supervisory Board Member of the Bank in June 2020, to the present. He concurrently 
serves as an Audit & Supervisory Board Member, Signpost Corporation.

Certified Public Accountant and Certified Tax Accountant. Ms. Ogawa was registered as a 
Certified Public Accountant in 2005, as a Certified Public Accountant in Washington State, 
United States in 2010, and as a Certified Tax Accountant in 2014. She was appointed as 
Audit & Supervisory Board Member of the Bank in June 2023, to the present. She 
concurrently serves as Head of Ogawa CPA Office and Member of the Board (Member of 
the Audit & Supervisory Committee), Yorozu Corporation

After serving in a number of important positions, including Director, Senior 
Managing Executive Officer, Head of Planning Division, Financial Division, and 
Overseas Business Division, Seven Eleven Japan Co., Ltd., Mr. Sakai was 
appointed as Full-time Audit & Supervisory Board Member of the Bank in June 
2021, to the present.

Audit & Supervisory Board Members (As of July 1, 2023)

Hideaki Terashima
Outside Audit & Supervisory Board 
Member (Independent Officer)

Kazuhiko Ishiguro
Full-time Audit & Supervisory 
Board Member

Chieko Ogawa
Outside Audit & Supervisory Board 
Member (Independent Officer)

Ryoji Sakai
Full-time Audit & Supervisory 
Board Member

Attendance
Board of Directors: 14 out of 14 meetings
Audit & Supervisory Board: 16 out of 16 meetings

Attendance
Board of Directors: 14 out of 14 meetings
Audit & Supervisory Board: 16 out of 16 meetings

Attendance
Board of Directors: 14 out of 14 meetings
Audit & Supervisory Board: 16 out of 16 meetings

Executive Officers (As of July 1, 2023)

Executive Officer
(In charge of Banking 
Management Division)

Takashi Tsuzuura

Senior Managing Executive 
Officer
(Special Assignment, Director 
and Executive Vice President, 
Seven Card Service Co., Ltd.)

Hisanao Kawada
Managing Executive Officer
(In charge of General Affairs 
Division and Human 
Resources Division)

Kazutaka Inagaki
Managing Executive Officer
(Special Assignment, President 
and Representative Director, 
Bank Business Factory Co., 
Ltd.)

Kenichi Yamamoto
Managing Executive Officer
(In charge of ATM Platform Promotion Division, 
ATM Operations Management Division, and 
Business Support Division, and General 
Manager, ATM Platform Promotion Division)

Hiroshi Takeuchi

Managing Executive Officer
(In charge of ATM Solution 
Division and ATM+ Planning 
Division)

Koji Fukasawa
Managing Executive Officer
(In charge of Global Business 
Development Division and 
General Manager, Global 
Business Development Division)

Tsuneo Nagashima
Executive Officer
(In charge of Financial Solution 
Division)

Taku Takizawa
Executive Officer
(In charge of Financial 
Strategy Promotion Division 
and General Manager, Seven 
Labo)

Kenjiro Nishii

Executive Officer
(In charge of Planning Division 
and SDGs Promotion, and 
General Manager, Planning 
Division)

Ken Shimizu
Executive Officer
(In charge of Seven Labo and 
Corporate Transformation 
Division)

Tomoaki Nakayama

Executive Officer
General Manager, Internal 
Audit Division

Tomomi Hashizume

Executive Officer
(In charge of Risk Management 
Division and Financial Crime Risk 
Control Division, and General 
Manager, Risk Management Division)

Shinji Yamashita

Attendance
Board of Directors: 11 out of 11 meetings
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Outside Directors Roundtable

We expect that the Seven Bank Group will further grow by seek-
ing to meet the needs of society and create new value through 
leveraging the Bank’s strengths.

Please share with us your thoughts on the 
past year.

Kigawa: In FY2022, Masaaki Matsuhashi assumed the 
position of president and actively communicated his 
ideas within and outside the Company, which I feel has 
changed our atmosphere considerably. It’s my view that 
office renovations and dress code changes have also 
been successful, and that we are moving away from the 
traditional image of a bank and cultivating a corporate 
culture in which everyone feels free to accept any 
challenge.
Kuroda: Over the past few years, as the cashless era 
has begun, we have been exploring different directions. 
In the midst of all this, we selected a certain direction 
was set and put a new structure in place to implement it. 
It was a year in which we could feel that we were finally 
beginning to move toward the second phase of growth. 
In that sense, we have entered a very exciting period.

platform business. I honestly thought that because we 
have a stable profit structure in place, we should tackle 
additional risks and challenges, and reinforce our gover-
nance to do so.

Regarding the Board of Directors meetings, we 
requested the establishment of a forum through which 
we could hear the passionate thoughts of front-line 
employees, rather than a form of discussion in which 
the officers in charge simply offer a perfunctory expla-
nation. After all, we can’t really see the true picture of a 
company through the style of monthly board meetings 
where information is always shared by the same mem-
bers. Therefore, we requested that time be allotted for 
executive discussions—independent of board meet-
ings—so that we could exchange opinions not just the 
officer in charge, but also with the general managers 
and project managers, which gave us a clearer picture 
of the Company and its actual situation.
Kuroda: It is my view that the Board of Directors con-
ducts very active discussions. I believe that, with re-
spect to governance, the ultimate role of outside 
directors is the appointment and dismissal of the CEO. I 
joined the Nomination & Compensation Committee last 
year, so I am well positioned to discharge that responsi-
bility. Rather than having an outside director interfere, 
so to speak, in the details of the execution side and 
potentially cause problems, it is of utmost importance 
to closely monitor the selection of the CEO to ensure 
that the most suitable person is chosen. Given this, I 
think the number of outside directors on the Nomination 
& Compensation Committee should be considered at 
some point.

Moreover, Seven Bank is a financial institution with a 
banking license. At the same time, though, it is attempt-
ing to grow with the mindset of a venture business. In 
that sense, I believe that, as a bank, we have solid risk 
management oversight. Furthermore, regarding the 
other venture-like way of moving in the past year, I can 
sense a free atmosphere where new ideas can be born 
when looking at the casual attire of the members at-
tending Board meetings and the employees at their 
workplaces. A dilemma we constantly face is the simul-
taneous oversight of seemingly conflicting activities—
including the oversight of areas requiring sound 
protection and monitoring the cultivation of an environ-
ment that allows for the acceptance of new challeng-
es—and I see this as a difficult task.
Takato: I feel that every company listed on the TSE 
Prime Market is trying to become an honor student, in a 
manner of speaking, with respect to governance. 
Naturally, a high incidence of scandals and excessive 
pursuit of profits is no way to secure corporate sustain-
ability in society. At the same time, there is no clear 
answer as to how far governance should go to realize 

Takato: Since I became a director of Seven Bank last 
year, this was a year of considerable learning for me. 
The role of ATMs—primarily used for cash deposits and 
withdrawals—is gradually evolving. Amidst these condi-
tions, I really appreciate Seven Bank’s attitude of re-
viewing its reason for being, discussing with top 
management and department heads how it should 
present itself to society, and doing its utmost to realize 
the next stage of growth.

How would you rate Seven Bank’s 
governance structure?

Kigawa: I recognize that standard governance capabili-
ties have been in place since I was first appointed to the 
board. As a general rule, bank governance requires 
risk-return balance. But in the first place, Seven Bank 
has had a business model under which 70% of its 
consolidated ordinary income is generated by its ATM 

both sound corporate management and sustainable 
growth, and there is no guarantee that all growth mea-
sures will succeed. One thing that can be said is that 
failure will always lead to the next stage of growth. I 
hope that Seven Bank will also maintain this type of 
forward-looking corporate posture, continuing to boldly 
accept challenges without being confined to the tradi-
tional financial institution framework.

Please share your perception of the growth 
strategy formulated to achieve the objectives 
of the new Medium-Term Management Plan.

Acquisition of Seven Card Service
Kuroda: There was rather animated discussion in ad 
hoc committees and Board of Directors’ meetings as to 
who would benefit from the acquisition.
Takato: Initially, the acquisition was regarded as rather 
abrupt. An acquisition will not be successful unless 
everyone is convinced that the strategy supports their 
own growth and everyone is involved. This is a valuable 
opportunity that could make a big difference in the next 
couple of years, and I hope that everyone involved will 
do their absolute best.
Kigawa: I felt like the Company had finally arrived. For 
some time, we have focused on the direction in which 
the Seven & i Group is headed with regard to its financial 
business and how Seven Bank will position itself in that 
business. I believe it is advantageous for Seven Bank to 
be able to formulate a growth strategy that leverages 
group synergies by merging its bank and non-bank 
businesses. We expect that this deal will be significant as 
we implement our growth strategy going forward, in line 
with the Medium-Term Management Plan.

Etsuhiro Takato
Outside Director

(Independent Officer)

Yukiko Kuroda
Outside Director

(Independent Officer)

Makoto Kigawa
Outside Director

(Independent Officer)
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new service ideas. To fully leverage diversity with the 
aim of sparking innovation, it would be good to have an 
environment where efforts in each country are shared 
company-wide and serve as a mutual stimulus.

What are your views on Seven Bank’s 
corporate and organizational cultures?

Takato: Business growth and organizational revitaliza-
tion are inextricably linked. It takes a tremendous 
amount of energy to revitalize an organization, the 
responsibility for which is borne by each individual 
employee. I think it is necessary for employees to share 
a variety of opinions, even if the discussions are not 
always pleasant. This will result in the clarification of the 
goals to be accomplished by each person, and make 
each individual responsible for the achievement of those 
objectives. This is another reason we feel that we must 
continue investing in our organization and its people.
Kuroda: To me, Seven Bank is a purpose-driven com-
pany. While it is important to achieve the goal of ¥250 
billion in consolidated ordinary income for FY2025—the 
set in the Medium-Term Management Plan—the basic 
principle is for all employees to pursue the Company’s 
Purpose, and these efforts should generate the desired 
figures. Anyone can think about what they wish they 
had, but going beyond simply wishing is a commend-
able purpose. The realization of this Purpose requires 
the activation of imagination. If all employees were to 
realize this Purpose and activate their imagination, a 
succession of new business opportunities would arise, 
naturally generating results.
Kigawa: I believe that the growth of a company requires 
three elements. The first is the sharing of the manage-
ment ethos with employees. The second is employees 
working energetically. The third is top management 
leading the way with exciting management strategies 
and concrete action. Viewing Seven Bank through that 
lens, with regard to the first element, the Purpose is 
firmly entrenched. Concerning the second element, 
improvement in engagement scores is evidence that 
employees are working with enthusiasm. And, looking 
at the third element, the Medium-Term Management 
Plan provides a clear direction. With the addition of Sev-
en Card Service to the Group this fiscal year, it would 
be even better if we could incorporate the strategy for 
our domestic retail business into a concrete action plan. 
We hope that the integration of the two companies has 
created a free-spirited environment within which we can 
undertake the development of new financial services. 
Viewed in this way, I believe that Seven Bank is a 
company that will continue to grow.

ATM+
Kuroda: The ATM service platform business is one of 
the initiatives that has taken shape as a certain direction 
as we move into the era of cashless settlement. Moneti-
zation is the real challenge. There are considerably high 
expectations concerning the possibility of ATMs being 
integrated into users’ daily routines as more services 
that leverage the ATM’s authentication functionality 
become available. Also, the new ATMs are not only 
functional, but also superior in terms of design. The 
attention to detail in the engineering of ATMs is so great 
that when you use the new machines, you can actually 
feel the technical artistry. I feel that the design also 
reflects the strength of Seven Bank: its determination to 
effect tangible change on the world with its ATMs. From 
that perspective, I have high hopes for Seven Bank’s 
ATM business going forward.
Kigawa: First of all, ATMs are teller machines that are 
mechanized versions of bank windows. They are ma-
chines that allow cash deposits and withdrawals using 
the appropriate bank’s cash card. Now that we are 
offering other services, I’m not certain the name ATM is 
appropriate anymore. Since the social recognition of 
ATMs is overwhelming, however I suggested that we 
should at the very least emphasize the “+” part. Bank 
ATM fees are only going to continue rising, so I hope 
other positive features will boost the number of ATMs 
used.
Takato: I only use ATMs when I need to withdraw cash. 
It sure would be expedient, however, if all administrative 
applications and documents could be issued at conve-
nience stores. It appears the technical mechanism is 
ready to be addressed, but I still think there are safety 
and security issues to be dealt with.

Please share your expectations for Seven 
Bank going forward.

Takato: I believe that identifying the biggest priorities 
currently faced and investing resources in those priori-
ties with the aim of realizing future growth will enable 
both the company and its employees to achieve that 
growth. I want all people working at Seven Bank to 
have hope, courage, and dreams.
Kuroda: I also believe that there is ample room for 
growth at Seven Bank. Although we have very high 
expectations for Seven Bank—including the new value 
creation of ATM+ and the retail business that merges 
retail and finance by integrating bank and non-bank 
business—we believe that valuation in the stock market 
remains a challenge. We hope that investors will grasp 
this sense of excitement and anticipation we are experi-
encing.
Kigawa: We appreciate the unique position of Seven 
Bank, which is a bank, but not in the strictest sense. I 
look forward to working with everyone to create a new 
vision for the Seven Bank of tomorrow by combining 
ATMs—an essential element of social infrastructure—
with new financial services and the knowledge accumu-
lated from our overseas business.

Kigawa: Administrative services tend to deteriorate 
gradually, particularly in sparsely populated rural areas. 
There are also convenience stores in such rural areas, 
and it seems that attempts are beginning to be made 
for these stores to serve as administrative service 
contact points. Our hopes remain high for the Group’s 
strategy of integrating the administrative services of 
Seven Bank ATMs and 7-Eleven multi-purpose copy 
machines.

Overseas Business
Kuroda: The U.S. is concerned about rising interest 
rates. And, while ATM installation is steadily expanding 
in Asia, traditional ATM services will have to evolve 
going forward. Since cash is not generally required in 
emerging countries, we believe that this discussion 
needs to be revived, including future strategies. Once 
we have established the ATM platform for overseas 
operations, I believe that we can bolster cooperation 
with overseas offices and regard overseas operations 
as a source for idea exchange and innovation develop-
ment through diversity.
Kigawa: During the Medium-Term Management Plan 
discussions, the proportion of Seven Bank’s consolidat-
ed ordinary income accounted for by overseas business 
in the future was set as a target figure, but we believe 
that excessive investment resulting from having made 
this an objective is a risk that exists. The issue in devel-
oping business overseas is the extent to which the 
Company will bear the incumbent risk. Another option is 
the formation of alliance strategies, including localiza-
tion. Since finance today is borderless, it would be great 
if we could also discuss the form of a global strategy for 
business development in the manner most appropriate 
for each country.
Takato: I concur that having Seven Bank bear the asso-
ciate risk on its own is not necessary. In a business 
alliance, the ideal is to aim for business expansion while 
asking partner companies to bear the risk inherent in 
each country, and to eventually collaborate in drawing 
up a growth strategy with an eye toward localization.
Kigawa: Since our Asian business is still in the aggres-
sive stage, I think following the current strategy is 
acceptable. Once business expands to a certain extent, 
however, the pace of growth will slow down. We then 
need to consider the form we want the business to 
take. We have heard that there is considerable interest 
from investors.
Kuroda: This is why I believe it is crucial to have a 
strategy to implement following the construction of the 
platform. We can consider introducing services based 
on the knowledge accumulated here in Japan. Circum-
stances and regulations vary from one country to the 
next, though, so we may have to devise completely 

Outside Directors Roundtable
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Overall Risk Management Department (Risk Management Division)

Seven Bank’s Management Foundation

Risk Management Initiatives

Risk Management Structure
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Every fiscal year, the Board of Directors establishes the “Basic Policy on Risk Control,” which specifies the overall risk 
management policy, specific risk management policies and the organization and system for risk management. In 
accordance with this policy, the Executive Committee establishes detailed rules and regulations related to risk man-
agement and confirms the Companywide risk status every quarter. The Bank’s risk management structure includes the 
Risk Management Division, which is responsible for supervising overall risk management activities, specific risk man-
agement divisions and the Internal Audit Division to perform internal audits. We have also established the Risk Man-
agement Committee and the Security Committee, chaired by the officer in charge of the Risk Management Division, 
and the Asset-Liability Management (ALM) Committee, chaired by the officer in charge of the Planning Division, as 
advisory bodies to the Executive Committee concerning risk management.

In FY2022, in light of the increase in the number of consolidated subsidiaries and expansion of our business, we 
strengthened the Seven Bank Group’s risk management system.

Risk Management System

Board of Directors Formulate Basic Policy on Risk Control

Liquidity risk
(Risk Management Division)

Market risk
(Risk Management Division)

Credit risk (Risk Management Division)

Administrative risk (Risk Management Division)
Systems risk (Risk Management Division)
Reputation risk (Planning Division)
Legal risk (Risk Management Division)
Human risk (Human Resources Division)
Tangible assets risk (General Affairs Division)

Information security risk 
(Risk Management Division)
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The Bank observes its basic policies relating to overall risk management, which are governed by the Basic Policy on 
Risk Control and Overall Risk Management Rules, established under the policy. We gain an overall grasp of our risks 
including climate changes by assessing each of the Bank’s risk categories and manage them by comparing them with 
our equity.

With the further progression of IT, as attacks targeting at broader areas of services and systems are necessitating 
appropriate measures to ensure security, we have established a dedicated team for cyber security management in 
order to protect the Group’s information assets such as customer information from various threats. We have estab-
lished Cybersecurity Risk Rules while enhancing our structure for security management, which include holding Security 
Committee meetings at least once in every quarterly period to discuss effective security measures.

 Overall Management of Risk

 Management System of Information Security Risk

 Credit Risk
Currently, our risk management activities relating to credit risk are limited to the ATM settlement business, the ALM of 
interbank deposits placed with top-rated partner financial institutions, bonds, the lending of funds in the call-money 
market, temporary ATM payment amounts due and small personal loans, to minimize credit risk. In addition, the Bank 
performs self-assessment of asset quality as appropriate and establishes an allowance for credit losses in accordance 
with its self-assessment and reserve rules.

 Market Risk
It is stipulated that the limits on the maximum level of funds at risk, the market position limits and the loss allowance 
limits shall be set. The Risk Management Division measures and monitors market risk on a daily basis in light of these 
limits and reports the results to management, including the Executive Committee. At the ALM Committee meeting held 
every quarter, the Bank’s market risk position, expected trends in interest rates and other matters are reported and the 
policy for the ALM operation is determined.

 Liquidity Risk
It is stipulated that the limits regarding the cash gaps arising from differences between the period of the management 
of invested funds and the timing of the liquidation shall be set. The Risk Management Division measures and monitors 
liquidity risk on a daily basis in light of these limits and reports the results to management, including the Executive 
Committee. To prepare for emergency events requiring immediate funding, the Bank has devised preemptive compre-
hensive countermeasures to be able to take quick and flexible Companywide action by risk scenario, and therefore 
does not expect to experience a major liquidity problem.

 Operational Risk
Recognizing that operational risks may come to the surface in all business divisions, the Bank has established the 
structure to identify, evaluate, monitor, control, and reduce risks. Risk categories are as follows.

Administrative Risk

Legal Risk

Systems Risk

Human Risk

Information Security Risk

Tangible Assets Risk

Reputation Risk

The purpose of Seven Bank’s risk 

management is to ensure healthy and 

efficient management as aiming at an 

improvement in corporate value by 

appropriately managing various kinds 

of risks related to management.

Shinji Yamashita
Executive Officer in charge of Risk Management Division  
and Financial Crime Risk Control Division
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Place matters on the agenda/Report Direct

Seven Bank’s Management Foundation

Compliance Initiatives

Cyber Security Structure

Security Committee (at least once in every quarterly period)
Risk Management Division, Financial Crime Risk Control Division, Financial Solution Division, ATM Solution Division, 

Banking Management Division, Seven Labo, Planning Division, Corporate Transformation Division, etc.

Express opinions

Express opinions

Express opinions

Direct responses

External 
contact 

Information 
gathering

Report incidents, etc.

Security Review Conference (to be held monthly, in principle)

IT Risk Management Office (CSIRT) (secretariat)

Outside organizations

Detection of incidents, etc.

Response to Customers Response to authorities/
partners Clerical response Response on systems

Outside partners

CSIRT/relevant division 
of other banks

Business Partners

Police, etc.

JPCERT

SOC

Board of Directors

Executive Committee

Human resources:   Create security-conscious corporate culture, develop personnel for security, conduct trainings 
and drills

Mechanism:  Improve rules/procedures on which governance is based, practice Security by Design
Technology:  Respond to results of the Bank-wide security diagnosis

The dedicated team for cyber security management is in charge of the Bank-wide management of cybersecurity risks, 

composed of members from multiple divisions. The team widely responds to attacks to the Bank’s services and 

systems, including cyber attacks, skimming, fake cards, unauthorized access, and information leakage.

Believing the balanced combination of human resources, mechanism, and technology is necessary to maintain 

security, the Bank is working on each of them.

In order to allow each employee in charge of real operations to have strong awareness of and knowledge base for pur-
suing compliance, Seven Bank has in place the following system so that the compliance check can appropriately 
function at each division to ensure the thorough compliance across the Bank.

To fulfill our social responsibility as a bank, Seven Bank has defined the following three operations as top priorities for 

continuity in the event of a disaster, large-scale accident, or other crisis: the ATM business; the fund settlement busi-

ness serving banks and ATM partners; and withdrawals from the Bank’s accounts and money transfer operations. 

Each division has also created a Business Continuity Plan (BCP) to enable continuity of these essential operations in 

the event of an accident, disaster, or other crisis. To further ensure the business continuity, each division regularly 

conducts the business continuity training, envisioning damage to data centers and other facilities.

Initiatives for Enhancing Cyber Security

Compliance System

Establishment of Business Continuity Plan (BCP)

Risk Management Initiatives

Major initiatives

The Bank regards compliance with applicable laws and societal norms as a fundamental prerequisite 

to earning the trust of society. Aware of the importance of its public mission and the significance of its 

societal responsibilities, the Bank has developed the following initiatives to ensure compliance.

Promote

Report/Recommend

Report/Propose
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Check

Express opinions

Consult

Companywide supervision and management

First Check System

Review/Evaluation functions

Third Check System

General Manager, Internal Audit Division

Place matters on the agenda/Report Direct

Report/Propose

Formulate

Representative Directors
Chairman President

Supervision/Review Functions

Report/Communicate/Consult Direct/Implement/Train

Report/Communicate/Consult

Detailed Compliance Guide

Direct/Implement/Train

Compliance Implementation Plan

Compliance Manual, Compliance Program

Compliance System

Executive Committee Compliance Committee

Audit & Supervisory BoardBoard of Directors

Officer in charge Risk Management Division

Compliance Officers (Managers of divisions and offices)

Employees

Second Check System

Supervision/Review Functions

General Manager, Risk Management Division

Compliance Group
Compliance Management Division

Seven Bank has established Compliance Committee as an advisory organization to the Executive Committee which 
confirms and verifies the status of compliance related to operations in general, and considers measures concerning 
compliance, so as to further enhance and improve the compliance system. The Compliance Committee has functions 
to consider responses to compliance-related problems and issues, material compliance violations, etc., and counter-
measures therefor. The Committee reports, considers, and evaluates important compliance-related matters which 
should be treated as management issues.

Compliance Committee

1   Results and plans of compliance program

2   Operation of the compliance consultation system

3   Revision of Compliance Manual

4   Response for customer protection

5   Responses to financial crimes and antisocial groups

6   Management of outsourcing contractors

Major Agendas of Compliance Committee in FY2022
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Financial Crime Risk 
Control Division 

(supervision of corpo-
rate AML/CFT activities)

Seven Bank’s Management Foundation

Items Issues/Policies

Information Management Improving the effectiveness of the information management structure

Anti Money Laundering/Countering the 
Financing of Terrorism (AML/CFT)

Sophisticating the AML/CFT management structure based on the Crimi-
nal Proceeds Transfer Prevention Act*1 and the Foreign Exchange Act*2

*1  The Act on Prevention of Transfer of Criminal Proceeds (“Criminal Proceeds Transfer 
Prevention Act”)

*2 Foreign Exchange and Foreign Trade Act (“Foreign Exchange Act”)

Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act (FATCA) Accurate annual FATCA reporting

Management of outsourcing contractors
Improving the effectiveness of the outsourcing contractor management 
structure

Harassment prevention measures Proper implementation of harassment prevention measures

The Bank establishes a compliance program each fiscal year that sets out the compliance implementation plan for that 
year. The Board of Directors reviews and evaluates the progress and implementation status of the compliance pro-
gram for the relevant year and, using such reviews and evaluations, formulates a compliance program for the following 
fiscal year.

Recently, financial crimes and fraudulent transactions targeting financial institutions and their customers are becoming 
increasingly crafty and frequent. Seven Bank, recognizing the specialty of its banking business based on non-face-to-
face transactions primarily through ATMs, focuses on preventing financial crimes and protecting customers’ assets, in 
order to ensure that customers can use the bank’s services with security. Specifically, we have the Financial Crime Risk 
Control Division as a dedicated unit to combat financial crimes, which prevents money laundering, eliminates fraudu-
lent accounts and prevents communications fraud and other fraudulent activities, by monitoring and filtering transac-
tions and watching social media for information on selling, buying or fraudulent use of accounts in cooperation with 
other divisions and subsidiaries, cooperating also with the police and other investigating authorities as appropriate.

Seven Bank’s ATMs are provided with measures against peeking at the keypad 
to make PINs or transaction amounts unviewable by others. These ATMs also 
display and sound alerts to prevent bank transfer frauds when customers at-
tempt to transfer money. We also take measures to detect any suspicious object 
attached to an ATM and unusual transactions as well as to prevent unauthorized 
acquisition of credit card information (skimming) at all times.

Seven Bank has received a letter of appreciation from the police for its contribution to the detection of financial crimes by 
cooperating in more than 90,000 cases a year, which includes providing information about ATM camera images and 
account transactions as requested by the police, the Regional Taxation Bureaus, bar associations, and other public 
bodies nationwide.

In August 2022, ACSiON, our security subsidiary, signed an agreement on joint 
response to cybercrimes with the Tokyo Metropolitan Police Department, which highly 
evaluates the fraud detection technology the company has developed over the years, 
to further strengthening our cooperation with the department.

In addition, we are seeking to strengthen our relationships with external parties and 
willing to mutually utilize and accumulate know-how from each other, for example, by 
hosting training sessions for working police officers and financial crime prevention staff 
from partner financial institutions.

Main Compliance Issues

Compliance Consultation System

Compliance Program

Initiatives for preventing financial crimes

For ensuring security for customers using ATMs

Cooperation with the police, public bodies, partner financial institutions, etc.

Compliance Initiatives

Groupwide Employee 
Helpline

Business Partner Helpline

Seven Bank determined the policy for countermeasures for money laundering and provision of terrorist fund. In addi-
tion, through strict confirmation at transactions, etc., the Bank has put emphasis on eliminating relationships with 
antisocial groups and preventing fraudulent accounts from being opened.

To be more specific, among other steps, the Bank asks applicants opening accounts to sign an affidavit stating they 
are not associated with antisocial forces. By including provisions that explicitly indicate the exclusion of organized 
crime groups in the transaction rules and other clauses, the Bank rejects the account application and closes the 
account upon finding that the customer falls under or is associated with antisocial forces.

In addition, the Bank has established a structure to ensure it can take appropriate actions in an organized manner 
against wrongful demands and other similar events in accordance with internal rules and regulations.

The Bank has established a Compliance Consultation System to identify and address compliance issues early, and 
prevent reoccurrences. The system provides contact points for both internal and external consultation and reporting.

As contact points for employees seeking consultations or reporting issues, employees can consult the compliance 
officer in their divisions. In addition, the Compliance Consultation Desk within the Bank and the Groupwide Help Line 
(a consultation and reporting contact point for all Seven & i Group companies) outside the Bank have been estab-
lished. Posters with contact information have been put up and booklets with contact information have been distributed 
to all employees to ensure their awareness of these contact points. The 
International Hotline has also been established for employees of foreign 
subsidiaries as a point of contact for consultations in local languages.

In addition, to promote fair transactions and provide safe and secure 
services for customers, a Business Partner Helpline (a consultation and 
reporting contact point for all Seven & i Group companies) has been 
established for suppliers.

 Prevention of Money Laundering and Financial Crimes, and Measures against Antisocial Groups

ACSiON, Ltd. (subsidiary)
Bank Business Factory Co., 

Ltd. (subsidiary)

Smartphone app/Direct 
banking service

Seven Bank ATM

Preventing 
financial 

crimes and 
fraudulent use

Access monitoring/ 
Phishing detection

Rejecting fraudulent 
account opening 
applications
Continuous customer 
management

Secure management 
of accounts using 
passcodes and 
biometrics

Utilizing images of 
suspicious persons 
with ATM-mounted 
cameras

Prevention of Financial Crimes
Seven Bank is proactively working to prevent financial crimes to ensure all customers can use its 
services securely by leveraging the know-how it has accumulated in financial crime prevention, a 
network of more than 27,000 ATMs across Japan, and the Seven Bank Group’s expertise in developing 
IT solutions.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis Fiscal year ended March 31, 2023: FY2022 
Amounts less than one unit have been truncated.

Despite the ongoing concern for the spread of COVID-19, 
the Japanese economy showed signs of recovery mainly in 
personal consumption due to no behavioral restrictions such 
as quasi-emergency COVID-19 measures aiming for 
balancing infection control and economic activities. However, 
attention has been required to the impact on household 
economy of rising prices and supply-side constraints due to 
increased energy costs and raw material prices resulting 
from fluctuations in exchange rates on top of the uncertainty 
arising from issues such as the situation in Ukraine.

In this operating environment, the Bank’s group has strived 
to fulfill its mission as a social infrastructure that continues to 
provide safe and secure services, including ATM services, with 
the highest priority placed on ensuring the safety of customers, 
business partners, and employees. As for the Bank’s 
consolidated results for fiscal 2022, due to an increase in profit 
mainly resulting from the impact of fluctuations in exchange 
rates on overseas subsidiaries as well as an increase in the 
total number of ATM transactions resulting from continued 
growth of demand for funds due to the restored movement of 
people, ordinary income was 154,984 million yen, ordinary 
profit was 28,924 million yen, and net income attributable to 
owners of the parent was 18,854 million yen.

As for the Bank’s non-consolidated business results, 
ordinary income was 120,509 million yen, ordinary profit was 
31,500 million yen, and net income was 19,508 million yen.

A summary of operating results by segment is as follows.
(1) Domestic Business Segment
During the consolidated fiscal year under review, the total 
number of ATM transactions was significantly higher than in 
the previous fiscal year due to a continued steady increase in 
the number of transactions using the Bank’s ATMs to charge 
cash into various cashless settlement methods in addition to 
an increase in the number of transactions at financial 
institutions for deposits and savings.

In addition to creating an environment where one can 
receive services anytime and anywhere through the joint 
operation of ATMs and the active installation of ATMs outside 
the group, the Bank’s group has steadily proceeded with the 
advancement of ATMs to “ATM+” to expand the possibilities 
of ATMs by starting services enabling application through 
ATMs for using an Individual Number Card as a health 
insurance card and Mynaportal information sharing services, 
and launching full-scale services to accept various 
applications to financial institutions through ATMs.

The number of our ATMs installed reached 26,913 as of 
March 31, 2023 (up 2.5% compared with the end of March 
2022). The average number of daily transactions per ATM 
was 101.5 (up 5.1% year over year), and a total of 980 million 
ATM transactions were recorded (up 7.7% year over year).

As of March 31, 2023, we had partnered with 640 
financial institutions, etc.* and the number of fourth-
generation ATMs installed was 13,419 as of March 31, 2023 
(up 31.8% compared with the end of March 2022).

Due to fluctuations in exchange rates and the resulting 
trends in raw material prices as well as the impact of 
COVID-19, the business environment outlook remains 
uncertain, but the Bank’s group will continue to promote the 
ATM platform strategy that flexibly responds to changes in 
society and customer needs by developing the social value 
of ATMs from a cash-based platform to a service platform.
Note: JA Bank and JF Marine Bank are each counted as one institution.

As of March 31, 2023, the number of individual customer 
accounts increased steadily to 2,755,000 (up 8.9% 
compared with the end of March 2022), and the balance of 
individuals’ deposits was 575,600 million yen (up 4.5% year 
over year). As of March 31, 2023, the balance of loan 
services for individual customers was 35,100 million yen (up 
25.1% year over year).

For the consolidated fiscal year under review, the total 
amount handled of the “Seven Bank Deferred Payment 
Service” was 45,900 million yen (up 118.7% compared with 
the previous fiscal year).

In November 2022, the Bank started “Shopping 
Investment Korekabu” service to provide securities trading 
services to Seven Bank account holders through “My Seven 
Bank” apps in collaboration with Smartplus Ltd.

Recognizing that changes in society are a business 
opportunity, the Bank aims to provide new financial services 
to meet the various needs of our customers in collaboration 
with external corporations while utilizing the Bank’s know-
how accumulated to date.
(2) Overseas Business Segment
Due to a backlash of economic stimulus measures such as 
the provision of benefits implemented by the United States 
government in the previous fiscal year that boosted the 
number of ATM transactions, FCTI, Inc., the Bank’s 
consolidated subsidiary, saw the number of ATM transactions 
fall below that of the corresponding period of the previous 
year. In February 2022, FCTI, Inc. completed reorganization 
of ATMs with low profitability that were installed at locations 
outside of United States 7-Eleven stores. As of December 
31, 2022, FCTI, Inc. had only ATMs installed inside 7-Eleven 
stores in the United States, the number of which was 8,643 
(down 4.0% compared to December 31, 2021).

With regard to the business results of FCTI, Inc. for the 
consolidated fiscal year (from January 2022 to December 
2022), due to factors such as an increase in interest 
expenses associated with a rise in the policy rate, partially 
offset by a decrease in expenses resulting from the 
reorganization of ATMs with low profitability installed outside 
of United States 7-Eleven stores, ordinary income was 186.3 
million U.S. dollars (down 9.6% year over year), ordinary loss 
was 3.3 million U.S. dollars (ordinary profit of 16.4 million 
U.S. dollars in the previous fiscal year), and net income was 
0.0 million U.S. dollars (down 99.9% year over year).

PT. ABADI TAMBAH MULIA INTERNASIONAL, a 
consolidated subsidiary of the Bank in Indonesia, steadily 
promoted its business even amid the COVID-19 pandemic 

Summary of Fiscal 2022
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and greatly increased the number of ATMs installed to 5,557 
as of December 31, 2022 (up 117.8% compared to 
December 31, 2021).

Additionally, Pito AxM Platform, Inc., a consolidated 
subsidiary of the Bank in the Philippines, has successfully 
proceeded with the installation of ATMs at 7-Eleven stores in 
the Philippines, and the number of ATMs installed was 2,324 
(up 86.0% compared to December 31, 2021) as of 
December 31, 2022.

Summary of Financial Position of Fiscal 2022

Assets
Total assets at the end of March 2023 were 1,312,273 million 
yen. The majority of this total comprised cash and due from 
banks required for the operation of ATMs of 952,027 million 
yen. The remainder mostly consisted of marketable securities 
of 99,651 million yen held as collateral for foreign exchange 
settlements and Bank of Japan current account overdraft 
transactions, and 98,296 million yen representing ATM-
related temporary payments, which are temporary advances 
from partner financial institutions.
Liabilities
Liabilities were 1,058,031 million yen. These largely 
comprised deposits (excluding negotiable certificates of 
deposit) totaling 820,758 million yen. Of these, the 
outstanding balance of individuals’ ordinary deposits was 
452,691 million yen and the balance of individuals’ time 
deposits was 122,974 million yen.
Net assets
Net assets were 254,242 million yen. Of these, retained 
earnings were 182,431 million yen. The consolidated capital 
adequacy ratio (domestic standard) was 46.51%.

Cash and cash equivalents increased by 18,852 million yen 
during the fiscal year under review to 950,256 million yen. 
Cash flows in each category and the factors behind the 
changes were as follows.
Cash Flow from Operating Activities
Net cash provided by operating activities was 66,577 million 
yen. Factors contributing to cash included a net increase in 
call money of 50,000 million yen and a net increase in 
deposits of 30,820 million yen. These factors exceeded 
factors using cash, such as 28,000 million yen in a net 
decrease in call loans and 20,000 million yen in a decrease in 
straight bonds – issuance and redemption.
Cash Flow from Investing Activities
Net cash used in investing activities was 36,191 million yen. 
Factors that used cash included purchase of securities of 
48,079 million yen and purchase of tangible fixed assets of 
13,328 million yen. These exceeded the factor that provided 
cash: proceeds from maturity of securities of 35,713 million yen.
Cash Flow from Financing Activities
Net cash used in financing activities was 12,973 million yen, 
due to factors including 12,973 million yen in dividends paid.

As for the consolidated business results for fiscal 2023, we 
forecast ordinary income of 166,500 million yen (up 7.4% year 
over year), ordinary profit of 24,500 million yen (down 15.2% 
year over year), and net income attributable to owners of the 
parent of 16,500 million yen (down 12.4% year over year).

As for the non-consolidated business results of the Bank 
for fiscal 2023, we forecast ordinary income of 123,000 
million yen (up 2.0% year over year), ordinary profit of 26,000 
million yen (down 17.4% year over year), and net income of 
18,000 million yen (down 7.7% year over year).

For fiscal 2023, we will continue to work on expanding the 
number of ATMs installed and promoting their use. We plan to 
install approximately 27.598 ATMs (up 2.5% compared to 
March 31, 2023) with a total number of ATM transactions of 
approximately 1,005 million (up 2.5% year over year) and the 
average number of daily transactions per ATM of 
approximately 101.2 (down 0.2% year over year). We will also 
work to expand the number of ATMs installed in Asia, and 
plan to install approximately 8,550 ATMs (up 53.8% 
compared to December 31, 2022) in Indonesia, and 
approximately 3,016 ATMs (up 28.6% compared to 
December 31, 2022) in the Philippines. In addition to the 
above, we plan to further expand our services, whether they 
are financial or non-financial ones, using fourth-generation 
ATMs to realize an “ATM+” world. In response to these plans, 
the number of ATMs installed and the total number of ATM 
transactions are expected to grow, leading to an increase in 
ordinary income. However, as expenses will increase ahead of 
profits, we expect ordinary profit and net income to decrease.

The impact of the acquisition of shares of Seven Card 
Service Co., Ltd., which was announced on April 6, 2023, 
and of the resulting change in subsidiaries on the Bank’s 
consolidated financial results for fiscal 2023 is under scrutiny 
and will be announced when the financial results for the first 
quarter are announced.

(Consolidated business results forecast)

Fiscal 2023

Year-over-year 
change

Ordinary income 166,500 million yen Up 7.4%

Ordinary profit 24,500 million yen Down 15.2%

Net income attributable 
to owners of the parent 16,500 million yen Down 12.4%

* Foreign exchange rate assumed: USD1.00 = JPY135.00

(Non-consolidated business results forecast of the Bank)

Fiscal 2023

Year-over-year 
change

Ordinary income 123,000 million yen Up 2.0%

Ordinary profit 26,000 million yen Down 17.4%

Net income 18,000 million yen Down 7.7%

Summary of Cash Flows of Fiscal 2022

Outlook for Fiscal 2023

Major risks related to Seven Bank’s business and other areas 
that have been recognized by management as possibly 
having significant effects on the financial condition, operating 
results, and cash flows of the consolidated companies are 
listed below. Moreover, items that may not qualify as such 
but are deemed important for investment decisions of 
investors are also disclosed below, for the purpose of 
proactive disclosure to investors. Risks related to the Bank’s 
business and other areas are not limited to those stated, and 
the Bank does not guarantee that it is free from risks other 
than those stated, including those that are unidentified.

Certain items in this section may contain forward-looking 
statements. However, unless otherwise stated, all judgments 
were made at the end of the consolidated fiscal year under 
review.

Under the Basic Policy on Risk Control, which is 
determined by the Bank’s Board of Directors, the Bank has 
established Bank-wide risk management policies, 
management policies for specific risks, and a risk 
management organization and structure as a framework to 
appropriately recognize and manage various types of risks in 
its operations. In addition, for appropriate risk management, 
the Bank has established a Risk Management Committee, 
an Asset-Liability Management (ALM) Committee, and a 
Security Committee as advisory bodies to the Executive 
Committee with respect to risks; the Risk Management 
Division, which is responsible for supervising overall Bank-
wide risk management activities; and risk management 
divisions for managing specific types of risk.

1. Risk Relating to Our Business Strategy
(1) Domestic Business Segment
Seven Bank substantially depends on the ATM platform 
business for its revenues. The Bank is steadily increasing the 
number of ATMs, developing and offering its proprietary new 
ATM services as well as enhancing security, to increase 
customers’ convenience and sense of security. However, 
changes that threaten the ATM platform business model, 
such as those described below, could affect the Bank’s 
results and financial position.
A) Increase in the use of non-cash payment methods
The further increase in the use of non-cash payment 
methods in the future could reduce the number of ATM 
transactions, which could affect the Bank’s results.

To increase the number of ATM transactions even in such 
an environment, the Bank will strive to create new ATM 
services that go beyond conventional concepts, including 
services that enable charging (loading money onto) electronic 
money for public transportation and QR and bar-code 
settlement, ATM pick-up (cash receiving services), and 
transactions using Individual Number Cards to expand their 
social value.

B) Growing competition from other ATM networks
Seven Bank competes with companies installing ATMs at 
convenience stores and other locations outside the Group. In 
addition, competition with financial institutions that have ATM 
networks could increase if these institutions actively expand 
their ATM networks.

In the future, increased competition with these companies 
could cause such challenges as a decrease in the number of 
users of the Bank’s ATMs or a decrease in ATM-related fee 
income, which could affect the Bank’s results and financial 
position.
C) Changes in economic conditions
The level of ATM-related fee income that Seven Bank 
charges its partners is judged by both parties to be 
reasonable. However, the level of the ATM-related fee income 
may decline, or failure to agree on ATM-related fee income 
levels may dissolve partnerships, which could affect the 
Bank’s results and financial position.
D) Difficulty in securing ATM locations
Seven Bank has in a stable manner secured and expanded 
locations for ATMs, centered on the Seven & i Group stores, 
and is expanding the installation of ATMs at commercial 
facilities and other non-Group sites. In the future, however, 
obstacles to maintaining or expanding ATM locations could 
affect the Bank’s results.
E)  Effect of amendment of laws, etc. on partner 

companies’ business
An amendment of a law or regulation, etc., related to the 
business of a partner company that results in a substantial 
decrease in the use of Seven Bank’s ATMs by the customers 
of such partner company could cause a decline in ATM-
related fee income and other outcomes that could affect the 
Bank’s results.
F) Higher interest rates
Seven Bank procures necessary cash for its ATM platform 
business through deposits, bonds, and other means. The 
cost of this fund procurement is influenced by market interest 
rate trends.

The Bank takes appropriate steps to minimize the impact 
of interest rate fluctuations, such as procuring long-term 
funds at fixed rates. However, substantial interest rate 
fluctuations could cause an unanticipated rise in fund 
procurement costs, which could affect the Bank’s results and 
financial position.

In addition, Seven Bank offers ordinary deposits and time 
deposits, personal loans, and international money transfer 
services for individuals, and debit card service, as well as 
back-office support on commission for other financial 
institutions through its domestic consolidated subsidiary. 
However, there is no guarantee that these services will 
successfully expand.

In addition, Seven Bank may offer new services or 
establish other new businesses that it is not currently 
handling to expand its business domain but cannot 

Risk Factors
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guarantee that they will succeed. When expanding new 
businesses, the Bank may also establish new consolidated 
subsidiaries, engage in M&A or form capital alliances with 
other corporations. However, the inability of the Bank to 
realize the initially expected effect of these strategic 
investments and to achieve its strategic objectives could 
affect the Bank’s results and financial position.

(2) Overseas Business Segment
A) Country risks
Seven Bank has consolidated subsidiaries that operate ATMs 
in the United States, Indonesia, and the Philippines. The 
future occurrence of major changes in the political or 
economic environment surrounding these consolidated 
subsidiaries, an unforeseen event such as a natural disaster, 
or poor business performance of these consolidated 
subsidiaries could affect the Bank’s results.
B) Higher interest rates and foreign exchange risks
In its overseas business, Seven Bank procures necessary 
cash for its ATM business from financial institutions and other 
sources. However, rising market interest rates could affect 
the Bank’s results. In addition, exchange rate fluctuations 
could decrease the Bank’s profits.
C) Risks of crime, etc.
The above consolidated subsidiaries are expanding the 
number of ATMs installed in response to strong demand for 
ATM installation. However, the locations for ATMs include 
some areas where security is more unstable than in Japan. 
The Bank takes adequate security measures, assuming a 
variety of crimes. However, ATMs may be damaged or cash in 
ATMs may be stolen as a result of a physical attack on ATMs 
or other unexpected crimes, which could result in a loss.

(3) Impairment of Fixed Assets
Seven Bank holds tangible fixed assets and intangible fixed 
assets including goodwill. Factors such as worsening 
profitability of assets held or consolidated subsidiaries or a 
decline in the value of other assets could make it necessary 
to record impairment of these assets, which could affect the 
Bank’s results and financial position.

2. System Failure
Seven Bank has established Systems Risk Rules to articulate 
its fundamental policies related to system risk management 
and, by developing and operating its systems based on the 
rules, it is striving to realize efficient system development, 
improved system quality, and stable system operations. In 
addition, the Bank has adopted a system configuration that 
employs two system centers that are always in operation, 
redundant server network equipment, and 24/365 monitoring 
operations, as well as the implementation of other system 
failure countermeasures. In addition, in accordance with the 
importance of files, programs, etc., the Bank performs data 
backups and has taken measures for remote-location data 
storage in preparation for unexpected situations.

However, it is impossible to completely eliminate the 
danger of system function interruptions due to failure 

resulting from factors, including such natural disasters as 
large earthquakes and typhoons, power outages, network 
failure, computer viruses, or human error. Such interruptions 
could affect the Bank’s results.

3. External Contractors
Seven Bank outsources key tasks, including ATM cash 
replenishment, development and operation of various 
systems, ATM security and management, and call center 
operations. In addition, the Bank outsources cash card 
issuance and mail delivery for new deposit accounts.

Relationships with these external contractors are currently 
satisfactory. However, increasing fees resulting from 
deterioration of their operating environments or difficulties in 
continuing to provide services for any reason could affect the 
Bank’s results.

4. Relationship with Seven & i Group
Overall, Seven Bank determines issues, including business 
strategy, personnel policy, and capital policy autonomously 
after independent consideration. However, the Bank operates 
its ATM platform business by installing ATMs primarily in the 
stores of companies that are part of the Seven & i Group.
(1) Equity Relationship
Seven Bank is a consolidated subsidiary of Seven & i 
Holdings Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) which is listed on the 
Prime Section of the Tokyo Stock Exchange. As of March 
31, 2023, the Company controls 46.28% of the voting rights 
of Seven Bank. The Company is expected to remain a major 
Seven Bank shareholder, and the Bank cannot guarantee 
that the Company will not influence its policies and decisions.
(2) Transactional Relationships
As of March 31, 2023, Seven Bank had installed 23,307 
ATMs at the Group stores (22,619 ATMs at 7-Eleven stores, 
263 ATMs at Ito-Yokado stores, and 425 ATMs at other 
locations in the Group). In addition, the Bank has installed 
3,606 ATMs at locations other than the Group stores. Thus, 
approximately 90% of the Bank’s ATMs are installed at the 
Group stores. Difficulties in keeping ATMs installed at the 
Group stores or a marked decrease in customers at the 
Group stores could affect the Bank’s results.

In addition, Seven Bank pays ATM installation fees to the 
Group, but major changes in fee terms could affect the 
Bank’s results.

5. Response to Financial Crime
Seven Bank’s business consists primarily of the execution of 
non-face-to-face transactions, mainly via ATMs. As such, the 
Bank undertakes strict customer due diligence when 
customers apply to open new accounts. In addition, the Bank 
monitors the status of usage of ATMs and accounts to prevent 
them from being abused for financial crimes and focuses on 
protecting customers. However, reputation damage and other 
factors arising from a temporary failure to keep pace with 
increasingly intricate and sophisticated criminal techniques 
could affect the Bank’s social standing or its results.

6. Litigation
To date, Seven Bank has not been involved in significant 
litigation. In addition, with a focus on preventative measures, 
the Bank is working to minimize litigation risk in consultation 
with attorneys who specialize in this area. However, there is 
no guarantee that the Bank will not be subject to litigation or 
disputes that could affect its results and financial position in 
the future, resulting from legal issues, such as legal violations 
or inadequate contractual agreements.

7. Effects of Legal Amendments
Seven Bank operates its businesses in compliance with 
current laws and regulations. However, the contents or 
effects of future legal amendments are difficult to predict or 
control. Consequently, there is no guarantee that in the future 
the Bank will be able to continue to execute its business 
under initial assumptions.

8. Regulations
Based on the regulations in Article 4, Paragraph 1 of the 
Banking Law, Seven Bank has received a license to operate 
in the banking business (Financial Supervisory Agency 
License Number 1812) that enables it to take deposits, 
handle currency exchange, make loans, and conduct other 
relevant business. However, based on the regulations in 
Article 4, Paragraph 4 of the Banking Law (see note), Seven 
Bank’s banking license is subject to certain conditions. 
Future new businesses such as foreign currency-
denominated accounts will require the approval of the 
commissioner of the Financial Services Agency as the head 
of the supervisory authority.

Based on the progress in application for approval, Seven 
Bank may not be able to develop new businesses as 
planned, which could affect the Bank’s results.

In addition, regarding the banking business, Articles 26 
and 27 of the Banking Law specify prerequisites for issues, 
including suspension of operations and license revocation, 
respectively. If these prerequisites are applicable, the Bank 
may be legally required to suspend its operations or its 
license may be revoked.

The Bank is currently aware of no reason for these 
measures to be taken. However, future suspension of 
operations or license revocation for any reason could 
obstruct the Bank’s business activities and could materially 
affect the Bank’s results.
Note:  Article 4, Paragraph 4 of the Banking Law: When the prime minister deems it 

necessary for the public interest based on consideration of the regulations of the 
preceding two paragraphs, the prime minister may attach conditions to the license 
of the first paragraph and modify the license to the extent necessary.

9. Capital Adequacy Ratio
Seven Bank does not have sales bases overseas. Therefore, 
Seven Bank must maintain a ratio of non-consolidated net 
assets to total assets above 4% according to the domestic 
standard specified by “Criteria for Judging Whether A 
Financial Institution’s Own Capital Is Sufficient in Light of the 
Assets Held, etc. under the Provision of Article 14-2 of the 
Banking Law (Notification Number 19 of 2006, the Financial 
Services Agency).”

Currently, Seven Bank’s non-consolidated capital 
adequacy ratio substantially exceeds the relevant standard. 
However, the Bank may be unable to meet its required 
capital adequacy standard if various business or other risks 
specified by the relevant provisions materialize or the 
regulations or other relevant items change in the future.

10. Personal Information Leakage
Through its banking business, Seven Bank possesses a 
large amount of customer information, including personal 
information. As a business handling personal information 
as specified by Act on the Protection of Personal 
Information, the Bank announces or otherwise publicizes 
the purpose for using personal information, safely 
administers personal information, duly considers requests 
for disclosure of personal information on file from the 
individual, and ensures thorough awareness within the 
Bank to that effect as stipulated by in-house personal 
information management regulations. Furthermore, the 
Bank concludes the memoranda with, and conducts strict, 
thorough management of the handling of personal 
information by, subcontractors. However, serious damage 
to customers from large-scale information leakage may 
result in orders or punitive measures from regulatory 
authorities, claims for damages, and reputation damage. 
These and other factors may affect the Bank’s results and 
financial position.

11. Reduced Liquidity due to Ratings Downgrade
Seven Bank currently has a long-term issuer rating of A with 
a stable outlook and a short-term issuer rating of A-1 from 
S&P Global Ratings. The Bank also has an issuer rating of 
AA- with a stable outlook from Rating & Investment 
Information, Inc.

However, there is no guarantee that the Bank can maintain 
these ratings in the future. A rating downgrade may affect 
the Bank’s capital and fund procurement.

12. Securing Personnel
Securing the personnel required to continuously expand as a 
bank centered on the ATM platform business, and to develop 
new businesses, is an essential part of Seven Bank’s 
business strategy.

Seven Bank competes for personnel not only with other 
financial institutions, but also with Internet service-related 
businesses, systems-related businesses, and other entities. 
Consequently, an inability to continually hire, train, and retain 
required personnel may affect the Bank’s results and future 
development.

13. Reputation
Seven Bank has established Reputation Risk Rules that set 
the range of reputation risks to be recognized as follows.
•  Gossip and rumors among customers, in markets, on the 

Internet, on social media, in e-mail, etc. (hereinafter 
“rumors”)
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•  Rumors caused by inaccurate or inadequate reporting by 
mass media

•  A negative public image caused by an inappropriate 
response to accidents, such as system failure, personal 
information leakage or operational error, or a fundamental 
management problem

•  Rumors related to financial institutions that are partners in 
the ATM business, external contractors, or other partners
Seven Bank’s basic policy is to respond to these 

reputation risks accurately and urgently, based on the facts. 
The Bank will take care to prevent the generation of rumors 
that may damage it. It also has a framework in place to 
minimize damage by responding appropriately internally and 
externally in the event that one of the above-noted risks 
materializes.

However, because Seven Bank has many business 
partners and external contractors, it could become involved 
in various difficulties even if it is not to blame, which has the 
potential to affect the Bank’s reputation and results.

14. Outbreak and Spread of Infectious Diseases
As a response to outbreaks and spread of infectious 
diseases, Seven Bank has established a system to prevent 
infections for its employees and external contractors, by 
implementing such measures as promoting work from home 
and staggered working hours, having employees take 

temperature when they come to work, and holding meetings 
online, whether they are internal or external ones. However, if 
the infections spread, it may disrupt the operations of Seven 
Bank and affect the Bank’s results.

15. Soaring Labor Costs and Prices
Rising resource prices against the backdrop of the situation 
in Ukraine, and rising labor costs due to structural labor 
shortages may lead to an increase in ATM operation 
expenses and parts procurement costs, which may disrupt 
the operations of Seven Bank and affect the Bank’s results.

16. Impacts of Climate Change
Increased frequency of natural disasters such as torrential 
rains, typhoons, and floods caused by climate change may 
damage Seven Bank’s facilities including ATMs. If this 
happens, it may disrupt the Bank’s operating activities, and if 
the impact is prolonged, economic activities may be 
restricted and the number of ATM transactions may 
decrease, which could affect the Bank’s results.

Seven Bank positions climate change as one of the 
important management issues. For this reason, we endorsed 
the TCFD recommendations in December 2021. In 
accordance with the TCFD framework, the Bank will examine 
the impact of climate change on its business activities and 
disclose the results as they become available.

The Bank’s group comprises 14 companies, i.e., the Bank 
and its nine consolidated subsidiaries (FCTI, Inc., PT. ABADI 
TAMBAH MULIA INTERNASIONAL, Bank Business Factory 
Co., Ltd., Seven Payment Service, Ltd., Pito AxM Platform, 
Inc., Seven Global Remit, Ltd., ACSiON, Ltd., Credd 
Finance, Ltd., and Viva Vida Medical Life Co., Ltd.) and four 
affiliates (Seven Pay Co., Ltd., TORANOTEC Ltd., 
TORANOTEC Asset Management Ltd., and Metaps 
Payment Inc.), operating in each business field in Japan 
and overseas.

In Japan, the Bank’s group provides ATM services and 
financial services. Overseas, it provides ATM services in the 
United States, Indonesia, and the Philippines.

The Bank and each of its group companies are structured 
via businesses as follows.

Regarding the provision of ATM services, the Bank’s group 
installed ATMs in stores such as Seven-Eleven and Ito-
Yokado belonging to companies of the Seven & i Group 
(hereinafter referred to as the “Group”), as well as at 
airports, stations and branches of financial institutions. By 
cooperating with numerous domestic financial institutions, 
the Bank’s group provides ATM services to many customers 
using its convenient ATM network which operates 24/365 
in principle.

Regarding the provision of financial services, the Bank’s 
group provides ubiquitous and convenient account services 
such as ordinary deposits, time deposits, loan services, 
international money transfer services and debit services for 
customers who have an account with the Bank. The Bank’s 
group is also developing financial services that meet the 
needs of various customers by utilizing the knowledge of 
the Bank’s group and collaborating with external 
corporations.

FCTI, Inc., a consolidated subsidiary of the Bank, is working 
on installing ATMs at 7-Eleven stores in the United States, 
and developing ATM services.

PT. ABADI TAMBAH MULIA INTERNASIONAL, a 
consolidated subsidiary of the Bank in Indonesia, is engaged 
in local ATM services. Moreover, Pito AxM Platform, Inc., a 
consolidated subsidiary of the Bank in the Philippines, is 
working on installing ATMs at 7-Eleven stores and developing 
ATM services.

As stated above, the Bank’s group has been promoting 
initiatives towards diversification of businesses and services 
with the aim of the sustainable creation of both social value 
and corporate value while recognizing changes in a diverse 
society as substantial business opportunities.

(1) Domestic Business Segment

(2) Overseas Business Segment

Status of the Corporate Group

■ Operating System of Seven Bank and Its Group Companies

Customers

Provision of ATM services Provision of financial 
services, etc. 

Other 
affiliates, etc.

Funding, 
provision of 
locations for
installation, etc.

ATM 
placement 
fee expenses

Consolidated 
subsidiaries (Japan)

6 in total

Seven Global 
Remit, Ltd.

ACSiON, Ltd.

VIVA VIDA MEDICAL 
LIFE CO., LTD.

Credd 
Finance, Ltd.

Seven Payment 
Service, Ltd.

Bank Business 
Factory Co., Ltd.

Equity-method 
affiliates
4 in total

Consolidated 
subsidiaries (overseas)

3 in total

FCTI, Inc. 
(US)

Pito AxM 
Platform, Inc. 
(Philippines)

PT. ABADI 
TAMBAH MULIA 
INTERNASIONAL 

(Indonesia)

Seven-Eleven Japan Co., Ltd.
Ito-Yokado Co., Ltd., etc.

Seven Bank, Ltd. (the Bank)
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Management Policy, Management Environment, Issues to be Addressed, etc.

number of ATM transactions was record high since the 
establishment of the Bank due to reasons such as a 
significant increase in the number of cash charge 
transactions with QR and bar-code settlement companies 
in addition to cash deposit and withdrawal transactions 
with financial institutions, which were historically handled 
by the Bank. Recognizing that changes in the settlement 
environment are opportunities for new ATM services, the 
Bank will continue its efforts to provide customers with 
secure and convenient services through ATMs as an 
important interface between non-virtual and virtual 
transactions even in the movement toward adopting 
digitalized and cashless payment systems.

•  The installation of fourth-generation ATMs began in 
September 2019, and due to progress with replacement, 
the number of fourth-generation ATMs has reached 50% of 
the total number of ATMs. Utilizing the newly implemented 
functions (personal authentication function, scanning 
function, etc.) of the fourth-generation ATM, the Bank will 
provide services to accept various applications to financial 
institutions through ATMs on a full scale. The Bank will 
expand the areas in which such application acceptance 
services are available and enhance the services going 
forward, aiming to create a world where Seven Bank’s 
ATMs serve as a service platform for windows for various 
procedures and certification.

■ Retail Strategy
•  In the financial retail field, in addition to conventional 

financial institutions, various companies, such as Fintech 
companies, are appearing one after another and 
competing, which propels unbundling and diversification of 
financial services. Under such circumstances, the Bank will 
strengthen cooperation with the Seven & i Holdings Group, 
including cooperation with “7iD” that boasts approximately 
28 million members, and expand its efforts to develop and 
provide exceptional financial products unique to a bank 
that originated in a distribution group.

•  Under the circumstances where foreign residents are 
increasing in Japan, the Bank’s group has provided multiple 
financial services for foreign residents such as overseas 
remittance, credit cards and insurance products. The Bank 
will continue to contribute to the realization of a multi-
cultural society, aiming to create a society where all 
members can live comfortably by providing financial 
services for foreign residents consistently.

■ Corporate Strategy
•  The Bank has strived to expand the services it provides for 

financial institutions and general businesses such as 
bank-quality administrative skills, safe and secure fund 
management/fund transfer mechanisms, and high-security 
technologies including authentication, which are the Bank’s 
strengths accumulated since its founding. In recent years, 
the Bank has quickly adopted the evolving DX technology, 
and aims to expand the scale of business through 
collaboration with external companies.

<Overseas Business Segment>
■ Overseas Strategy
•  In the United States, fund procurement costs have 

increased due to the rise in U.S. interest rates. The Bank 
will take measures to minimize the impact of the market 
interest rates by means such as formulating measures for 
cash reduction in ATMs. At the same time, the Bank aims 
to strengthen its customer base in the United States 
market and diversify its business by providing financial 
services that meet the needs of consumers while 
promoting the expansion of use of ATMs and stores where 
ATMs are installed by utilizing an ATM network of 
approximately 8,600 ATMs installed at United States 
7-Eleven stores and providing new financial services and 
high-quality customer experience. 

•  In Asia, the Bank is developing ATM services in two 
countries, Indonesia and the Philippines, and accelerating 
the expansion of the number of ATMs installed. In both 
countries, high demand is expected to continue as there 
are not enough ATMs installed that users need in their daily 
lives. The Bank will promote the development of ATM 
networks in both countries and then, using ATMs as an 
introduction, strive to bring about multi-layered financial 
services.

The environment surrounding the Bank’s group is changing 
dramatically. The group’s stance of always listening to and 
responding to the thoughts of customers, which the group 
has valued since its establishment, will not change.

The Bank’s group will continue to take on the challenge of 
creating original and new value as a unique bank that 
succeeds in being close-by, convenient, reliable and secure.

1. Purpose of Seven Bank
Create a better version of daily life by going beyond the 
wishes of our customers.

2. Management Ethos
a.  We aspire to be a trusted financial service provider that 

fully meets customer needs
b.  We act to promptly introduce the benefits of technical 

innovation and pursue self-development.
c.  We strive to contribute to the stability and advancement of 

the financial system by providing a secure and efficient 
payment infrastructure.

3. Basic Management Policy
Seven Bank is working to offer safe, accurate, and speedy 
banking services deeply embedded in customers’ daily lives 
as their “wallets.” We aim to achieve this by creating a 
network of ATMs accessible 24 hours a day, 365 days a 
year, in principle, utilizing the 20,000-plus retail locations of 
Seven & i Holdings and its operating companies led by 
7-Eleven convenience stores.

The Bank operates under an ethos of coexistence and co-
prosperity by encouraging other financial institutions to make 
use of its easily accessible ATMs, thereby enhancing 
customer services and improving business efficiency.

Further, by proactively offering financial services sought by 
customers of the Group, we are working to attract a wider 
range of customers to the Group stores more often, and we 
will continue to pursue synergies to enhance the Group’s 
profitability.

To respond to significant changes in the business environment 
and sustainably improve its corporate value, the Bank is 
promoting business diversification to strengthen its profit 
structure. In the Medium-Term Management Plan formulated 
in May 2021 to maximize the long-term sustainability and 
growth potential of the Group, the Bank is promoting 
measures that place the highest priority on expanding 
consolidated ordinary income. As indicators to assess the 
level of implementation of the Medium-Term Management 
Plan, the Bank had earlier set the following consolidated KPIs 
for the final year of the plan. However, based on the progress 
of its current business performance, the Bank announced on 
May 12, 2023 that it would update these KPIs.

Results for 
FY2022

Target for 
FY2025

(as originally 
planned)

Target for 
FY2025

(updated)

Consolidated 
ordinary income

154,900 
million yen

170,000 
million yen

250,000 
million yen

Consolidated 
ordinary profit

28,900 
million yen

35,000 
million yen

45,000 
million yen

ROE 7.6% 8.0% or more 8.0% or more

The business environment surrounding the Bank’s group is 
undergoing rapid changes, including soaring prices and 
rising interest rates both at home and abroad, diversification 
of payment methods due to the development of digital 
technology, the entry into the financial sector of businesses 
from other industries, and heightened awareness of 
environmental and social issues. The Group recognizes that 
there is a need for flexible management that is more than 
ever sensitive to changes in society and diversification of 
customer needs and rapidly incorporates the results of 
technological innovation.

In addition, social issues such as widening disparities and 
climate change are becoming more apparent and serious, 
leading to an era when businesses, as members of society, 
are required to face these issues more sincerely than ever 
before to seek solutions.

“Create a better version of daily life by going beyond the 
wishes of our customers.” This is the purpose of the Group. 
Based on this purpose, Seven Bank will strive to achieve 
sustainable growth as a unique bank that is close to 
customers’ lives, offering convenience, reliability and trust.

We have formulated the Medium-Term Management Plan 
(FY2021 - FY2025), designating the five years through 2025 
as a period to grow in a sustainable manner and to 
materialize the second phase of growth. Under the Medium-
Term Management Plan, we will promote the following three 
basic measures.

<Basic Measures>
(1)  Reform of the Group’s core ATM platform business and 

business diversification in strategic business fields through 
aggressive investment

(2)  Setting sustainability at the core of its long-term 
management strategy, the Group will contribute to 
addressing serious and emerging social issues through its 
business activities and continuously promote the creation 
of new value for both society and businesses.

(3)  Promotion of corporate transformation in both businesses 
and operations as driving forces for sustainable growth

The Bank's group sees changes in the business environment 
as opportunities for further reform and leap, and by 
addressing the following issues, the group will aim to realize 
sustainable growth and continue to be a company that is 
needed by customers and society.

<Domestic Business Segment>
■ ATM Platform Strategy
•  Although the ATM cash-based platform business, which 

has been the Bank’s core business thus far, is now at a 
major turning point due to the advancement of cashless 
payments and other developments, the Bank’s total annual 

(1) Management Policies

(2) Target Management Indicators

(3) Management Issues

(4) Medium- to Long-Term Management Strategies

(5) Issues to Be Addressed
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Consolidated Balance Sheets Seven Bank, Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries
As of March 31, 2023 and 2022 Consolidated Statements of Income Seven Bank, Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries

For the fiscal years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022

Millions of yen

2023 2022

Assets:
Cash and due from banks (Notes 3, 4, 5 and 7) .................................................... ¥   952,027 ¥   931,404

Call loans (Note 5) ................................................................................................ 28,000 —

Securities (Notes 5, 6, 7 and 8) ............................................................................. 99,651 89,945 

Loans (Notes 5 and 8) .......................................................................................... 35,111 28,056 

Foreign exchanges (Note 8) .................................................................................. 0 0 

ATM-related temporary payments (Note 5) ............................................................ 98,296 84,461 

Tangible fixed assets (Notes 9 and 30) .................................................................. 30,256 26,571 

Intangible fixed assets (Note 10) ........................................................................... 34,350 33,593 

Asset for retirement benefits (Note 16)  ................................................................. 1,113 1,051 

Deferred tax assets (Note 26)  .............................................................................. 4,712 2,979 

Other assets (Notes 5, 7, 8, 11 and 32)  ............................................................... 30,273 24,062 

Allowance for credit losses (Note 5) ...................................................................... (1,521) (504)

Total assets ...................................................................................................... ¥1,312,273 ¥1,221,623

Liabilities:
Deposits (Notes 5 and 12) .................................................................................... ¥   821,508 ¥   790,687

Call money (Note 5) .............................................................................................. 50,000 —

Borrowed money (Notes 5 and 13) ....................................................................... 9,958 1,936 

Bonds (Notes 5 and 14) ........................................................................................ 85,000 105,000 

Income taxes payable  .......................................................................................... 6,306 4,321 

ATM-related temporary advances (Note 5) ............................................................ 54,773 49,233 

Reserve for bonuses  ............................................................................................ 826 789 

Liability for retirement benefits (Note 16)  .............................................................. 15 13 

Reserve for stocks payment  ................................................................................ 631 774 

Deferred tax liabilities (Note 26) ............................................................................. 34 3

Other liabilities (Notes 15, 29 and 31).................................................................... 28,975 24,749 

Total liabilities .................................................................................................... 1,058,031 977,509 

Net assets (Notes 17 and 27):
Shareholders’ equity:

Common stock, authorized 4,763,632 thousand shares,
issued 1,179,308 thousand shares as of March 31, 2023 and 2022 ............. 30,724 30,724

Capital surplus .................................................................................................. 30,864 30,764 

Retained earnings ............................................................................................. 182,431 176,549 

Treasury stock, at cost, 3,098 thousand shares as of March 31, 2023 and  
3,982 thousand shares as of March 31, 2022 ............................................... (900) (1,173)

Total shareholders’ equity  .................................................................................... 243,120 236,864 

Accumulated other comprehensive income:

Net unrealized gains on available-for-sale securities,  
net of taxes (Note 6)  .................................................................................... 500 606 

Foreign currency translation adjustments  ......................................................... 6,783 4,714 

Accumulated adjustments for retirement benefits (Note 16)  ............................. 226 320 

Total accumulated other comprehensive income .................................................. 7,510 5,641 

Non-controlling interests  ...................................................................................... 3,611 1,606 

Total net assets ................................................................................................ 254,242 244,113 

Total liabilities and net assets  ........................................................................... ¥1,312,273 ¥1,221,623
See accompanying notes.

Millions of yen

2023 2022

Income:

Interest income  .................................................................................................... ¥    4,932 ¥    4,032

Interest on loans  .............................................................................................. 4,669 3,890 

Interest and dividends on securities  ................................................................. 85 34 

Interest on call loans  ........................................................................................ 39 5

Other interest income  ...................................................................................... 137 102 

Fees and commissions income (Note 18)  ............................................................ 147,718 131,320 

Other operating income (Note 20)  ........................................................................ 488 390 

Other income (Note 22)  ....................................................................................... 1,851 1,359 

Total income  .................................................................................................... 154,990 137,103 

Expenses:

Interest expenses  ................................................................................................ 815 602 

Interest on deposits  ......................................................................................... 33 45 

Interest on call money  ...................................................................................... (25) (4)

Interest on borrowed money  ............................................................................ 346 94 

Interest on bonds  ............................................................................................ 460 466 

Fees and commissions expenses (Notes 19 and 29)  ........................................... 42,258 35,690 

General and administrative expenses (Note 21)  ................................................... 80,195 70,371 

Other expenses (Notes 23 and 24)  ...................................................................... 4,297 3,284 

Total expenses  ................................................................................................. 127,566 109,948 

Income before income taxes  .............................................................................. 27,423 27,154 

Income taxes (Note 26)

Current  ........................................................................................................ 10,030 8,772

Deferred  ...................................................................................................... (1,167) (2,300)

Total income taxes  ................................................................................... 8,863 6,471 

Net income  ......................................................................................................... 18,560 20,682 

Net loss attributable to non-controlling interests  ............................................... (294) (144)

Net income attributable to owners of the parent  ............................................... ¥  18,854 ¥  20,827

Amounts per share of common stock (Note 33):
Yen

2023 2022

Net assets ............................................................................................................ ¥  213.08 ¥  206.33

Net income ........................................................................................................... 16.03 17.71

Cash dividends applicable to the year (Note 27) ................................................... 11.00 11.00

See accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income Seven Bank, Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries
For the fiscal years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022 Consolidated Statements of Changes in Net Assets Seven Bank, Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries

For the fiscal years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022

Millions of yen

2023 2022

Net income  ......................................................................................................... ¥18,560 ¥20,682

Other comprehensive income (Note 25)

Net unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities, net of taxes  ............ (106) 166

Foreign currency translation adjustments  ......................................................... 2,100 1,353

Adjustments for retirement benefits (Note 16)  .................................................. (94) (38)

Total other comprehensive income  ............................................................. 1,898 1,480

Comprehensive income  ...................................................................................... ¥20,459 ¥22,163

Comprehensive income attributable to:

Owners of the parent  ....................................................................................... ¥20,723 ¥22,261

Non-controlling interests  .................................................................................. (264) (98)

See accompanying notes.

Millions of yen

Shareholders’ equity

Common 
stock

Capital 
surplus

Retained 
earnings

Treasury 
stock

Total 
shareholders’ 

equity

Balance at April 1, 2021  ................................. ¥30,724 ¥30,724 ¥168,694 ¥(1,081) ¥229,061

Changes in items during the period  ................
Cash dividends  ......................................... (12,972) (12,972)
Net income attributable to owners of the parent  ... 20,827 20,827
Purchase of treasury stock  .......................... (97) (97)
Disposal of treasury stock  ........................... 6 6
Change in capital surplus due to change in 

equity of consolidated subsidiaries .......... 39 39
Net changes in items other than shareholders’ equity  ...

Net changes in items during the period  ... 39 7,854 (91) 7,802
Balance at April 1, 2022  ................................. ¥30,724 ¥30,764 ¥176,549 ¥(1,173) ¥236,864

Changes in items during the period  ..................
Cash dividends  ......................................... (12,972) (12,972)

Net income attributable to owners of the parent  ... 18,854 18,854

Purchase of treasury stock  .......................... (0) (0)

Disposal of treasury stock  ........................... 272 272
Change in capital surplus due to change in 

equity of consolidated subsidiaries .......... 99 99

Net changes in items other than shareholders’ equity  ...
Net changes in items during the period  ... 99 5,882 272 6,255

Balance at March 31, 2023  ............................ ¥30,724 ¥30,864 ¥182,431 ¥   (900) ¥243,120

Millions of yen

Accumulated other comprehensive income

Net
 unrealized 
gains on 
available-
for-sale 

securities,
net of taxes

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
adjustments

Accumulated 
adjustments 
for retirement 

benefits

Total 
accumulated 

other 
comprehensive 

income

Non-controlling 
interests

Total
net assets

Balance at April 1, 2021  ................................. ¥ 440 ¥3,407 ¥359 ¥4,207 ¥1,407 ¥234,676

Changes in items during the period  ................
Cash dividends  ......................................... (12,972)
Net income attributable to owners of the parent  ... 20,827
Purchase of treasury stock  .......................... (97) 
Disposal of treasury stock  ........................... 6
Change in capital surplus due to change in 

equity of consolidated subsidiaries  ............ 39

Net changes in items other than shareholders’ equity  ... 166 1,307 (38) 1,434 199 1,634
Net changes in items during the period  ... 166 1,307 (38) 1,434 199 9,437

Balance at April 1, 2022  ................................. ¥ 606 ¥4,714 ¥320 ¥5,641 ¥1,606 ¥244,113

Changes in items during the period  ................
Cash dividends  ......................................... (12,972)

Net income attributable to owners of the parent  ... 18,854

Purchase of treasury stock  .......................... (0) 
Disposal of treasury stock  ........................... 272
Change in capital surplus due to change in 

equity of consolidated subsidiaries  ............ 99

Net changes in items other than shareholders’ equity  ... (106) 2,069 (94) 1,868 2,004 3,873
Net changes in items during the period  ... (106) 2,069 (94) 1,868 2,004 10,128

Balance at March 31, 2023  ............................ ¥ 500 ¥6,783 ¥226 ¥7,510 ¥3,611 ¥254,242
See accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Seven Bank, Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries
For the fiscal years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Seven Bank, Ltd. and its consolidated subsidiaries

As of and for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022

Millions of yen

2023 2022

Cash flows from operating activities:

Income before income taxes  ................................................................................ ¥  27,423 ¥  27,154
Adjustments to reconcile income before income taxes 

to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation of fixed assets  ............................................................................. 19,526 16,388 
Impairment losses  ........................................................................................... 1,254 763
Amortization of goodwill .................................................................................... 30 —
Equity in losses of affiliates  ............................................................................... 576 694 
Net change in allowance for credit losses  ........................................................ 1,017 415
Net change in reserve for bonuses ................................................................... 15 164 
Net change in asset or liability for retirement benefits  ....................................... (182) (190)
Net change in reserve for stocks payment  ....................................................... (142) 140 
Interest income  ................................................................................................ (4,932) (4,032)
Interest expenses  ............................................................................................ 815 602 
Net losses related to securities  ........................................................................ (441) 65
Net losses on disposal of fixed assets  ............................................................. 246 753
Gain on change in equity  ................................................................................. — (415)
Net change in loans  ......................................................................................... (7,054) (3,727)
Net change in deposits  .................................................................................... 30,820 7,278
Net change in borrowed money  ....................................................................... 8,318 1,228
Net change in due from banks, excluding cash equivalents  ............................. (1.591) —
Net change in call loans  ................................................................................... (28,000) —
Net change in call money ................................................................................. 50,000 —
Net change in bonds due to issuance and redemption  .................................... (20,000) —
Net change in ATM-related temporary accounts  .............................................. (8,291) 1,472
Interest received  .............................................................................................. 5,083 4,181 
Interest paid ..................................................................................................... (820) (642)
Other – net  ...................................................................................................... 1,145 (2,273)

Subtotal  ..................................................................................................... 74,818 50,023 
Income taxes paid  ........................................................................................... (8,268) (8,734)
Income taxes refund  ........................................................................................ 27 22

Net cash provided by operating activities .................................................... 66,577 41,311 

Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchase of securities  ...................................................................................... (48,079) (23,739)
Proceeds from sales of securities ................................................................   .... 1,947 —
Proceeds from redemption of securities  ........................................................... 35,713 11,892 
Purchase of tangible fixed assets  ..................................................................... (13,328) (12,468)
Proceeds from sales of tangible fixed assets  .................................................... 6 19
Purchase of intangible fixed assets  .................................................................. (11,991) (11,817)
Purchase of shares in subsidiaries resulting in change in scope of consolidation  .... (459) —

Net cash used in investing activities  ............................................................ (36,191) (36,114)

Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from stock issuance to non-controlling interests  ............................... — 337
Dividends paid  ................................................................................................. (12,973) (12,967)
Purchase of treasury stock  .............................................................................. (0) (97)

Net cash used in financing activities  ........................................................... (12,973) (12,727)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  ....................... 1,440 989
Net change in cash and cash equivalents  .......................................................... 18,852 (6,541)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  ................................... 931,404 937,945
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year (Notes 3 and 4) .................... ¥950,256 ¥931,404 
See accompanying notes.

1.  Basis of Presenting Consolidated  
Financial Statements

(a)  The accompanying consolidated financial statements of 
Seven Bank, Ltd. (the “Bank”) and its consolidated 
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) have been 
prepared in accordance with the provisions set forth in 
the Japanese Financial Instruments and Exchange Law 
and its related accounting regulations, and in conformity 
with accounting principles and practices generally 
accepted in Japan (“Japanese GAAP”), which are 
different in certain respects as to application and 
disclosure requirements from International Financial 
Reporting Standards.

   The accompanying consolidated financial statements 
have been reclassified and translated into English (with 
some expanded descriptions) from the consolidated 
financial statements of the Group prepared in 
accordance with Japanese GAAP and filed with the 
appropriate Local Finance Bureau of the Ministry of 
Finance as required by the Financial Instruments and 
Exchange Law. Some supplementary information 
included in the statutory consolidated financial 
statements in Japanese, which is not required for fair 
presentation, is not presented in the accompanying 
consolidated financial statements.

(b)  In preparing the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements and notes, amounts less than one million 
Japanese yen have been rounded down to the nearest 
million, except for per share data, in accordance with the 
Financial Instruments and Exchange Law and 
Enforcement Ordinance concerning the Banking Law of 
Japan. Therefore, total or subtotal amounts shown in the 
accompanying consolidated financial statements and 
notes thereto are not necessarily equal to sums of 
individual amounts. In preparing these consolidated 
financial statements, certain reclassifications and 
rearrangements have been made to the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements issued domestically in 
order to present them in a form that is more familiar to 
readers outside Japan.

(c)  The preparation of consolidated financial statements in 
conformity with Japanese GAAP requires management 
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures 
of contingent assets and liabilities as of the balance 
sheet date and the reported amounts of revenues and 
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results 
could differ from those estimates.

2. Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Principles of consolidation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements 
include the accounts of the Bank and its nine 
consolidated subsidiaries.

Names of the consolidated subsidiaries are as follows: 
FCTI, Inc., PT. ABADI TAMBAH MULIA 
INTERNASIONAL, Bank Business Factory Co., Ltd., 
Seven Payment Service, Ltd., Pito AxM Platform, Inc., 
Seven Global Remit, Ltd., ACSiON, Ltd., Credd Finance, 
Ltd. and VIVA VIDA MEDICAL LIFE Co., Ltd. VIDA 
MEDICAL LIFE Co., Ltd. has become a consolidated 
subsidiary since this FY by 7BK’s purchasing stocks of 
the entity.

The balance sheet dates of the consolidated 
subsidiaries are December 31 for three companies and 
March 31 for six companies. The subsidiaries are 
consolidated using the financial statements on their own 
balance sheet dates. Appropriate adjustments have been 
made for significant intervening transactions occurring 
during the period from December 31 to March 31.

All significant intercompany balances and transactions 
have been eliminated upon consolidation. All material 
unrealized profit included in assets resulting from 
transactions within the Group are also eliminated.

Four affiliates are accounted for using the equity 
method. Names of affiliates are as follows: Seven Pay 
Co., Ltd., TORANOTEC Ltd., TORANOTEC Asset 
Management Ltd. and Metaps Payment, Inc.

For affiliates accounted for using the equity method 
that have a balance sheet date different from the 
consolidated balance sheet date, the financial 
statements pertaining to the fiscal years of the respective 
affiliates are used for the preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements.

(b) Securities
  In principle, available-for-sale securities are stated at their 

fiscal year-end fair values. Unrealized gains and losses on 
these securities are reported, net of applicable income 
taxes, as a separate component of net assets. Realized 
gains or losses on sales of such securities are computed 
using primarily the moving-average method. Equity 
securities, etc. that do not have a market price are stated 
at cost using the moving-average method.

(c) Tangible fixed assets 
  Tangible fixed assets are generally stated at cost less 

accumulated depreciation. 
   Depreciation of tangible fixed assets of the Bank is 

calculated by the straight-line method over the estimated 
useful lives of the assets.

   Estimated useful lives of major items as of March 31, 
2023 and 2022 are as follows:

Buildings: 6-18 years
ATMs: 5 years
Others: 2-20 years

   Depreciation of tangible fixed assets of the 
consolidated subsidiaries is calculated by the straight-
line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets.
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(d) Intangible fixed assets 
  Intangible fixed assets are amortized using the straight-

line method. Software for internal use is amortized over 
its estimated useful life (five years).

(e) Allowance for credit losses
  Allowance for credit losses is provided as detailed below 

in accordance with the Bank’s internal policies for 
write-offs and provisions.

   The Bank classifies its obligors into five categories for 
self-assessment purposes, namely, “normal obligors,” 
“obligors requiring caution,” “bankruptcy risk obligors,” 
“substantially bankrupt obligors,” and “bankrupt 
obligors.”

   For credits to those classified as normal obligors or 
obligors requiring caution, the allowance for credit losses 
is provided based on the Bank’s expected credit losses 
for the following one year. The expected credit losses are 
determined using the loss ratio computed based on the 
average rate for the past definite period of bad debt ratio 
or default probability based on the bad debt or default 
experience for the past year, and modified with 
necessary adjustments such as future prospects. 

   For credits to obligors classified as bankruptcy risk 
obligors, the allowance for credit losses is provided for at 
the amount deemed necessary, after deducting the 
expected amount recoverable through the disposal of 
collateral or execution of guarantee.

   For credits to obligors classified as substantially 
bankrupt obligors or bankrupt obligors, the allowance for 
credit losses is provided for at the full amounts of such 
credits, after deducting the expected amount 
recoverable through the disposal of collateral or 
execution of guarantee.

   The Bank’s Risk Management Office, which is 
independent from the Bank’s other divisions, evaluates all 
credits in accordance with its internal rules for self-
assessment of assets, and its evaluations are audited by 
the Internal Audit Division, which is independent from the 
Bank’s other divisions and the Risk Management Office. 
The allowance is provided for based on the results of 
these assessments.

   Allowance for credit losses of consolidated 
subsidiaries is stated at amounts considered to be 
appropriate based on past credit loss experience for 
general receivables and, for specific receivables such as 
doubtful receivables, in amounts expected to be 
unrecoverable considering the individual collectability.

(f) Reserve for bonuses
  Reserve for bonuses for employees is recorded in the 

amount of estimated bonuses attributed to the relevant 
fiscal year.

(g) Reserve for stocks payment
  Reserve for stocks payment is recorded in the estimated 

amount of stock benefits as of the end of the fiscal year 
to prepare for the delivery of the Bank’s shares to the 
Bank’s directors (excluding non-executive directors and 
directors residing overseas), executive officers (excluding 
those residing overseas) and certain employees 
(excluding those residing overseas) pursuant to the Share 
Delivery Rules for directors, executive officers and 
employees.

(h) Method of accounting for retirement benefits
  In calculating the projected benefit obligation, projected 

retirement benefits attributable up to the end of the fiscal 
year is determined using a benefit formula. Also, net 
actuarial difference is amortized as follows.

   Net actuarial difference is amortized using the straight-
line method over ten years within the employees’ 
average remaining service period, commencing from the 
fiscal year after the year of incurrence. 

(i) Significant revenue recognition 
  The details of the main performance obligations in the 

major businesses related to revenue from contracts with 
the customers of the Bank and its consolidated 
subsidiaries and the timing at which they typically satisfy 
these performance obligations (when it typically 
recognizes revenue) are as follows:

 •  Banking business, focusing on the ATM Platform 
business

  We have been providing services such as accepting or 
dispensing cash which the users of the partner financial 
institutions deposit in or withdraw from their deposit 
accounts when they use the Bank’s ATMs. With regard 
to the service fee income from providing these ATM 
services, the Bank recognizes revenue at the time when 
the users of the partner financial institutions use the ATM 
service of the Bank and the related considerations are 
received generally within the following month after the 
performance obligations are satisfied. 

(j) Foreign currency translation
  Assets and liabilities of the Bank denominated in foreign 

currencies are translated into Japanese yen mainly at the 
exchange rate prevailing as of the balance sheet date. 
Assets and liabilities of the consolidated subsidiaries 
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the 
exchange rate prevailing at the balance sheet dates of 
the consolidated subsidiaries.

(k) Amortization of goodwill
  Goodwill is amortized using the straight-line method over 

five years or fully expensed when incurred if the amount 
is immaterial.

(l) Cash and cash equivalents
  For the purpose of presenting the consolidated 

statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents 
represent cash and due from banks maturing within 3 
months from the acquisition date.

(m) Income taxes
  Income taxes of the Bank consist of corporation, 

inhabitants and enterprise taxes. The provision for 
income taxes is computed based on the pretax income 
of the Bank with certain adjustments required for tax 
purposes. 

   The asset and liability approach is used to recognize 
deferred tax assets and liabilities for expected future tax 
consequences of temporary differences between the 
carrying amounts and the tax basis of assets and 
liabilities.

(n) Amounts per share
  Net assets per share is calculated by dividing net assets 

excluding amount of subscription rights to shares and 
non-controlling interests by the number of shares of 
common stock outstanding at the end of the fiscal year, 
excluding treasury stock.

   Net income per share is calculated by dividing net 
income attributable to common shareholders of the 
parent by the weighted average number of shares of 
common stock outstanding during the fiscal year, 
excluding treasury stock.

   Cash dividends per share represent the actual amounts 
declared as applicable to the fiscal year.

(o) Appropriation of retained earnings
  Cash dividends are recorded in the fiscal year when the 

relevant proposed appropriation of retained earnings is 
approved by the Board of Directors and for which 
notification is given at a general meeting of shareholders.

(p) Significant accounting estimates
  Estimates on other assets, tangible fixed assets, 

intangible fixed assets and deferred tax assets related to 
ATM placement contracts of FCTI, Inc., a consolidated 
subsidiary, are as follows:

  (1) Amounts recorded in the consolidated financial 
statements as of March 31, 2023

Millions of Yen

Other assets ¥   680

Tangible fixed assets 826

Intangible fixed assets 1,080

Deferred tax assets 3,056

  (2) Information about the details of significant accounting 
estimates on the identified item
Recoverability of other assets, tangible fixed assets, 
intangible fixed assets and deferred tax assets is 
assessed on the main assumption that ATM placement 
contracts between FCTI, Inc., a consolidated subsidiary, 
and 7-Eleven, Inc. will be renewed.

The renewal of the contracts is under negotiation and 
subject to a certain level of uncertainties. If such 
contracts are not renewed and the estimates differ from 
actual results, profit for the following fiscal year might be 
affected.

(q) Changes in accounting policies
  Implementation Guidance on Accounting Standard for 

Fair Value Measurement (Accounting Standards Board of 
Japan (ASBJ) Guidance No. 31, June 17, 2021, 
hereinafter “Implementation Guidance”)

   The Bank has applied the Implementation Guidance 
from the beginning of the fiscal year ended March 31, 
2023 prospectively in accordance with the transitional 
provision set forth in Paragraph 27-2 of the 
Implementation Guidance.

   The effect of adopting the Implementation Guidance is 
immaterial.

(r) Newly effective accounting standards not yet applied
  On October 28, 2022, the ASBJ issued the following 

statements and guidance:
   Accounting Standard for Current Income Taxes (ASBJ 

Statement No. 27, October 28, 2022)
   Accounting Standard for Presentation of 

Comprehensive Income (ASBJ Statement No. 25, 
October 28, 2022)

   Implementation Guidance on Accounting Standard for 
Tax Effect Accounting (ASBJ Guidance No. 28, October 
28, 2022)

 (1) Overview
  These standards and guidance define: (i) the accounting 

classifications for current income taxes, etc. when other 
comprehensive income is subject to income taxes; and 
(ii) tax effect accounting for sales of shares of subsidiaries 
when the group taxation system is applied.

 (2) Date of adoption
  The Company expects to adopt these accounting 

standards, etc. from the beginning of the fiscal year 
ending March 31, 2025.

 (3) Effect of adopting the accounting standards, etc.
  The effect of adopting the accounting standards, etc. is 

under assessment.

(s) Changes in presentation
  Business outsourcing expenses which had been 

recorded in “Other” under “Fees and commissions 
expenses” by certain overseas consolidated subsidiaries 
have been recorded under “General and administrative 
expenses” from the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023. In 
addition, ATM placement fee expenses and ATM-related 
fee expenses which had been recorded in “Other” under 
“Fees and commissions expenses” have been separately 
presented as disclosed in Notes 19 and 21. These 
changes in presentation were made to disclose 
transactions more appropriately in the consolidated 
financial statements as the business scale of such 
overseas consolidated subsidiaries is expanding.

   In order to reflect these changes in presentation, the 
consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year 
ended March 31, 2022 have been reclassified.

   As a result, “Fees and commissions expenses” of 
¥35,816 million (including ATM placement fee expenses 
of ¥28,345 million, ATM-related fee expenses of ¥2,327 
million and “Other” of ¥3,511 million) and “General and 
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administrative expenses” of ¥70,245 million (including 
Business outsourcing expenses of ¥22,600 million) have 
been reclassified as “Fees and commissions expenses” 
of ¥35,690 million (including ATM placement fee 
expenses of ¥28,473 million, ATM-related fee expenses 
of ¥2,365 million and “Other” of ¥3,220 million) and 
“General and administrative expenses” of ¥70,371 million 
(including Business outsourcing expenses of ¥22,726 
million), respectively.

(t) Additional information
  (Performance-Based Stock Compensation Plan for 

Directors)
  The Bank has introduced a Performance-Based Stock 

Compensation Plan (hereinafter the “Plan”) for the Bank’s 
directors (excluding non-executive Directors and 
Directors residing overseas, the same applies hereinafter) 
using the Directors’ Compensation Board Incentive Plan 
(BIP) Trust (hereinafter “BIP Trust”), aiming to further raise 
motivation in contributing to the medium- to long-term 
enhancement of performance. 

   The accounting treatment for the said trust agreement 
is in accordance with “Practical Solution on Transactions 
of Delivering the Company’s Own Stock to Employees 
etc. through Trusts” (Practical Issue Task Force (PITF) No. 
30, March 26, 2015).

 (1) Outline of the transaction
  The plan is a performance-based stock compensation 

plan whereby the Bank contributes an appropriate 
amount of money to the BIP Trust, which is used as 
funds to acquire Bank’s shares. The Bank’s shares are 
delivered to directors in accordance with Share Delivery 
Rules for directors stipulated by the Bank. Directors shall 
receive delivery of the Bank’s shares, etc., in principle, 
upon their retirement.

 (2) Bank’s shares remaining in the BIP Trust
  The Bank’s shares remaining in the BIP Trust are 

recorded as treasury stock under net assets at their 
carrying amount (excluding incidental expenses). The 

carrying amount and the number of Bank’s shares 
remaining in the BIP Trust as of March 31, 2023 and 
2022 are ¥332 million and ¥588 million, and 1,071 
thousand shares and 1,895 thousand shares, 
respectively.

  (Performance-Based Stock Compensation Plan for 
Executive Officers and Certain Employees)

  The Bank has introduced a Performance-Based Stock 
Compensation Plan (hereinafter the “Plan”) for the Bank’s 
executive officers (excluding those residing overseas; the 
same applies hereinafter) and certain employees 
(excluding those residing overseas; the same applies 
hereinafter) using the Stock Grant Employee Stock 
Ownership Plan (ESOP) Trust (hereinafter “ESOP Trust”), 
aiming to further raise motivation in contributing to the 
medium- to long-term enhancement of performance. 

   The Bank adopted “Practical Solution on Transactions 
of Delivering the Company’s Own Stock to Employees 
etc. through Trusts” (PITF No. 30, March 26, 2015) to 
account for the said trust agreement. 

 (1) Outline of the transaction
  The plan is a performance-based stock compensation 

plan whereby the Bank contributes an appropriate 
amount of money to the ESOP Trust, which is used as 
funds to acquire Bank’s shares. The Bank’s shares are 
delivered to executive officers and certain employees in 
accordance with Share Delivery Rules for executive 
officers and employees stipulated by the Bank. Executive 
officers and certain employees shall receive delivery of 
the Bank’s shares, etc., in principle, upon their retirement.

 (2) Bank’s shares remaining in the ESOP Trust
  The Bank’s shares remaining in the ESOP Trust are 

recorded as treasury stock under net assets at their 
carrying amount (excluding incidental expenses). The 
carrying amount and the number of Bank’s shares 
remaining in the Trust as of March 31, 2023 and 2022 are 
¥567 million and ¥584 million and 2,026 thousand shares 
and 2,086 thousand shares, respectively. 

3. Supplemental Cash Flow Information
Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statements of cash flows for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022 
consisted of the following:

Millions of yen

2023 2022

Cash and due from banks  ................................................................................. ¥952,027 ¥931,404 

Time deposits  .................................................................................................... (1,591) —

Other  ................................................................................................................. (180) —

Cash and cash equivalents  ................................................................................ ¥950,256 ¥931,404

4. Cash and Due from Banks
Cash and due from banks as of March 31, 2023 and 2022 consisted of the following:

Millions of yen

2023 2022

Cash  ................................................................................................................. ¥822,510 ¥819,031 

Due from banks  ................................................................................................. 129,517 112,372

Total  ............................................................................................................. ¥952,027 ¥931,404 

5. Financial Instruments
1) Disclosure on Financial Instruments
(1) Policy on Financial Instruments
  The Bank has its basic policy for both fund procurement and investments, which is designed to keep volatility low and risks 

minimized, and does not seek to generate profits by aggressive risk taking.
   The Bank procures necessary cash for working capital mainly for cash held in ATMs and capital expenditure for ATM- and 

system-related infrastructure. The Bank raises its base capital taking into account interest rate trends through deposits, 
long-term borrowing, and bond issuance and uses the call market to raise additional capital to cover the daily fluctuation of 
its cash needs.

   On the asset side, the Bank makes investments such as lending money to individuals with small lots. However, the main 
operation is in treasury and securities as a limited end user. Investments are limited to securities with high creditworthiness 
and liquidity, such as bonds, deposits placed at highly rated partner financial institutions, and lending of funds in the call-
money market. The Bank does not invest in high-risk derivatives and other instruments.

(2) Details of Financial Instruments and Associated Risks
  Cash for the operation of the ATM platform business accounts for most of the financial instruments the Bank holds. The 

Bank provides unutilized capital to call loan lending and is exposed to credit risk of the borrowers. Securities mainly consist 
of bonds and stocks with high creditworthiness and liquidity, all of which are classified as available-for-sale securities. These 
securities are exposed to borrower and issuers’ credit risks, interest rate risk, and market (price) risk. Loans are those for 
individual customers, which are exposed to credit risks of the borrowers. However, the risk is limited because guarantees are 
mostly attached to the entire loan amounts.

   The Bank conducts banking business and its deposits and negotiable certificates of deposit that account for most of its 
financial liabilities are exposed to interest rate risk. It also uses the call market to raise short-term additional capital and is 
exposed to liquidity risk that it cannot raise necessary capital when needed.

   Borrowed money and bonds are also exposed to liquidity risk in that the Bank cannot make necessary payments upon the 
due dates under certain circumstances where the Bank cannot access the capital market.

(3) Risk Management Relating to Financial Instruments
(A) Credit Risk Management
  Basic policies related to credit risk are stipulated in the Basic Policy on Risk Control and by the Credit Risk Rules established 

thereunder. Currently, the Bank has low credit risk exposures in the limited areas of the ATM settlement operation, asset 
liability management (ALM)-related interbank deposits placed at highly rated partner financial institutions, money lent in the 
call-money market, and temporary ATM payment amounts due. In addition, the Bank performs self-assessment on asset 
quality as appropriate and sets an allowance for credit losses in accordance with its self-assessment guidelines, reserve 
guidelines, and related internal rules and regulations. 

   Credit risks related to issuers of securities and counterparty risks of derivative transactions are managed by the Risk 
Management Division by periodically collecting updated credit information and fair values of the instruments.

(B) Market Risk Management
  Basic policies related to market risk are stipulated in the Basic Policy on Risk Control and the Market Risk Rules established 

thereunder. The Market Risk Rules establish limits on the maximum level of funds at risk, market position limits and loss 
allowance limits. The Risk Management Group measures and monitors market risk on a daily basis in light of these limits and 
reports the results to management including the Executive Committee. Risk management operations are also based on 
decisions at the quarterly ALM Committee meetings where the Bank’s market risk position, expectations on interest rate 
trends and other matters are reported.

 Quantitative Information related to Market Risk
  Major market risk for the Bank is interest rate risk. The Bank measures the market risk using Value at Risk (VaR) for the 

overall assets and liabilities of the Bank. The Bank has adopted the variance-covariance method and calculates VaR with 
reference to data from the past one year to a 99.9% confidence level assuming a 125-day holding period. As of March 31, 
2023, the Bank’s market risk quantity (maximum potential loss) is ¥13,014 million in the aggregate. In addition, given the 
characteristics of the Bank’s business, in measuring the market risk, the Bank has recognized the interest period for cash 
assets and deemed cash assets as five-year zero-coupon bonds (average duration of about 2.5 years). The Bank regularly 
performs back-testing to compare the VaR calculated by its internal model against actual profit and loss. However, as VaR 
measures the amount of market risk under certain probabilities statistically calculated based on past market volatility, it may 
underestimate the probability of extreme market movements and, may in some instances, not adequately capture those 
risks.
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(C) Management of Liquidity Risk
  Basic policies related to liquidity risk are stipulated in the Basic Policy on Risk Control and the Liquidity Risk Rules 

established thereunder. The Liquidity Risk Rules establish limits regarding the cash gaps arising from differences between the 
duration of invested funds and those procured to meet current cash needs.

   The Risk Management Group measures and monitors liquidity risk on a daily basis in light of these limits and reports the 
results to management, including the Executive Committee. In the event of a cash shortage, according to the measures 
corresponding to each scenario, which are designed prior to those events, companywide actions are taken to secure the 
liquidity in a fast and flexible manner. Hence, there shall be no concern on liquidity risk.

(4) Supplementary Explanation on Fair Value of Financial Instruments
  Certain assumptions are used for the calculation of the fair value of financial instruments and therefore, the results of such 

calculation may vary if different assumptions are employed.

2) Fair Value of Financial Instruments
  The following table summarizes the amounts stated in the consolidated balance sheets and the fair value of financial 

instruments as of March 31, 2023 and 2022 together with their differences. Note that the following table does not include 
equity securities, etc. that do not have a market price and investments in partnerships (see (Note 1)). In addition, notes on 
cash and due from banks, call loans, ATM-related temporary payments, call money and ATM-related temporary advances 
are omitted because their fair value approximates the carrying amount due to the short settlement period.

March 31, 2023 Millions of yen

Carrying amount Fair value Difference

(1) Securities
Available-for-sale securities  ......................................................................... ¥  93,863 ¥  93,863 ¥   —

(2) Loans  ........................................................................................................... 35,111
Allowance for credit losses 1  ....................................................................... (33)

35,078 35,078 0
(3) Other assets 2 5,506

Allowance for credit losses 1, 2  ..................................................................... (1,238)
4,267 4,267 —

Total assets  ....................................................................................................... ¥133,210 ¥133,210 ¥0

(1) Deposits  ....................................................................................................... ¥821,508 ¥821,539 ¥  31
(2) Borrowed money  .......................................................................................... 9,958 9,958 —
(3) Bonds  ........................................................................................................... 85,000 85,245 245
Total liabilities  ..................................................................................................... ¥916,466 ¥916,743 ¥276

March 31, 2022 Millions of yen

Carrying amount Fair value Difference

(1) Securities
Available-for-sale securities  ......................................................................... ¥  82,732 ¥  82,732 ¥   —

(2) Loans  ........................................................................................................... 28,056
Allowance for credit losses 1  ....................................................................... (15)

28,040 28,040 0
(3) Other assets 2 3,692

Allowance for credit losses 1, 2  ..................................................................... (397)
3,295 3,295 —

Total assets  ....................................................................................................... ¥114,068 ¥114,069 ¥0

(1) Deposits  ....................................................................................................... ¥790,687 ¥790,747 ¥  60
(2) Borrowed money  .......................................................................................... 1,936 1,936 —
(3) Bonds  ........................................................................................................... 105,000 105,493 493
Total liabilities  ..................................................................................................... ¥897,624 ¥898,177 ¥553

* 1: Allowance for credit losses corresponding to loans and other assets is deducted.
* 2: Other assets subject to fair value disclosure are shown.

(Note 1)  The following table summarizes the carrying amounts of equity securities, etc. that do not have a market price and investments in partnerships. These 
securities are not included in the amount presented in “Available-for-sale securities” under “(1) Securities” in the table summarizing fair value of 
financial instruments.

Millions of yen

2023 2022

Unlisted equity securities 1 and 2  .............................................................................. ¥1,774 ¥3,354

Shares in an affiliated company 1  .......................................................................... 847 1,424

Investments in partnership 3  .................................................................................. 3,165 2,433

* 1.  Unlisted equity securities and shares in an affiliated company are not included in the scope of fair value disclosure pursuant to Paragraph 5 of 
the “Implementation Guidance on Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments” (ASBJ Guidance No. 19, March 31, 2020).

* 2.  Impairment losses of ¥664 million and ¥65 million on unlisted equity securities are recognized for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2023 and 
2022, respectively.

* 3.  Investments in partnership are not included in the scope of fair value disclosure pursuant to Paragraph 24-16 of the “Implementation Guidance 
on Accounting Standard for Fair Value Measurement” (ASBJ Guidance No. 31, June 17, 2021).

(Note 2) Redemption schedule of monetary claims and securities with maturities

March 31, 2023 Millions of yen

Within one 
year

Over one year 
but within 

three years

Over three 
years but 
within five 

years

Over five 
years but 

within seven 
years

Over seven 
years but 
within ten 

years

Over ten 
years

Due from banks  ........................................... ¥128,457 ¥ 1,060  —  —  — —

Call loans  ..................................................... 28,000 —  —  —  — —

Securities:

Available-for-sale securities with maturity  ..... 17,518 48,184 ¥26,300  — ¥1,000 —

Japanese municipal bonds  ..................... 5,418 16,984 17,100  —  — —

Corporate bonds  .................................... 12,100 31,200 9,200  —  1,000 —

Loans 1  ........................................................ 34,991  15  —  —  — —

ATM-related temporary payments  ................ 98,296 —  —  —  — —

Other assets 2  .............................................. 4,498  —  —  —  — —

Total  ............................................................ ¥311,762 ¥49,259  ¥26,300 ¥— ¥1,000 ¥—

March 31, 2022 Millions of yen

Within one 
year

Over one year 
but within 

three years

Over three 
years but 
within five 

years

Over five 
years but 

within seven 
years

Over seven 
years but 
within ten 

years

Over ten 
years

Due from banks  ........................................... ¥112,372  —  — — — —

Call loans  ..................................................... —  —  — — — —

Securities:

Available-for-sale securities with maturity  ..... 35,713 ¥27,162 ¥19,140 — — —

Japanese municipal bonds  ..................... 11,313 7,862 7,840 — — —

Corporate bonds  .................................... 24,400 19,300 11,300 — — —

Loans 1  ........................................................ 27,979  15  — — — —

ATM-related temporary payments  ................ 84,461  —  — — — —

Other assets 2  .............................................. 3,484  —  — — — —

Total  ............................................................ ¥264,011 ¥27,177 ¥19,140 ¥— ¥— ¥—
Notes: 1.  For loans, ¥104 million and ¥60 million as of March 31, 2023 and 2022 are excluded for loans that are not expected to be collected, which 

are for the debtors who are bankrupt, substantially bankrupt, and bankruptcy risk obligors. 
 2.  ¥1,008 million and ¥208 million as of March 31, 2023 and 2022 that are not expected to be collected from debtors who are bankrupt, 

substantially bankrupt, and bankruptcy risk obligors are excluded from other assets.
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(Note 3) Repayment schedule of bonds payable, borrowed money, and other interest-bearing liabilities

March 31, 2023 Millions of yen

Within one 
year

Over one year 
but within 

three years

Over three 
years but 
within five 

years

Over five 
years but 

within seven 
years

Over seven 
years but 
within ten 

years

Over ten 
years

Deposits 1  .................................................... ¥712,213 ¥71,609 ¥37,684 ¥ — ¥— ¥—
Call money ................................................... 50,000 — — — — —
Borrowed money  ......................................... 9,958 — — — — —
Bonds  ......................................................... 20,000  15,000 30,000 20,000 — —
Total  ............................................................ ¥792,172 ¥86,609 ¥67,684 ¥20,000 ¥— ¥—

March 31, 2022 Millions of yen

Within one 
year

Over one year 
but within 

three years

Over three 
years but 
within five 

years

Over five 
years but 

within seven 
years

Over seven 
years but 
within ten 

years

Over ten 
years

Deposits 1  .................................................... ¥675,399 ¥ 73,069 ¥42,217 ¥ — ¥— ¥—
Call money ................................................... — — — — — —
Borrowed money  ......................................... 1,936 — — — — —
Bonds  ......................................................... 20,000  35,000 — 50,000 — —
Total  ............................................................ ¥697,336 ¥108,069 ¥42,217 ¥50,000 ¥— ¥—
Note 1: Demand deposits are included in the “Within one year” category.

3) Fair value information by level within the fair value hierarchy
  The fair value of financial instruments is classified into the following three levels according to the observability and materiality 

of inputs used to measure fair value.

 Level 1 fair value:  Fair value measured using observable inputs, i.e. quoted prices in active markets for assets or liabilities that 
are the subject of the measurement.

 Level 2 fair value: Fair value measured using observable inputs other than Level 1 inputs.
 Level 3 fair value: Fair value measured using unobservable inputs.

   If multiple inputs are used that are significant to the fair value measurement, the fair value is classified in its entirety in the 
level of the lowest priority for calculation of fair value among inputs that are significant to the entire measurement.

(1) Financial instruments stated at fair value in the consolidated balance sheet
Millions of yen

Year ended March 31, 2023 Fair value

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Securities
Available-for-sale:

Japanese municipal bonds ............................ ¥ — ¥39,710 ¥— ¥39,710
Corporate bonds  .......................................... — 53,536 — 53,536
Equity securities  ............................................ 616 — — 616

Total assets  ............................................................ ¥616 ¥93,247 ¥— ¥93,863

Millions of yen

Year ended March 31, 2022 Fair value

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Securities
Available-for-sale:

Japanese municipal bonds ............................ ¥ — ¥27,026 ¥— ¥27,026
Corporate bonds  .......................................... — 55,186 — 55,186
Equity securities  ............................................ 520 — — 520 

Total assets  ............................................................ ¥520 ¥82,212 ¥— ¥82,732 

(2) Financial instruments other than those stated at fair value in the consolidated balance sheet
Millions of yen

Year ended March 31, 2023 Fair value

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Loans  ..................................................................... ¥— ¥ 34,999 ¥78 ¥ 35,078

Other assets   .......................................................... — 4,267 — 4,267

Total assets  ............................................................ ¥— ¥ 39,267 ¥78 ¥ 39,346

Deposits  ................................................................. ¥— ¥821,539 ¥ — ¥821,539

Borrowed money  .................................................... — 9,958 — 9,958

Bonds  .................................................................... — 85,245 — 85,245

Total liabilities  .......................................................... ¥— ¥916,743 ¥ — ¥916,743

Millions of yen

Year ended March 31, 2022 Fair value

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Loans  ..................................................................... ¥— ¥ 27,991 ¥49 ¥ 28,040

Other assets   .......................................................... — 3,295 — 3,295

Total assets  ............................................................ ¥— ¥ 31,287 ¥49 ¥ 31,336

Deposits  ................................................................. ¥— ¥790,747 ¥ — ¥790,747

Borrowed money  .................................................... — 1,936 — 1,936

Bonds  .................................................................... — 105,493 — 105,493

Total liabilities  .......................................................... ¥— ¥898,177 ¥ — ¥898,177 

Note 1: A description of the valuation technique(s) and inputs used in the fair value measurements is as follows.

Assets
(1) Securities
The fair value of securities, for which unadjusted quoted prices in active markets are available, is classified as Level 1. Listed shares are included in 
this category.
 The fair value of securities, for which quoted prices are published, but traded in inactive markets, is classified as Level 2. Municipal bonds and 
corporate bonds are included in this category.
(2) Loans
The fair value of loans is calculated by discounting the sum of principal and interests at the market interest rates reflecting credit risk, etc., categorized 
based on the types and maturity of loans.
 For loans with variable interest rates, the carrying amount is presented as the fair value, as the loans reflect market rates in a timely manner and 
the carrying amount approximates such fair value, unless the creditworthiness of the borrowers change significantly since the loan origination. For 
receivables from bankrupt, substantially bankrupt, and bankruptcy risk obligors, the fair value is determined based on estimated future cash flows 
discounted to the present value or the present value of the expected amount to be recovered from collaterals and guarantees. If the impact from 
unobservable inputs on the fair value is significant, the fair value is classified as Level 3, and Level 2 if the impact from unobservable inputs on the fair 
value is not significant. 
(3) Other assets
The remaining terms of the payments are short-term (within one year). Thus, the carrying amount is presented as the fair value, as the carrying amount 
approximates such fair value.
 The fair value is classified as Level 2.

Liabilities
(1) Deposits 
For demand deposits to be paid immediately upon request, the carrying amount as of the consolidated balance sheet date is deemed as the fair 
value. Fixed-rate time deposits are grouped by the periods to maturity. The fair value of such deposits is calculated as the present value of expected 
future cash flows. The discount rates used are the interest rates that would be applied to similar deposits newly accepted. For deposits with maturity 
of less than one year, the carrying amount is presented as the fair value, as the carrying amount approximates such fair value. The fair value is 
classified as Level 2.
(2) Borrowed money
The fair value of borrowed money is calculated as the present value of expected future cash flows from these borrowings grouped by the periods to 
maturity, discounted using interest rates reflecting its remaining periods to maturity and credit risk. For the borrowed money with maturity less than 
one year, the carrying amount is presented as the fair value, as the carrying amount approximates such fair value. The fair value is classified as Level 
2. There is no floating rate borrowing.
(3) Bonds
The fair value of corporate bonds issued by the Bank is calculated based on the amounts presented in the Reference Statistical Prices [Yields] for 
OTC Bond Transactions published by the Japan Securities Dealers Association. The fair value is classified as Level 2.
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6. Securities
(1)  The total amount of equity securities or investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliated companies was as 

follows:
Millions of yen

March 31 2023 2022

Equity securities  ................................................................................................ ¥847 ¥1,424

(2)  The following tables summarize acquisition cost and carrying amount of securities with fair values available as of March 
31, 2023 and 2022:

 Available-for-sale securities:

March 31, 2023 Millions of yen

Securities with higher balances than acquisition costs Acquisition cost Carrying amount Difference

Equity securities  ................................................................................................ ¥ 236 ¥ 616 ¥379
Bonds:

Japanese municipal bonds  ........................................................................... 18,840 18,857 17
Corporate bonds  .......................................................................................... 6,199 6,204 4

Total  .................................................................................................................. ¥25,277 ¥25,678 ¥401

Millions of yen

Securities with the same or lower balances than acquisition costs Acquisition cost Carrying amount Difference

Bonds:
Japanese municipal bonds  ........................................................................... ¥20,891 ¥20,852 ¥ (39)
Corporate bonds  .......................................................................................... 47,562 47,332 (229)

Total  .................................................................................................................. ¥68,454 ¥68,185 ¥(268)
Grand total  ........................................................................................................ ¥93,731 ¥93,863 ¥ 132

March 31, 2022 Millions of yen

Securities with higher balances than acquisition costs Acquisition cost Carrying amount Difference

Equity securities  ................................................................................................ ¥ 151 ¥ 520 ¥368
Bonds:

Japanese municipal bonds  ........................................................................... 14,151 14,152 1
Corporate bonds  .......................................................................................... 6,607 6,607 0

Total  .................................................................................................................. ¥20,910 ¥21,280 ¥370

Millions of yen

Securities with the same or lower balances than acquisition costs Acquisition cost Carrying amount Difference

Bonds:
Japanese municipal bonds  ........................................................................... ¥12,903 ¥12,873 ¥ (29)
Corporate bonds  .......................................................................................... 48,637 48,578 (58)

Total  .................................................................................................................. ¥61,540 ¥61,451 ¥ (88)
Grand total  ........................................................................................................ ¥82,450 ¥82,732 ¥281

(3) Net unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities on the consolidated balance sheets were as follows:
Millions of yen

March 31 2023 2022
Unrealized gains (losses):

On available-for-sale securities  ...................................................................... ¥ 720 ¥ 874
Deferred tax liabilities  .................................................................................... (220)  (267)  

Net unrealized gains on available-for-sale securities, net of taxes  ....................... ¥ 500 ¥ 606

Note:  Unrealized gains (losses) on investments in partnership, which do not have a market price, of ¥588 million and ¥592 million as of March 31, 2023 and 
2022, respectively, are included in “Available-for-sale securities.”

7. Assets Pledged
Available-for-sale securities were pledged as collateral for exchange settlements and overdraft transactions with the Bank of 
Japan. The securities pledged amounted to ¥84,427 million and ¥82,212 million as of March 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Other assets included guarantee deposits of ¥2,519 million and ¥2,371 million as of March 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, 
and deposits to Central Counterparty of ¥1,700 million and ¥1,700 million as of March 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

In addition, cash and due from banks of ¥180 million as of March 31, 2023 were pledged as collaterals for borrowings of a 
certain overseas consolidated subsidiary.

8. Loans
Loans based on the Banking Act and the Law concerning Emergency Measures for the Revitalization of the Financial Functions 
are as follows:

Loans are defined as corporate bonds included in “Securities” in the consolidated balance sheet (the whole or part of the 
redemption of the principal and payment of interest are guaranteed and limited to the corporate bonds issued through private 
placement of the securities (as provided for by Article 2, Paragraph 3 of the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act)), loans, 
foreign exchanges, accrued interest and suspense payments included in “Other assets,” items recorded in customers’ liabilities 
for acceptances and guarantees, and lent securities (limited to loan contract for use or lease contract) .

Millions of yen

March 31 2023 2022

Loans under Bankruptcy/rehabilitation or similar proceedings  ............................ ¥100 ¥55

Risk loans  .......................................................................................................... 4 6

Delinquent loans past due over three months  .................................................... 1 0

Restructured loans  ............................................................................................ — —

Total  .................................................................................................................. ¥106 ¥61

Loans under bankruptcy/rehabilitation or similar proceedings are loans to borrowers under bankruptcy or similar proceedings 
due to the reasons such as commencement of bankruptcy proceedings, commencement of rehabilitation proceedings, petition 
for rehabilitation proceedings, etc.

Risk loans are loans which are not likely to be repaid with the principal and interest according to the contract due to the 
deteriorated financial positions and operating performances of the debtors, and which do not fall in the category of loans under 
bankruptcy/rehabilitation or similar proceedings.

Delinquent loans past due over three months are loans on which the payment of principal and/or interest is past due for three 
months or more from the due date, and which do not fall in the category of loans under bankruptcy/rehabilitation or similar 
proceedings, or risk loans.

Restructured loans are loans on which terms and conditions have been amended in favor of borrowers, in order to facilitate or 
assist the borrowers’ restructuring by reducing the rate of interest, by providing a grace period for the payment of principal or 
interest or by loan forgiveness, and which do not fall into the aforementioned categories.

The amounts of above loans are before deducting allowance for credit losses. 

9. Tangible Fixed Assets
Tangible fixed assets as of March 31, 2023 and 2022 consisted of the following:

Millions of yen

2023 2022
Buildings  ........................................................................................................... ¥ 1,804 ¥ 1,784
ATMs  ................................................................................................................. 24,281 20,947
Other  ................................................................................................................. 4,170 3,839

Total  .............................................................................................................. ¥30,256 ¥26,571

The accumulated depreciation of tangible fixed assets as of March 31, 2023 and 2022 amounted to ¥58,601 million and 
¥55,966 million, respectively.

10. Intangible Fixed Assets
Intangible fixed assets as of March 31, 2023 and 2022 consisted of the following:

Millions of yen

2023 2022

Software  ............................................................................................................ ¥27,342 ¥28,605

Other  ................................................................................................................. 7,007 4,988

Total  .............................................................................................................. ¥34,350 ¥33,593
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11. Other Assets
Other assets as of March 31, 2023 and 2022 consisted of the following:

Millions of yen

2023 2022

Accrued income  ................................................................................................ ¥11,366 ¥  9,877 

Prepaid expenses  .............................................................................................. 2,521 2,634 

Other  ................................................................................................................. 16,386 11,550 

Total  ............................................................................................................. ¥30,273 ¥24,062 

12. Deposits
Deposits as of March 31, 2023 and 2022 consisted of the following:

Millions of yen

2023 2022

Deposits  ............................................................................................................ ¥820,758 ¥789,937

Negotiable certificates of deposit  ....................................................................... 750 750

Total  ............................................................................................................. ¥821,508 ¥790,687

13. Borrowed Money 
Borrowed money as of March 31, 2023 and 2022 consisted of the following:

Millions of yen

2023 2022

Borrowed money from banks and insurance companies  .................................... ¥9,958 ¥1,936

The weighted average interest rate applicable to the balance of total borrowed money as of March 31, 2023 and 2022 was 
6.24% and 5.40%, respectively.

The repayment schedule on borrowed money as of March 31, 2023 and 2022 were as follows:
Millions of yen

Borrowed money 2023 2022

Within one year  .................................................................................................. ¥9,958 ¥1,936

Over one year but within two years  .................................................................... — —

Over two years but within three years  ................................................................ — —

Over three years but within four years  ................................................................ — —

Over four years but within five years  ................................................................... — —

Over five years  ................................................................................................... — —

Above borrowed money is recorded by a consolidated subsidiary of which fiscal year end is December 31.

14. Bonds
Bonds as of March 31, 2023 and 2022 consisted of the following:

Millions of yen

2023 2022

Unsecured:

0.80% unsecured bonds due March 20, 2023, date of issue March 7, 2013  ................. ¥ —
¥  20,000

[20,000]  

0.53% unsecured bonds due December 20, 2024, date of issue December 17, 2014  ....
15,000

[—]  
15,000

[—]  

0.39% unsecured bonds due September 17, 2027, date of issue October 20, 2017  .....
30,000

[—] 
30,000

[—] 

0.16% unsecured bonds due December 20, 2023, date of issue January 25, 2019  ......
20,000

[20,000]
20,000

[—]

0.38% unsecured bonds due December 20, 2028, date of issue January 25, 2019  ......
20,000

[—]
20,000

[—]

Total  .........................................................................................................................
¥ 85,000
[20,000]

¥105,000
[20,000]  

[  ] denotes a current portion to be repaid within one year.

The repayment schedule on bonds as of March 31, 2023 and 2022 was as follows:
Millions of yen

2023 2022

Within one year  .............................................................................................................. ¥20,000 ¥20,000

Over one year but within two years  ................................................................................ 15,000 20,000

Over two years but within three years  ............................................................................ — 15,000

Over three years but within four years  ............................................................................ — —

Over four years but within five years  ............................................................................... 30,000 —

Over five years  ............................................................................................................... 20,000 50,000

15. Other liabilities
Other liabilities as of March 31, 2023 and 2022 consisted of the following:

Millions of yen

2023 2022

Accrued expenses  ......................................................................................................... ¥10,327 ¥10,440 

Asset retirement obligations  ........................................................................................... 736 696 

Other  ............................................................................................................................. 17,911 13,612 

Total  .......................................................................................................................... ¥28,975 ¥24,749
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16. Employees’ Severance and Retirement Benefits
The Bank and certain domestic consolidated subsidiaries have employee pension plans that are defined benefit pension plans, 
in addition to the optional defined contribution pension plans. 

Certain overseas consolidated subsidiaries have defined benefit retirement payment plans, in addition to defined contribution 
pension plans.

Defined benefit plan
Fiscal years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022

(1) Movement in projected benefit obligation

Millions of yen

2023 2022
Balance at the beginning of the year  .................................................................. ¥3,540 ¥3,281
Service cost  ....................................................................................................... 349 287
Interest cost  ...................................................................................................... 18 16
Actuarial difference  ............................................................................................ (334) 117
Benefits paid  ..................................................................................................... (226) (162)
Other  ................................................................................................................. (1) (0)
Balance at the end of the year  ........................................................................... ¥3,345 ¥3,540

(2) Movement in plan assets

Millions of yen

2023 2022
Balance at the beginning of the year  .................................................................. ¥4,578 ¥4,184
Expected return on plan assets  ......................................................................... 91 83
Actuarial difference  ............................................................................................ (383) 125
Contributions paid by the employer  ................................................................... 382 347
Benefits paid  ..................................................................................................... (226) (162)
Balance at the end of the year  ........................................................................... ¥4,443 ¥4,578

(3)  Reconciliation from projected benefit obligation and plan assets to liability and assets for retirement benefits recorded 
on the consolidated balance sheet

Millions of yen

2023 2022
Funded projected benefit obligation  ................................................................... ¥ 3,330 ¥ 3,527
Plan assets  ........................................................................................................ (4,443) (4,578)

(1,113) (1,051)
Unfunded projected benefit obligation ................................................................ 15 13
Total net liability (asset) for retirement benefits at the end of the year  .................. (1,098) (1,038)

Liability for retirement benefits  ............................................................................ 15 13
Asset for retirement benefits  .............................................................................. (1,113) (1,051)
Total net liability (asset) for retirement benefits at the end of the year  .................. ¥(1,098) ¥(1,038)

(4) Retirement benefit costs
Millions of yen

2023 2022
Service cost  ....................................................................................................... ¥349 ¥287
Interest cost  ...................................................................................................... 18 16
Expected return on plan assets  ......................................................................... (91) (83)
Amortization of actuarial difference  .................................................................... (73) (62)
Other  ................................................................................................................. (2) (1)
Retirement benefit costs  .................................................................................... ¥200 ¥156

(5) Adjustments for retirement benefits 
 The components of items recognized in adjustments for retirement benefits (pre-tax) were as follows:

Millions of yen

2023 2022

Actuarial difference  ............................................................................................ ¥(122) ¥(54)

Total amount recognized for the year  ................................................................. ¥(122) ¥(54)

(6) Accumulated adjustments for retirement benefits 
 The components of items recognized in accumulated adjustments for retirement benefits (pre-tax) were as follows:

Millions of yen

2023 2022

Unrecognized actuarial difference  ...................................................................... ¥(340) ¥(462)

Total balance at the end of the year  ................................................................... ¥(340) ¥(462)

(7) Plan assets
(a) Plan assets comprise:

2023 2022

Bonds  ............................................................................................................... 50% 60%

Equity securities  ................................................................................................ 26% 29%

Other  ................................................................................................................. 24% 11%

Total  .................................................................................................................. 100% 100%

(b) Long-term expected rate of return on plan assets
  Current and target asset allocations, historical and expected returns on various categories of plan assets have been 

considered in determining the long-term expected rate of return.

(8) Actuarial assumptions
  The principal actuarial assumptions, presented in weighted average rates, as of March 31, 2023 and 2022 were as follows:

2023 2022

Discount rate  ..................................................................................................... 1.3% 0.5%

Long-term expected rate of return on plan assets .............................................. 2.0% 2.0%

Expected rate of salary increase  ........................................................................ 2.5% 2.5%

Note: Disclosure of information on overseas consolidated subsidiaries was omitted since it is immaterial.

Defined contribution plan
The amount of required contribution to the defined contribution plans of the Bank and certain domestic and overseas 
consolidated subsidiaries for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022 was ¥67 million and ¥58 million, respectively.

17. Net Assets
Under the Company Law of Japan (the “Company Law”), the entire amount of the issue price for shares is required to be 
accounted for as capital, although a company may, by resolution of its Board of Directors, account for an amount not exceeding 
one-half of the issue price of the new shares as additional paid-in capital, which is included in capital surplus.

The payment of dividends by the Bank is subject to restrictions under Article 18 of the Banking Law of Japan (the “Banking 
Law”). The Banking Law provides that an amount equal to at least 20% of cash dividends and other cash appropriations shall 
be appropriated and set aside as a legal earnings reserve until the total amount of the legal earnings reserve and additional 
paid-in capital equals 100% of common stock. The legal earnings reserve and additional paid-in capital may be used to 
eliminate or reduce a deficit by a resolution of a shareholders’ meeting or may be capitalized by a resolution of the Board of 
Directors. On condition that the total amount of the legal earnings reserve and additional paid-in capital remains equal to or 
exceeds 100% of common stock, they are available for distributions or certain other purposes by a resolution of a shareholders’ 
meeting. 

The maximum amount that the Bank can distribute as dividends is calculated based on the non-consolidated financial 
statements of the Bank in accordance with the Company Law.
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18. Fees and Commissions Income
Fees and commissions income for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022 consisted of the following:

Millions of yen

2023 2022

Remittance-related fee income  .......................................................................... ¥    3,312  ¥    3,362  

ATM-related fee income  ..................................................................................... 135,122 121,731

Other  ................................................................................................................. 9,283 6,225

Total  ............................................................................................................. ¥147,718 ¥131,320

19. Fees and Commissions Expenses
Fees and commissions expenses for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022 consisted of the following:

Millions of yen

2023 2022

Remittance-related fee expenses  ....................................................................... ¥  1,508 ¥  1,631

ATM placement fee expenses  ............................................................................ 31,216 28,473

ATM-related fee expenses  ................................................................................. 5,663 2,365

Other  ................................................................................................................. 3,870 3,220

Total  ............................................................................................................. ¥42,258 ¥35,690

Please refer to Note 2 (s), where changes of presentations are introduced.

20. Other Operating Income
Other operating income for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022 consisted of the following:

Millions of yen

2023 2022

Gains on foreign exchange transactions  ............................................................ ¥488 ¥390

Total  ............................................................................................................. ¥488 ¥390

21. General and Administrative Expenses
Main items and amounts of general and administrative expenses for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022 were as 
follows:

Millions of yen

2023 2022

Salary and allowance  ......................................................................................... ¥  9,904 ¥  8,507

Retirement benefit costs  .................................................................................... 267 215

Depreciation of fixed assets  ............................................................................... 19,526 16,388

Business outsourcing expenses  ......................................................................... 24,819 22,726

Please refer to Note 2 (s), where changes of presentations are introduced.

22. Other Income
Other income for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022 consisted of the following:

Millions of yen

2023 2022

Gain on sales of fixed assets  ............................................................................. ¥       6 ¥     19

Gain on sales of equity securities, etc.  ............................................................... 1,105 —

Gain on change in equity  ................................................................................... — 415

Other  ................................................................................................................. 740 924

Total  ............................................................................................................. ¥1,851 ¥1,359

23. Other Expenses
Other expenses for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022 consisted of the following:

Millions of yen

2023 2022

Losses on disposal of fixed assets  ..................................................................... ¥   252 ¥   773

Impairment losses  ............................................................................................. 1,254 763

Provision of allowance for credit losses  .............................................................. 1,017 415

Equity in losses of affiliates  ................................................................................. 576 694

Other  ................................................................................................................. 1,196 638

Total  ............................................................................................................. ¥4,297 ¥3,284

24. Impairment Losses
Year ended March 31, 2023
Impairment losses on fixed assets for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023 consisted of the following:

Millions of yen

Location Purpose Classification 2023

Japan

Business assets

Buildings  ................................................................................... ¥     13

Other tangible fixed assets ......................................................... 8

Software  .................................................................................... 527

Other intangible fixed assets  ...................................................... 28

Other assets  .............................................................................. 2

Idle assets

Buildings  ................................................................................... 72

Other tangible fixed assets ......................................................... 91

Software  .................................................................................... 47

Other intangible fixed assets  ...................................................... 462

Total  .................................................................................................................. ¥1,254

The Group identifies each Group company as the smallest identifiable group of assets that independently generates cash 
inflows. Idle assets are treated as independent units.

For the asset groups above, their performance has continued to be below initial plans, and a review of future business plans 
has led to the conclusion that either the recovery of the full amount of investments or the use of the relevant assets in the future 
is no longer expected. Therefore, impairment losses are recognized by reducing their book value to the recoverable amount. 

The recoverable amount of asset groups is measured at value in use, while carrying amount of assets with no future potential 
cash flow are reduced to zero.

Year ended March 31, 2022
Impairment losses on fixed assets for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2022 consisted of the following:

Millions of yen

Location Purpose Classification 2022

Japan Business assets

Buildings  ................................................................................... ¥  13

Other tangible fixed assets ......................................................... 2

Software  .................................................................................... 670

Other intangible fixed assets  ...................................................... 27

Other assets  .............................................................................. 49

Total  .......................................................................................... ¥763

The Group identifies each Group company as the smallest identifiable group of assets that independently generates cash 
inflows.

For the asset groups above, impairment losses are recognized by reducing their book value to the recoverable amount as 
their performance is below initial plans with no expectation of full recovery.

The recoverable amount of asset groups is measured at value in use, while carrying amount of assets with no future potential 
cash flow are reduced to zero.
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25. Other Comprehensive Income
Other comprehensive income for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022 consisted of the following:

Millions of yen

2023 2022

Net unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities, net of taxes

Amount arising during the year  ..................................................................... ¥ (373) ¥ 605

Reclassification adjustment  .......................................................................... 220 (365)

Amount before income tax effect  ............................................................. (153) 239

Income tax effect  .................................................................................... 46 (73)

Total  ............................................................................................................. ¥ (106) ¥ 166

Foreign currency translation adjustments

Amount arising during the year  ..................................................................... ¥2,100 ¥1,353

Reclassification adjustment  .......................................................................... — —

Amount before income tax effect  ............................................................. 2,100 1,353

Income tax effect  .................................................................................... — —

Total  ............................................................................................................. ¥2,100 ¥1,353

Adjustments for retirement benefits

Amount arising during the year  ..................................................................... ¥ (48) ¥ 8

Reclassification adjustment  .......................................................................... (73) (62)

Amount before income tax effect  ............................................................. (122) (54)

Income tax effect  .................................................................................... 27 15

Total  ............................................................................................................. ¥ (94) ¥ (38)

Total other comprehensive income  .................................................................... ¥1,898 ¥1,480

26. Income Taxes
Income taxes of the Bank and its domestic consolidated subsidiaries in the consolidated statements of income consist of 
corporation tax, inhabitant tax and enterprise tax.
(1) Significant components of the deferred tax assets and liabilities as of March 31, 2023 and 2022 were as follows:

Millions of yen

2023 2022
Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carry forwards 3  .................................................................... ¥ 4,049 ¥2,528
Depreciation of fixed assets and impairment losses  ........................................... 1,161 950
Allowance for credit losses  ................................................................................ 468 156
Loss on valuation of securities  ........................................................................... 387 —
Enterprise tax  .................................................................................................... 366 271
Retained losses on equity method affiliates  ........................................................ 352 —
Reserve for bonuses  .......................................................................................... 250 238
Asset retirement obligations  ............................................................................... 212 201
Reserve for stocks payment  .............................................................................. 193 237
Accounts payable

(Formerly recorded as reserve for retirement benefits for directors and  
statutory auditors)  .......................................................................................... — 6

Other  ................................................................................................................. 172 287
Subtotal deferred tax assets  .............................................................................. 7,617 4,877
Valuation allowance for net operating loss carry forwards 3  ................................ (837) (489)
Valuation allowance for total future deductible temporary differences  ................. (1,132) (466)
Subtotal valuation allowance 2  ........................................................................... (1,969) (956)
Total deferred tax assets  .................................................................................... ¥ 5,647 ¥3,921

Deferred tax liabilities:
Asset for retirement benefits  .............................................................................. ¥ (337) ¥ (327)
Net unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities ............................... ¥ (220) ¥ (267)
Adjustment for tangible fixed assets related to asset retirement obligations  ........ (29) (19)
Intangible fixed assets recognized with business combination  ........................... (1) (48)
Other  ................................................................................................................. (380) (282)
Total deferred tax liabilities  ................................................................................. (969) (945)
Net deferred tax assets  ...................................................................................... ¥ 4,677 ¥2,976

Notes: 1. Net deferred tax assets are included in the following items in the consolidated balance sheets.

Millions of yen

2023 2022
Deferred tax assets  ............................................................................................ ¥4,712 ¥2,979
Deferred tax liabilities  ......................................................................................... ¥     34 ¥       3

 2.  Valuation allowance increased by ¥1,013 million mainly due to tax loss carryforwards, impairment losses on fixed assets and losses on valuation of 
securities.

 3. Net operating loss carry forwards and its deferred tax assets by term as of March 31, 2023 and 2022 were as follows:

March 31, 2023 Millions of yen

Within one 
year

Over one 
year but 

within two 
years

Over two 
years but 

within three 
years

Over three 
years but 
within four 

years

Over four 
years but 
within five 

years

Over five 
years Total

Net operating loss carry forwards 1  .. ¥— ¥— ¥200 ¥94 ¥— ¥3,754 ¥4,049
Valuation allowance  ......................... — — — — — (837) (837)
Deferred tax assets  .......................... ¥— ¥— ¥200 ¥94 ¥— ¥2,917 2 ¥3,212

March 31, 2022 Millions of yen

Within one 
year

Over one 
year but 

within two 
years

Over two 
years but 

within three 
years

Over three 
years but 
within four 

years

Over four 
years but 
within five 

years

Over five 
years Total

Net operating loss carry forwards 1  .. ¥40 ¥— ¥— ¥51 ¥89 ¥2,346 ¥2,528
Valuation allowance  ......................... ¥ — ¥— ¥— ¥ — ¥ — ¥  (489) ¥  (489)
Deferred tax assets  .......................... ¥40 ¥— ¥—  ¥51 ¥89  ¥1,857 2 ¥2,038
Notes: 1. Net operating loss carry forwards is the amount after multiplying by the statutory tax rate.
 2.  Deferred tax assets on net operating loss carryforwards was judged to be recoverable mainly because taxable income before 

adjustments of temporary differences will likely exceed the amount expected to be deductible in the fiscal years when net operating loss 
carryforwards are expected to be deducted.
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(2)  Reconciliation of the material difference between the statutory tax rate and the effective income tax rate for the fiscal 
years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022 were as follows:

2023 2022

Statutory tax rate  ............................................................................................... 30.62% 30.62%

Non-deductible expenses, including entertainment expenses  ............................ 0.13 0.08

Increase (decrease) in valuation allowance  ......................................................... 2.47 (6.81)

Equity in losses of affiliates  ................................................................................. 0.64 0.31

Retained losses on equity method affiliates  ........................................................ (1.29) —

Other  ................................................................................................................. (0.26) (0.37)

Effective tax rate  ................................................................................................ 32.32% 23.83%

27. Changes in Net Assets
(1) Information on shares issued and treasury stock:
 Type and number of shares issued and treasury stock for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022 were as follows:

Year ended March 31, 2023 Thousands of shares

April 1, 2022 Increase Decrease March 31, 2023

Shares issued

Common stock 1  .......................................... 1,179,308 — — 1,179,308 

Total  ............................................................. 1,179,308 — — 1,179,308 

Treasury stock

Common stock 2 and 3  .................................... 3,982 0 883 3,098

Total  ............................................................. 3,982 0 883 3,098

Notes: 1. Increase in number of shares of treasury stock: 0 thousand shares due to acquisition of the Bank’s shares less than one unit
 2. Decrease in number of shares of treasury stock: 883 thousand shares due to issuance of the Bank’s shares held by the BIP Trust and ESOP Trust
 3.  The number of shares of treasury stock as of April 1, 2022 and March 31, 2023 includes 3,981 thousand shares and 3,098 thousand shares of 

the Bank held by the BIP Trust and ESOP Trust, respectively.

Year ended March 31, 2022 Thousands of shares

April 1, 2021 Increase Decrease March 31, 2022

Shares issued

Common stock 1  .......................................... 1,179,308 — — 1,179,308 

Total  ............................................................. 1,179,308 — — 1,179,308 

Treasury stock

Common stock 2 and 3  .................................... 3,587 415 21 3,982

Total  ............................................................. 3,587 415 21 3,982
Notes: 1.  Increase in number of shares of treasury stock: 415 thousand shares due to acquisition of the Bank’s shares by the ESOP Trust Decrease in 

number of shares of treasury stock: 21 thousand shares due to issuance of the Bank’s shares held by the ESOP Trust
 2.  The number of shares of treasury stock as of April 1, 2021 and March 31, 2022 includes 3,587 thousand shares and 3,981 thousand shares of 

the Bank held by the BIP Trust and ESOP Trust, respectively.

(2) Information on subscription rights to shares:
 Not applicable

(3) Information on dividends:
 (a) Dividends paid in the fiscal years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022

Year ended March 31, 2023 (Millions of yen, except per share amounts)

Type of shares Aggregate amount 
of dividends Source of dividends Cash dividends

per share Record date Effective date

Common stock 1 ¥6,486 Retained earnings ¥5.50 March 31, 2022 June 1, 2022

Common stock 2 ¥6,486  Retained earnings ¥5.50 September 30, 2022 December 1, 2022
Notes: 1. Date of resolution: Board of Directors meeting held on May 20, 2022 

Aggregate amount of dividends determined by the resolution of Board of Directors on May 20, 2022 includes ¥21 million of dividends on the 
Bank’s shares held by the BIP Trust and ESOP Trust.

 2. Date of resolution: Board of Directors meeting held on November 4, 2022
Aggregate amount of dividends determined by the resolution of Board of Directors on November 4, 2022 includes ¥17 million of dividends on the 
Bank’s shares held by the BIP Trust and ESOP Trust.

Year ended March 31, 2022 (Millions of yen, except per share amounts)

Type of shares Aggregate amount 
of dividends Source of dividends Cash dividends

per share Record date Effective date

Common stock 1 ¥6,486 Retained earnings ¥5.50 March 31, 2021 June 1, 2021

Common stock 2 ¥6,486  Retained earnings ¥5.50 September 30, 2021 December 1, 2021
Notes: 1. Date of resolution: Board of Directors meeting held on May 21, 2021

Aggregate amount of dividends determined by the resolution of Board of Directors on May 21, 2021 includes ¥19 million of dividends on the 
Bank’s shares held by the BIP Trust and ESOP Trust.

 2. Date of resolution: Board of Directors meeting held on November 5, 2021
Aggregate amount of dividends determined by the resolution of Board of Directors on November 5, 2021 includes ¥19 million of dividends on the 
Bank’s shares held by the BIP Trust and ESOP Trust.

 (b) Dividends to be paid in the fiscal year ending March 31, 2024

(Millions of yen, except per share amounts)

Type of shares Aggregate amount 
of dividends Source of dividends Cash dividends

per share Record date Effective date

Common stock ¥6,486 Retained earnings ¥5.50 March 31, 2023  June 2, 2023
Note: Date of resolution: Board of Directors meeting held on May 19, 2023

Aggregate amount of dividends to be paid includes ¥17 million of dividends on the Bank’s shares held by the BIP Trust and ESOP Trust.

Cash dividends per share based on business results for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023 were ¥11.00 annually with the 
year-end dividend of ¥5.50 added to the interim dividend of ¥5.50.
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28. Business Combination
For the fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2023
(Business Combination by Acquisition)
VIVA VIDA MEDICAL LIFE Co., Ltd. (hereinafter referred to as “VML”) has become a consolidated subsidiary of the Bank.
On July 22, 2022, the Bank agreed to acquire the shares of VML from shareholders of VML and concluded a share transfer 
agreement. In accordance with the agreement, the Bank acquired shares of VML on November 2, 2022 and made it a 
subsidiary of the Bank.
a. Outline of the business combination

(1) Name and business of the acquired company
Name of the acquired company: VIVA VIDA MEDICAL LIFE CO., LTD.
Business: Small amount and short-term insurance business

(2) Major reason for the business combination
The Group provides foreign residents with various financial services that can be used easily and promptly via smartphone 
apps such as international money transfer services, credit card services for foreign residents and loans to foreign residents 
for various purposes. The acquisition of VML will add insurance products to the Bank’s service portfolio and enable the 
Bank to provide foreign nationals with comprehensive financial services.

(3) Date of business combination
November 2, 2022

(4) Legal form of business combination
Share acquisition in consideration for cash

(5) Name of the company after the combination
No change

(6) Ratio of voting rights acquired
97.78%

(7) Basis for determining the acquirer
It is based on the fact that the Bank acquired shares in consideration for cash.

b. The period for which the operations of the acquired company are included in the consolidated financial statements
From December 1, 2022 through March 31, 2023

c. Acquisition cost of the acquired company and related details of each class of consideration

Millions of Yen

Consideration for acquisition—Cash ¥496
Acquisition cost ¥496

d. Major acquisition-related costs
Advisory fees, etc. ¥49 million

e. Amount of goodwill recognized, reasons for the goodwill recognized, and the method and period of amortization
(1) Amount of goodwill recognized

 ¥450 million
(2) Reasons for the goodwill recognized

The acquisition costs exceeded the acquired equity in the fair value of net assets of the acquired company at the 
acquisition date, and the difference was recognized as goodwill.

(3) Method and period of amortization
The goodwill is amortized on a straight-line basis over 5 years.

f. The assets acquired and the liabilities assumed at the acquisition date are as follows:

Millions of Yen

Tota l  assets ¥85
Tota l  l iab i l i t ies ¥39

g.  Estimates of the effects on the consolidated statement of income for the year ended March 31, 2023 on the assumption that 
the business combination had been completed on April 1, 2022 and its measurement method
Notes are omitted since the impact is not material.

29. Related Party Transactions
Related party transactions for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022 were as follows:
(1) Transactions between the Bank and related parties
 (a)  Parent company and major shareholders

Year ended March 31, 2023
Amounts of transactions Balance at the end of fiscal year

Related party Category Description of transactions Millions of yen Account title Millions of yen

Seven-Eleven  
Japan Co., Ltd. 1

Other related 
companies

Payment of ATM 
  placement fee 
  expenses 2

¥15,041 Accrued expenses 3 ¥1,408

Notes: 1. 38.48% of the outstanding common stock of the Bank is directly owned by Seven-Eleven Japan Co., Ltd. as of March 31, 2023.
 2.  Terms and conditions as well as decision policies of terms and conditions:

The terms and conditions as well as decision policies of terms and conditions associated with ATM placement fees are determined by 
comprehensively taking into account compensation for delegated administrative work and Seven-Eleven Japan’s infrastructure costs.

 3. The accrued expenses include consumption tax.

Year ended March 31, 2022
Amounts of transactions Balance at the end of fiscal year

Related party Category Description of transactions Millions of yen Account title Millions of yen

Seven-Eleven  
Japan Co., Ltd. 1

Other related 
companies

Payment of ATM 
  placement fee 
  expenses 2

¥14,596 Accrued expenses 3 ¥1,373

Notes: 1. 38.47% of the outstanding common stock of the Bank is directly owned by Seven-Eleven Japan Co., Ltd. as of March 31, 2022.
 2.  Terms and conditions as well as decision policies of terms and conditions:

The terms and conditions as well as decision policies of terms and conditions associated with ATM placement fees are determined by 
comprehensively taking into account compensation for delegated administrative work and Seven-Eleven Japan’s infrastructure costs.

 3. The accrued expenses include consumption tax.

 (b)  The Bank’s unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliates
 There is no material transaction to be noted for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022.

 (c)  Company that has the same parent company as the Bank, and subsidiaries of the Bank’s other related companies
 There is no material transaction to be noted for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022.

 (d)  The Bank’s directors and major individual shareholders
 There is no transaction for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022.

(2) Transactions between the Bank’s consolidated subsidiaries and related parties

 (a)  Parent company and major shareholders
 There is no material transaction to be noted for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022.

 (b)  The Bank’s unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliates
 There is no material transaction to be noted for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022.

 (c)  Company that has the same parent company as the Bank, and subsidiaries of the Bank’s other related companies

Year ended March 31, 2023
Amounts of transactions Balance at the end of fiscal year

Related party Category Description of transactions Millions of yen Account title Millions of yen

7-Eleven, Inc. Same parent 
company

Payment of ATM 
  placement fee 
  expenses 

¥13,169 Accrued expenses ¥1,089

Note: Terms and conditions as well as decision policies of terms and conditions:
The terms and conditions as well as decision policies of terms and conditions associated with ATM placement fees are determined by 
comprehensively taking into account 7-Eleven, Inc.’s infrastructure costs.
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Year ended March 31, 2022

Amounts of transactions Balance at the end of fiscal year

Related party Category Description of transactions Millions of yen Account title Millions of yen

7-Eleven, Inc. Same parent 
company

Payment of ATM 
  placement fee 
  expenses 

¥11,707 Accrued expenses ¥1,124

Note: Terms and conditions as well as decision policies of terms and conditions:
The terms and conditions as well as decision policies of terms and conditions associated with ATM placement fees are determined by 
comprehensively taking into account 7-Eleven, Inc.’s infrastructure costs.

(3) Notes on the parent company or any significant affiliated company
 (a)  Parent company
 Seven & i Holdings Co., Ltd. (listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange)

30. Lease Transactions
Finance Leases:
Disclosure is omitted as it is immaterial.

Operating Leases:
Future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases as of March 31, 2023 and 2022 were as follows:

Millions of yen

2023 2022

Due within one year  ........................................................................................... ¥113 ¥   784

Due after one year  ............................................................................................. 42 424

Total  ............................................................................................................. ¥156 ¥1,208 

31. Asset Retirement Obligations
(1) Overview of asset retirement obligations
  Asset retirement obligations are based upon estimated future restoration obligations pursuant to real estate lease 

agreements of head office and ATM installation agreements of the overseas consolidated subsidiaries.

(2) Method of calculating the amount of the asset retirement obligations
 Estimated useful life: 1-18 years
 Discount rate: 0.0-7.5%

(3) The changes in asset retirement obligations for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022 were as follows:

Millions of yen

2023 2022

Balance at the beginning of the year  .................................................................. ¥696 ¥677

Increase due to acquisition of tangible fixed assets  ............................................ — 51

Accretion expense  ............................................................................................. 4 4

Obligations settled in current period  ................................................................... (10) (68)

Other increase (decrease)  .................................................................................. 45 32

Balance at the end of the year  ........................................................................... ¥736 ¥696

32. Revenue Recognition
(1) Information on disaggregated revenue from contracts with customers
 Information on disaggregated revenue from contracts with customers is described in Note 34 “Segment Information.”

(2) Basic information to understand revenue from contracts with customers
  The Bank and its consolidated subsidiaries conduct banking business, focusing on the ATM platform business and provide 

services such as accepting or dispensing cash which the users of the partner financial institutions deposit in or withdraw 
from their deposit accounts when they use the Bank’s ATMs. The Bank receives the service fee income from providing these 
ATM services. The transaction price is principally determined by multiplying the number of usage of ATMs with the unit price 
of the service fee based on the contracts with partner financial institutions. The Bank recognizes revenue at the time when 
the users of the partner financial institutions use the ATM service of the Bank and the related considerations are received 
generally within the following month after the performance obligations are satisfied.

(3)  Information to understand the amounts of revenue from contracts with customers for the fiscal year and after the end of 
the fiscal year

 • Amounts of receivables from contracts with customers are as follows:

Millions of yen

April 1, 2022 March 31, 2023

Receivables from contracts with customers  ....................................................... ¥9,749 ¥11,172

(Note) Receivables from contracts with customers are included in “Other assets” of the consolidated balance sheet.

Millions of yen

April 1, 2021 March 31, 2022

Receivables from contracts with customers  ....................................................... ¥9,584 ¥9,749

(Note) Receivables from contracts with customers are included in “Other assets” of the consolidated balance sheet.

33. Per Share Data
Amounts per share as of March 31, 2023 and 2022 and for the fiscal years then ended were as follows:

Yen

March 31 2023 2022

Net assets per share  .......................................................................................... ¥213.08 ¥206.33

Yen

Years ended March 31 2023 2022

Net income per share  ........................................................................................ ¥16.03 ¥17.71

Notes: 1.  Net income per share (diluted) for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022 is not presented since there are no potentially dilutive shares.
 2.  Net assets per share is calculated based on the following: The Bank has introduced the BIP Trust and ESOP Trust and the Bank’s shares held by 

these Trusts are included in treasury stock that is deducted from the total number of shares issued at the fiscal year end when calculating net 
assets per share. The number of shares deducted for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022 were 3,098 thousand and 3,981 thousand, 
respectively.

Millions of yen, except thousands of shares

March 31 2023 2022

Net assets  ............................................................................................................ ¥   254,242 ¥   244,113

Amount excluded from net assets  ........................................................................ 3,611 1,606

Non-controlling interests  .................................................................................... 3,611 1,606

Net assets attributable to common stock at the fiscal year end ............................. ¥   250,630 ¥   242,506
Number of shares of common stock at the fiscal year end used for the calculation 

of net assets per share  ...................................................................................... 1,176,209 1,175,325
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 3.  Net income per share is calculated based on the following: The Bank has introduced the BIP Trust and ESOP Trust and the Bank’s shares held by 
these Trusts are included in treasury stock that is deducted from the weighted average number of shares during the fiscal year when calculating 
net income per share. The weighted average number of shares deducted during the fiscal years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022 were 3,353 
thousand and 3,711 thousand, respectively.

Millions of yen, except thousands of shares

Years ended March 31 2023 2022

Net income per share

Net income attributable to owners of the parent  ................................................ ¥     18,854 ¥     20,827

Amount not attributable to common shareholders  ............................................. — —

Net income attributable to common shareholders of the parent  ......................... ¥     18,854 ¥     20,827

Average number of shares of common stock during the year  ............................. 1,175,954 1,175,596

34. Segment Information
(1) Overview of reportable segments
  The Group’s reportable segments are units of the Group for which discrete financial information is available and are subject 

to the periodical review by the Board of Directors, which is the decision maker of the allocation of management resources 
and assess performances. The Group has two reportable segments: “Domestic business segment” and “Overseas business 
segment.” Domestic business segment consists of banking services focusing on ATM platform business in Japan while 
Overseas business segment consists of ATM services engaged primarily in the U.S., Indonesia and the Philippines.

(2)  Calculation method for ordinary income, segment profit or loss, assets, liabilities and other material items by reportable 
segment

  Accounting treatment for reportable segments is consistent with those described in “2. Significant Accounting Policies.” 
Segment profit is based on ordinary profit. 

  Ordinary income from internal transactions is based on transaction prices between third parties.

(3)  Information on ordinary income, segment profit or loss, assets and other items and on disaggregated revenue are as 
follows:

Year ended March 31, 2023 Millions of yen

Reportable segment
Adjustments Consolidated

Domestic Overseas Total

Ordinary income:

ATM fee ¥ 104,402 ¥30,720 ¥ 135,122 ¥  — ¥ 135,122

Other 12,436 127 12,563 — 12,563

Ordinary income from customer contracts 116,838 30,847 147,686 — 147,686

Other 6,471 979 7,450 (152) 7,297

Ordinary income from external customers 123,309 31,826 155,136 (152) 154,984

Internal transactions 27 — 27 (27) —

Total ¥ 123,337 ¥31,826 ¥ 155,164 ¥ (180) ¥ 154,984

Segment profit ¥ 29,879 ¥ (949) ¥ 28,930 ¥ (6) ¥ 28,924

Segment assets ¥1,293,412 ¥39,988 ¥1,333,401 ¥(21,128) ¥1,312,273

Other:

Depreciation ¥ 17,052 ¥ 2,474 ¥ 19,526 ¥ — ¥ 19,526

Amortization of goodwill 30 — 30 — 30

Interest income 4,882 49 4,932 — 4,932

Interest expenses 468 346 815 — 815

Equity in losses of affiliates (576) — (576) — (576)

Impairment losses 1,254 — 1,254 — 1,254

Investments in equity-method affiliates 847 — 847 — 847
Increase in tangible 
and intangible fixed assets 20,221 4,512 24,734 — 24,734

Notes: 1. Ordinary income is stated in lieu of sales of general enterprises.
 2. Adjustments are mainly elimination of internal transactions.

Year ended March 31, 2022 Millions of yen

Reportable segment
Adjustments Consolidated

Domestic Overseas Total

Ordinary income:

ATM fee ¥ 97,427 ¥24,303 ¥ 121,731 ¥  — ¥ 121,731

Other 9,454 133 9,588 — 9,588

Ordinary income from customer contracts 106,882 24,437 131,320 — 131,320

Other 5,119 255 5,374 (26) 5,347

Ordinary income from external customers 112,001 24,693 136,694 (26) 136,667

Internal transactions 10 — 10 (10) —

Total ¥ 112,012 ¥24,693 ¥ 136,705 ¥ (37) ¥ 136,667

Segment profit ¥ 27,035 ¥ 1,282 ¥  28,317 ¥ (62) ¥ 28,255

Segment assets ¥1,214,380 ¥30,617 ¥1,244,997 ¥(23,374) ¥1,221,623

Other:

Depreciation ¥ 15,150 ¥ 1,238 ¥ 16,388 ¥ — ¥ 16,388

Interest income 4,015 17 4,032 — 4,032

Interest expenses 507 94 602 — 602

Equity in losses of affiliates (694) — (694) — (694)

Impairment losses 763 — 763 — 763

Investments in equity-method affiliates 1,424 — 1,424 — 1,424
Increase in tangible 
and intangible fixed assets 19,612 4,100 23,712 — 23,712

Notes: 1. Ordinary income is stated in lieu of sales of general enterprises.
 2. Adjustments are mainly elimination of internal transactions.
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Related Information
(1) Information by service
For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023

March 31, 2023 Millions of yen

Securities with higher balances than acquisition costs ATM related business Other Total

Ordinary income attributable to external customers ¥135,122 ¥19,861 ¥154,984
Note: Ordinary income is stated in lieu of sales of general enterprises.

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2022

March 31, 2022 Millions of yen

Securities with higher balances than acquisition costs ATM related business Other Total

Ordinary income attributable to external customers ¥121,731 ¥14,936 ¥136,667
Note: Ordinary income is stated in lieu of sales of general enterprises.

(2) Information by geographical area
 (a)  Ordinary income
For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023

Millions of yen

Japan U.S. Asia Total

¥123,461 ¥25,021 ¥6,500 ¥154,984

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2022
Millions of yen

Japan U.S. Asia Total

¥112,047 ¥22,675 ¥1,944 ¥136,667
Notes: 1. Ordinary income is stated in lieu of sales of general enterprises.
 2. Ordinary income is classified into countries or regions based on the location of the Group’s regional headquarters.

 (b)  Tangible fixed assets
For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023

Millions of yen

Japan U.S. Asia Total

¥22,536 ¥827 ¥6,892 ¥30,256

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2022
Millions of yen

Japan U.S. Asia Total

¥21,353 ¥1,394 ¥3,823 ¥26,571

(3) Information by major customer
  Disclosure is omitted because there were no specific customers whose ordinary income accounts for 10% or more of 

ordinary income in the consolidated statements of income for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022.

Information on impairment losses on fixed assets for each reportable segment
For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023

Millions of yen

Reportable segment
Other Total

Year ended March 31, 2023 Domestic Overseas Total

Impairment losses ¥1,254 ¥— ¥1,254 ¥— ¥1,254

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2022
Millions of yen

Reportable segment
Other Total

Year ended March 31, 2022 Domestic Overseas Total

Impairment losses ¥763 ¥— ¥763 ¥— ¥763

Information on amortization of goodwill and its remaining balance for each reportable segment
For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023

Millions of yen

Reportable segment
Other Total

Year ended March 31, 2023 Domestic Overseas Total

Amortization ¥  30 ¥— ¥  30 ¥— ¥  30
Unamortized balance 420 — 420 — 420

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2022
None

35. Significant Subsequent Events
(Sales of shares of an affiliate accounted for using the equity method)
The Bank concluded a share transfer agreement with Metaps, Inc. (hereinafter referred to as “M”), a parent company of Metaps 
Payment (hereinafter referred to as “MP”), an affiliate of the Bank accounted for using the equity method, and sold shares of 
common stock of MP held by the Bank. Accordingly, MP is no longer an affiliate accounted for using the equity method.
(1) Purpose of the sales and history
  In January 2020, the Bank acquired shares of MP for the purpose of creating business synergy by linking various payment 

methods of MP and payment related services, which the Bank did not have, with the Bank’s nationwide ATM network. 
Taking the opportunity of  a tender offer for shares of common stock of M announced in February 2023, the Bank decided to 
sell a portion of its shares. 

(2) Name of the company to which the Bank sells shares
 Metaps, Inc.
(3) Timing of sales
 May 2, 2023
(4) Name of the affiliate accounted for using the equity method and its business outline
 Name of the company: Metaps Payment, Inc.
 Business: Payment business, package solution business, trust business
(5) Number of shares sold, sales proceeds, number of shares held after the sales
  Number of shares sold: 50 shares
  Sales proceeds: ¥1,200 million (¥24 million per share)
  Gain on sales: ¥200 million (non-consolidated basis)
  Gain on sales: ¥785 million (consolidated basis)
  Number of shares held after the sales: 50 shares
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(Transaction under common control)
At a meeting of the Board of Directors held on April 6, 2023, the Bank resolved to acquire 870,000 shares (ratio to voting rights 
of all shareholders: 98.86%, which has been rounded to three decimal places, and those that follow are the same) of Seven 
Card Service Co., Ltd. (hereinafter referred to as “7CE”) held by Seven Financial Service Co., Ltd. (hereinafter referred to as 
“7FI”) and to make it a consolidated subsidiary. On the same date, the Bank concluded the share transfer agreement with 7FI. 
Also, on July 1, 2023, the Bank acquired shares of 7CE.
1. Outline of the business combination
(1) Name and business of the company that the Bank acquired shares of
 Name of the acquired company: Seven Card Service Co., Ltd.
 Business: Credit card business, electronic money business
(2) Date of business combination
 July 1, 2023
(3) Legal form of business combination
 Share acquisition in consideration for cash
(4) Name of the company after the combination
 No change
(5) Purpose and outline of the transaction
 Purpose:
  The Bank and 7CE, subsidiaries of Seven & i Holdings Co., Ltd., were both incorporated in 2001 in order to provide 

customers visiting stores of Seven & i Group with highly convenient financial services. For almost 20 years since their 
incorporation, both companies have been making efforts to develop services to achieve the objectives. The Bank has been 
used by many customers mainly in ATM business and account business, and 7CE has been used mainly in credit card 
business and electronic money business (nanaco).

  Going forward, both companies will develop financial services as a distribution and retail group and provide unique 
experiences by integrating and expanding their know-how and specialized services they cultivated, rearranging various 
financial services from the viewpoints of customers and utilizing past knowledge and findings obtained at 7iD.

 Outline of transaction:
 Number of shares to be acquired: 870,000 shares
 Acquisition value:  ¥32,000 million
 Ownership ratio after acquisition: 98.86%
2. Outline of accounting treatment applied
  The transaction was accounted for as a transaction under common control in accordance with the “Accounting Standard for 

Business Combination” (ASBJ Statement No. 21, January 16, 2019) and the “Implementation Guidance on Accounting 
Standard for Business Combination and Accounting Standard for Business Divestiture” (ASBJ Guidance No. 10, January 16, 
2019.)

(Issuance of subscription rights to shares [stock options with charge])
At the Board of Directors meeting held on September 8, 2023, the Bank decided on the outline of the offering of subscription 
rights to shares to be allotted as stock options with charge to Directors, Audit & Supervisory Board Members, and employees of 
the Bank and its subsidiaries (including seconded employees working for the Bank and its subsidiaries) pursuant to the 
provisions of Articles 236, 238, and 240 of the Companies Act and resolved to offer the subscription rights to shares to the 
eligible persons.

(1) Reasons for issuing subscription rights to shares as stock options with charge
  Subscription rights to shares will be issued as stock options with charge to Directors, Audit & Supervisory Board Members, 

and employees of the Bank and its subsidiaries (including seconded employees working for the Bank and its subsidiaries) for 
the purposes of further increasing their motivation and morale to improve performance and corporate value of the Bank in 
the medium to long term and further enhancing the Bank’s cohesion.

(2) Outline of the issuance of subscription rights to shares

Number of subscription rights to 
shares

171,100 (100 shares per subscription right to shares)
Note: The above number of subscription rights to shares is the maximum number of 
rights to be issued. The number of subscription rights to shares to be allotted may 
decrease depending on the number of subscribers, etc.

Class and number of shares 
underlying subscription rights to 
shares

17,110,000 shares of common stock (Note 1)

Date of allotment of subscription 
rights to shares

October 31, 2023

Persons to be allotted 
subscription rights to shares

Directors, Audit & Supervisory Board Members, and employees of the Bank and its 
subsidiaries (including seconded employees working for the Bank and its subsidiaries) 
- in total, 1,711

Amount to be paid upon 
issuance of subscription rights 
to shares

The issue price for one subscription right to shares shall be ¥100. This issue price was 
determined referring to the price calculated

Exercise price ¥319.4 per share (Note 2)

Amount to be incorporated into 
equity of the issue price of 
shares when being issued upon 
exercise of subscription rights to 
shares

The amount of capital to be increased as a result of the issuance of shares upon 
exercise of subscription rights to shares shall be one half of the maximum amount of 
increase in capital, etc. to be calculated pursuant to Article 17, Paragraph 1 of the 
Regulations on Corporate Accounting, with any fractional amounts less than one yen 
resulting from the calculation to be rounded up.

Exercise period of subscription 
rights to shares

June 1, 2026 to October 31, 2027
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Conditions for the exercise of 
subscription rights to shares

1.  A holder of subscription rights to shares may exercise the subscription rights only if all 
the following financial targets of A through C specified in the Medium-Term 
Management Plan of the Bank are achieved:
A.  Ordinary income in the consolidated statement of income for the fiscal year ending 

March 31, 2026: ¥250.0 billion;
B.  Ordinary profit in the consolidated statement of income for the fiscal year ending 

March 31, 2026: ¥45.0 billion; and
C.  Return on equity (ROE) to be calculated based on the consolidated balance sheet 

and the consolidated statement of income for the fiscal year ending March 31, 
2026: 8%.

Whether or not the above targets are achieved shall be determined in reference to the 
financial results of the annual securities report to be filed by the Bank. In the case that 
the Board of Directors deems it inappropriate to determine whether or not the targets 
are achieved based on the financial results in the consolidated balance sheet and the 
consolidated statement of income when, for example, there is a change in the fiscal 
year end, a change in the accounting standards applied, or an event that significantly 
affects the Bank’s performance results such as a business acquisition, the Bank may 
make appropriate adjustments to eliminate such effect to a reasonable extent.

2.  A holder of subscription rights to shares shall be Director, Audit & Supervisory Board 
Member, or an employee of the Bank or any of its subsidiaries and affiliates (including 
a seconded employee working for the Bank or any of its affiliates) at the time of 
exercising the subscription rights.

3.  An heir to a holder of subscription rights to shares shall not be permitted to exercise 
the subscription rights.

4.  If the exercise of subscription rights to shares causes the total number of shares 
issued by the Bank to exceed the total number of shares authorized to be issued at 
the time of the exercise, it shall not be permitted.

5.  The subscription rights to shares shall not be exercisable for less than one unit of the 
rights.

Matters concerning the transfer 
of subscription rights to shares

The acquisition of subscription rights to shares by transfer shall be subject to approval 
by a resolution of the Board of Directors of the Bank.

Notes: 1.  Adjustment to the number of shares to be granted  
The number of shares to be granted shall be adjusted using the following calculation formula in the case that the Bank conducts a stock split 
(including the allotment of shares of common stock of the Bank without contribution; hereinafter the same shall apply) or a consolidation of 
shares after the date of allotment of the subscription rights to shares. However, the adjustment shall be made only to the number of shares 
underlying the subscription rights to shares that have not yet been exercised at the time of the adjustment. Any fractional shares of less than 
one share resulting from the adjustment shall be rounded down.

Number of shares to be granted after adjustment  
= Number of shares granted before adjustment × Ratio of the split or consolidation 

  In addition, in the case that the Bank merges with another company or conducts a company split, share exchange, or share grant after the date 
of allotment of the subscription rights to shares, or needs to adjust the number of shares to be granted due to such an event, the Bank may 
appropriately adjust the number of shares to be granted to a reasonable extent.

 2.    Adjustment to the exercise price  
In the case that the Bank conducts a stock split or a consolidation of shares after the date of allotment of the subscription rights to shares, 
the exercise price shall be adjusted using the following calculation formula, with any fractional amounts less than one yen resulting from the 
adjustment to be rounded up.

Exercise price after 
adjustment

Exercise price 
before adjustment

1
= × Ratio of the split or 

consolidation

  In the case that the Bank newly issues shares of common stock at a price lower than their market price or disposes of treasury shares after the 
date of allotment of the subscription rights to shares (except for the cases of newly issuing shares and disposing of treasury shares through the 
exercise of subscription rights to shares, or newly issuing shares and granting treasury shares due to a merger, company split, share exchange, 
and share grant), the exercise price shall be adjusted using the following calculation formula, with any fractional amounts less than one yen 
resulting from the adjustment to be rounded up.

Number of 
shares 

outstanding
+

Number of shares 
newly issued

× Amount to be paid 
per share

Exercise price after 
adjustment

Exercise price 
before adjustment

= × Market price per share 
before new issuance of shares

Number of shares outstanding + Number of shares newly issued

  The “number of shares outstanding” in the above formula shall refer to the number of shares obtained by deducting the number of treasury 
shares of common stock of the Bank from the total number of shares of common stock of the Bank issued. In the case that the Bank disposes 
of treasury shares of common stock of the Bank, the “number of shares newly issued” and the “amount to be paid per share” shall be replaced 
by the “number of treasury shares to be disposed of” and the “disposal amount per share,” respectively.

  In addition to the above, in the case that the Bank merges with another company or conducts a company split, share exchange, or share grant 
after the date of allotment of the subscription rights to shares, or needs to adjust the exercise price due to such an event, the Bank may 
appropriately adjust the exercise price to a reasonable extent.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Company Information

Name and Address of Branches and Outlets (As of March 31, 2023) 

Organization Chart (As of July 1, 2023)

Status of Major Shareholders 
(As of March 31, 2023)

Composition of Shareholders 
(As of March 31, 2023)

Headquarters Location: 1-6-1, Marunouchi, Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo, 100-0005, Japan

Branches Location: 1-6-1, Marunouchi, Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo, 100-0005, Japan

Joint
Outlets

Number of ATM installation 
locations and number of ATMs 
installed according to outlet

Bank 
Agency

 Relia, Inc.
 Location: 2-6-5, Yoyogi, Shibuya-ku, Tokyo

 Seven Global Remit, Ltd.
  Location: 1-6-1 Marunouchi, Chiyoda-ku, 

Tokyo

 Seven Payment Services, Ltd.
  Location: 1-6-1 Marunouchi, Chiyoda-ku, 

Tokyo, Japan

Consolidated subsidiaries (As of March 31, 2023)

Month when Account 
was Opened Branch Name Month when Account 

was Opened Branch Name Month when Account 
was Opened Branch Name

January Margaret May Carnation September Salvia

February Freesia June Iris October Cosmos

March Pansy July Rose November Cattleya

April Tulip August Hibiscus December Poinsettia

Each branch has been assigned a name of a flower suitable for each month. (As our bank 
engages in non-face-to-face transactions mainly through ATMs, we do not conduct 
over-the-counter services at these branches. We receive and handle all inquiries from 
customers at our Contact Centers.

*  Please refer to the Seven Bank Web site (https://www.sevenbank.co.jp/english/) for the latest 
information on ATMs.

For corporate customers, we open corporate accounts providing 
services necessary for business operations, such as ATM tie-ups 
and acceptance of cash proceeds from sales. Branches offering 
services to corporate customers are as follows.

Name of Branches

Corporate Business Division I

Corporate Business Division II

Corporate Business Division III

Corporate Business Division IV

Corporate Business Division V

Number of locations Number of ATMs

Seven-Eleven 21,257 22,619

Others 3,732 4,294

Total 24,989 26,913

The Company (As of June 30, 2023)

Company Name Head Office Representative 
(title/name) Established Common Stock Business Description

Percentage 
of Voting 

Rights Held 
by the Bank

Percentage of 
Voting Rights 

Held by 
Subsidiaries, 

etc.

FCTI, Inc. Los Angeles, California, USA PRESIDENT:
WAYNE MALONE

August 25, 
1993 

19 million 
U.S. dollars

ATM operation 
business 100% —

PT. ABADI TAMBAH 
MULIA INTERNASIONAL

Jakarta Special Capital 
Region, Indonesia

President: 
Jo Watabe

June 10, 
2014

128.3 billion 
Indonesian Rupiah

ATM operation 
business 66.54% —

Bank Business Factory 
Co., Ltd.

134 Godo cho, Hodogaya-
ku, Yokohama-shi, 
Kanagawa Prefecture, Japan

President and 
Representative Director: 
Sumito Inoue

July 1, 
2014 250 million yen Back-office support on 

commission 100% —

Seven Payment Services, 
Ltd.

1-6-1 Marunouchi, 
Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo, Japan

President and 
Representative Director: 
Gen Kawabe

January 11, 
2018 475 million yen

Remittance and 
settlement services, 
Bank Agency Business

100% —

Pito AxM Platform, Inc.
Taguig, Manila Metropolitan 
Area, Republic of the 
Philippines

President: 
Masanori Sakaguchi

April 1, 
2019

3,215 million 
Philippine pesos

ATM operation 
business 100% —

Seven Global Remit, Ltd. 1-6-1 Marunouchi, 
Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo, Japan

CEO: 
Yasuharu Ueki

June 3, 
2019 100 million yen

Money Transfer 
Services for Foreign 
Nationals

100% —

ACSiON, Ltd. 1-6-1 Marunouchi, 
Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo, Japan

President: 
Yoshiki Yasuda

July 16, 
2019 349 million yen

Identity verification 
and fraud detection 
platform business, 
Anti-phishing services

58.25% —

Credd Finance, Ltd. 1-6-1 Marunouchi, 
Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo, Japan

President and 
Representative Director: 
Yasuharu Ueki

January 22, 
2020 100 million yen

Money Lending 
Services for Foreign 
Nationals

60% —

VIVA VIDA MEDICAL LIFE 
CO., LTD.

482-2-201 Kamisoyagi, 
Yamato-shi, Kanagawa 
Prefecture, Japan

President and 
Representative Director: 
Shigeo Noguchi

September 
14, 2007 45 million yen Small Amount and 

Short Term Insurance 97.78% —

Company Name Seven Bank, Ltd.
Head Office 1-6-1, Marunouchi, Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo, 

100-0005, Japan
Chairman and Representative Director Yasuaki Funatake
President and Representative Director Masaaki Matsuhashi
Established April 10, 2001
Initiated Operations May 7, 2001
Common Stock 30,724 million yen
Number of Shares Issued 1,179,308,000

Number of 
Employees

572 (Non-consolidated, excluding officers, executive 
officers, temporary staff and part-time employees)

Credit Ratings [S&P] Long-term counterparty issuer rating “A”
Outlook “stable”
Short-term counterparty issuer rating “A-1”
[Rating & Investment Information, Inc. (R&I)]
Issuer rating “AA—” Outlook “stable”

Financial institutions

20.46%

Other corporations

49.27%

Securities
companies

1.40%

Individuals and other 
shareholders

16.84%

Overseas investors

12.03%

Shareholder name/title Number of shares
(Thousands of shares)

Holding
(%)

Seven-Eleven Japan Co., Ltd. 453,639 38.46

The Master Trust Bank of Japan, Ltd. (trust account) 97,763 8.28

Custody Bank of Japan, Ltd. (trust account) 57,475 4.87

Ito-Yokado Co., Ltd. 46,961 3.98

York-Benimaru Co., Ltd. 45,000 3.81

Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation 15,000 1.27

The Dai-ichi Life Insurance Company, Limited 15,000 1.27

BBH FOR UMB BK, NATL ASSOCIATION-GLOBAL 
ALPHA INTL SMALL CAP FUND LP 14,747 1.25

MUFG Bank, Ltd. 10,000 0.84

Nomura Research Institute, Ltd. 10,000 0.84

NEC Corporation 10,000 0.84
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Sustainability Committee

Investment Committee

ALM Committee

Security Committee

Risk Management Committee

Compliance Committee
General Meeting
of Shareholders

Board of
Directors

Nomination & Compensation
Committee

Audit & Supervisory
Board

Audit & Supervisory
Board Members’ Of�ce

Internal Audit
Division

Executive
Committee PresidentChairman 

(Holding ratios have been truncated to the second decimal place.)

(Amounts have been truncated to the second decimal place.)
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History (As of March 31, 2023)

2005 October 11 Company name changed to Seven Bank, Ltd.

Seven Bank IC 
cash card

2006 January 3 Began operation of new accounting system

March 20 Began providing time deposit service

April 3 Began accepting IC cash cards with ATMs

2007 June 25 Began receiving outsourcing of ATM 
operation and administration

July 11 Initiated services for cards issued overseas

Started new installation of ATMs outside 
Seven & i Group

September 3 ATMs became capable of topping up nanaco 
electronic money cards

September 27 Completed installation of ATMs in Seven-
Eleven and Ito-Yokado operating areas (36 
prefectures at the time)

November 26 Initiated ATM services for visually impaired 
customers (voice-guided transactions)

December 17 Completed installation of ATMs in all 47 
prefectures

2008 February 29 Listed on the JASDAQ Securities Exchange 
(currently the Tokyo Stock Exchange 
JASDAQ Market)

2010 January 25 Initiated personal loan services

July 7 Established directly managed ATM corner

Shinjuku Kabukicho corner (internal view)

November 29 Introduction of third-generation ATMs

Third-generation ATM

2011 March 22 Initiated international money transfer services

December 1 Stock split
Adopted share unit number system with 100 
shares per unit

2001 April 6 Preliminary license received

April 10 IY Bank Co., Ltd. established
(common stock: 20,205 million yen)

April 25 Banking business license received

May 7 Initiated operations (began accepting 
applications for new accounts)

IY Bank cash card

May 15 Initiated ATM services

First-generation ATM

May 23 Joined Japanese Bankers Association (full 
member)

June 11 Connected to Zengin system

June 13 Connected to BANCS

June 18 Initiated money transfer services

July 13 Number of ATMs installed exceeded 1,000

December 1 Began services for acceptance of cash 
proceeds from sales

December 17 Initiated Internet banking services

2004 March 31 Turned profitable on a single fiscal year basis

2005 April 4 Number of ATMs installed exceeded 10,000

Began handling time deposits for defined 
contribution pension plans

July 26 Introduction of second-generation ATMs

Second-generation ATM

2011 December 26 Listed on the First Section of the Tokyo 
Stock Exchange

2012 June 27 Number of Seven Bank accounts exceeded 1 million

October 6 Acquired all issued shares of Financial 
Consulting & Trading International, Inc. of 
the United States to make it a wholly owned 
subsidiary

2013 September 27 U.S.-based subsidiary Financial Consulting & 
Trading International, Inc. acquired the ATM 
business of Global Axcess Corp.

2014 January 8 Initiated Seven Bank account ATM 
transaction screens in nine languages

June 10 Established PT. ABADI TAMBAH MULIA 
INTERNASIONAL (“ATMi”), a joint venture 
operating ATMs in Indonesia

July 1 Established Bank Business Factory Co., 
Ltd., a wholly owned subsidiary engaged in 
back-office support on commission

July 31 Number of ATMs installed exceeded 20,000

2015 August 6 PT. ABADI TAMBAH MULIA INTERNASIONAL 
started operating ATM business in Indonesia

October 1 Financial Consulting & Trading International, 
Inc., a subsidiary in the United States, 
changed its name to “FCTI, Inc.”

December 16 Expansion of language options on ATM 
screens and slips to 12 languages, etc. 
when cards issued overseas are used

2016 October 17 Issued cash cards with a debit function

2017 March 27 Began offering the ATM deposit/withdrawal 
service via smartphones

October 1 Began real-time money transfers services

2018 January 11 Established Seven Payment Service, Ltd., 
a wholly owned subsidiary, which conducts 
remittance and settlement services

May 7 Seven Payment Service, Ltd. began offering 
ATM cash receiving services

October 15 Began handling a top-up service at ATMs for 
electronic money to transportation IC cards, etc.

2019 April 1 Established Pito AxM Platform, Inc., a 
wholly owned subsidiary in the Philippines 
operating ATMs

April 5 Designated five “material issues”

June 3 Established Seven Global Remit, Ltd., a wholly 
owned subsidiary engaged in fund transfer 
business for foreign nationals in Japan

2019 July 16 Established ACSiON, Ltd., a joint venture 
operating security services

September 26 Introduction of fourth-generation ATMs

Fourth-generation ATM

2020 January 22 Established Credd Finance, Ltd., a joint 
venture engaged in money lending business 
for foreign nationals in Japan

April 20 Launched “My Seven Bank,” an app that 
enables instant account opening with a 
smartphone

August 20 Credd Finance, Ltd. launched Sendy Credit 
Card, credit-related services for foreign 
nationals in Japan

August 31 Began ATM services for Individual Number 
Card Points preregistration/application

October 1 ACSiON, Ltd. launched Detecker, a fraud 
detection platform

October 30 Credd Finance, Ltd. launched Sendy Personal 
Loan, loan services for foreign nationals in 
Japan according to their purposes

December 8 ACSiON, Ltd. launched proost, an online 
personal authentication service

2021 February 26 Pito AxM Platform, Inc. started operating 
ATM business in the Philippines

March 26 Began ATM services for application to use 
Individual Number Card as a health 
insurance card

March 29 Seven Global Remit, Ltd. launched Sendy, a 
smartphone app for international money 
transfer service

April 5 Formulated Purpose of Seven Bank Group

September 21 Launched Seven Bank Post Payment 
Service

2022 April 1 Transitioned from the First Section of the 
Tokyo Stock Exchange to the Prime Market

April 1 Seven Payment Service, Ltd. began offering 
ATM money-collecting services

July 1 Launched dynamic currency conversion 
service for cards issued overseas

November 1 VIVA VIDA MEDICAL LIFE, Inc. becomes a 
subsidiary
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1. We aim to be a sincere company that our customers trust.

2. We aim to be a sincere company that our business partners, shareholders, and local communities trust.

3. We aim to be a sincere company that our employees trust.

Corporate Principles

Code of Conduct

management ethos

1. We aspire to be a trusted financial service provider that fully meets customer needs.

2. We act to promptly introduce the benefits of technical innovation and pursue self-development.

3.  We strive to contribute to the stability and advancement of the financial system by providing a secure and 

efficient payment infrastructure.

(Only items are excerpted)

1. Public mission and social responsibility

2. Customers come first put customers first

3. Act with integrity and fairness

4. Contribute to a sustainable society

5. Respect human rights

6. Respect diversity and improve job satisfaction

7. Prohibit relationships with antisocial forces, respond to terrorism and other threats

As a member of the Group

Holding true to our core philosophy

Designated banking business dispute resolution body
under the Banking Act with which the Company has contracted

Japanese Bankers Association

Contact: Japanese Bankers Association Customer Relations Center
Telephone: +81-3-5252-3772
Open Monday through Friday (excluding national and bank holidays)
Hours of operation: 09:00–17:00

Seven Bank, Ltd.
Corporate Communication Office, Planning Division
6-1, Marunouchi 1-chome, Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo 100-0005, Japan
Marunouchi Center Building

141 Integrated Report 2023


